
Harrisville City Planning Commission 
Harrisville City Offices 

Wednesday, June 12, 2024 
 

AGENDA 
Zoom Meeting Link 

Meeting ID: 824 6873 6901 
Passcode: 152691 

 
1. CALL TO ORDER 

 
2. CONSENT APPROVAL – of Planning Commission minutes from May 8, 2024. 

 
3. PUBLIC HEARING - in accordance with Utah Code §10-9a-502, the Harrisville City Planning 

Commission will hold a public hearing on Wednesday June 12, 2024, at 7 PM, to take comments 
for and/or against a Master Development Agreement for Oak Hollow Subdivision.   

 
4. DISCUSSION/ACTION/RECOMMEND – to recommend adoption of Ordinance 558; an 

ordinance adopting a Master Development Agreement for Oak Hollow Subdivision located at 
approximately 265 Larsen Lane. 

 
5. DISCUSSION/ACTION/RECOMMEND – to grant preliminary plat approval of Harrisville 

Fields Subdivision Phase 1 located at approximately 867 North Harrisville Road. 
 

6. DISCUSSION/ACTION/RECOMMEND – to grant preliminary plat approval of Harrisville 
Fields Subdivision Phase 2 located at approximately 867 North Harrisville Road. 

 
7. DISCUSSION/ACTION/RECOMMEND – to grant preliminary plat approval of Harrisville 

Complex Subdivision located at approximately 750 W 1750 North. 
 

8. PUBLIC COMMENTS – (3 minute maximum) 
 

9. COMMISSION/STAFF FOLLOW-UP 
 

10. ADJOURN 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Certificate of Posting and Notice 
I, Cynthia Benson, certify that I am the Deputy Recorder of Harrisville City, Utah, and that the foregoing Planning 
Commission agenda was posted and can be found at City Hall, on the City’s website www.cityofharrisville.com, and 
at the Utah Public Meeting Notice Website at http://pmn.utah.gov. Notice of this meeting has also been duly provided 
as required by law. In accordance with the Americans with Disabilities Act (ADA), the Harrisville City will make 
reasonable accommodations for participation in the meeting. Please make a request for accommodation with the City 
Offices at 801-782-4100, x1004, at least three (3) business days prior to any meeting. 

https://us02web.zoom.us/j/82468736901?pwd=UU0zdU5SY0krSk9qT3lrYlpkUEV1dz09
https://us02web.zoom.us/j/82468736901?pwd=UU0zdU5SY0krSk9qT3lrYlpkUEV1dz09
http://www.cityofharrisville.com/
http://pmn.utah.gov/


 

PLANNING COMMISSION MEETING MINUTES – MAY 08, 2024 | PAGE 1 of 12 
 

Harrisville City Planning Commission Minutes 
Harrisville City Offices – 7 PM 
Wednesday, May 8, 2024 

 
 
Commissioners: Nathan Averill  Staff: Jennie Knight (City Administrator) 
    Chad Holbrook  Cynthia Benson (Deputy Recorder) 

Brad Elmer   Justin Shinsel (Public Works Director) 
Jordan Read    
     

Visitors: Glade McCombs, Arnold Tait, Michelle Tait, Mishelle Ensign, Shawn 
Douglas, Mike Dalpias, Katie Brown, Vicky Anderson, Linda Gaz, David 
Schad, David Anderson, Cliff Hokanson, Regina Hokanson, Michelle 
Walters, Paul D. Davis, Robert Bell, Chelsey Shelton, Mitchell Shelton, 
Shanna Edwards, Lynn Edwards, Sherri Vasas, Craig North, Travis Baird, 
Matthew Tropp, Garrett Woolsey, Crystal Woolsey, Natalie Hales. 

 
 

1. CALL TO ORDER 
Chair Averill welcomed all in attendance and excused Commissioner Smith.  

 
2. CONSENT APPROVAL – of Planning Commission minutes from March 13, 2024. 

 
MOTION: Commissioner Holbrook motioned to approve Planning Commission minutes 
from March 13, 2024. Commissioner Read seconded the motion. The motion passed with 
all voting in the affirmative. 
 
Nathan Averill  Yes 
Chad Holbrook  Yes 
Brad Elmer  Yes 
Jordan Read  Yes 
 
The motion passed with all voting in the affirmative. 
 

3. PUBLIC HEARING – the Harrisville City Planning Commission will hold a public 
hearing to take comments for and/or against Harrisville Ordinance 533; an ordinance 
amending the General Plan Map and Official Zoning Map for certain parcels on West 
Harrisville Road. 

 
Chair Averill read through the rules for a public hearing before entertaining a motion to open the 
public hearing period. 
 
MOTION: Commissioner Read motioned to open the public hearing. Commissioner 
Holbrook seconded the motion. 
 
Nathan Averill  Yes 
Chad Holbrook  Yes 
Brad Elmer  Yes 



 

PLANNING COMMISSION MEETING MINUTES – MAY 08, 2024 | PAGE 2 of 12 
 

Jordan Read  Yes 
 
The motion passed with all voting in the affirmative. 
 
Jennie Knight, City Administrator, introduced the application. The initial public hearing was April 
13, 2022, where this item was tabled. The concept plan has changed since then. This application 
is to change the northern portion (A-1) to the same as the southern portion (MP-1). The county 
shows this parcel as one full parcel and not divided into sections as we have it shown on the current 
zoning map. We are here tonight to receive public comment for or against the proposed General 
Plan and Zoning amendments. 
 
Chair Averill invited anyone from the audience to stand up to the microphone to express their 
public comment. He requested they state their name for the record.  
 
Shawn Douglas began by thanking the commission for the chance to come to share his voice and 
for the job they do as the last line of defense for the residents. He expressed his concern about the 
notice and felt the residents were not properly informed about this meeting. State code requires a 
summary of the night’s meeting with the public notice. He did not see that. He wanted to know if 
there has been any development concept approved as per code 11.06.020 prior to the zoning 
request. Chair Averill replied this was not a discussion. The commission will address the questions 
after the public hearing. Mr. Douglas continued by asking a series of questions. Does the proposed 
conform with the General Plan or the with the future land use map which is provided in the General 
Plan or the proposed future zoning map? The General Plan states that 750 West and West 
Harrisville Road are already heavily congested and need improvements before future development. 
How will the increased traffic be handled in this area? What does the traffic study look like since 
normal manufacturing areas require heavy truck traffic? How will the increased traffic affect the 
infrastructure? Has the storm water drainage and water needs been looked at? Where will the main 
access be? He assumes it will be off Highway 89. In the General Plan it states the city will consider 
the attitude of the residents and the surrounding property owners. If so, what is the consensus for 
this? Also, the General Plan states the need to preserve Agricultural and Rural uses and protect 
them from incapable and conflicting uses. He wants to know how this development will do this in 
the middle of an A-1 zone. He saw nothing to show how this would be addressed.  
  
Mishelle Ensign asked for more information on the use and plan for this project. She would like 
to know more about how to obtain the information. She explained she is new to the city and is 
concerned about the water shares. She finds this proposal concerning. She is requesting another 
meeting to discuss this more and for the residents to have a voice. 
 
Paul Davis stated his concerns are how many parcels will this area be broken into and how much 
car traffic this will create. Those he has been talking to on North Harrisville Road do not wish to 
see more traffic. It was discovered that Mr. Davis was speaking about the North Harrisville Road 
project and reserved his comments until the next public hearing.  
 
Travis Baird stated he has had multiple run ins with HHI and feels they are not great people to 
work with. He runs a multi-million-dollar manufacturing business for a living in Salt Lake and 
Davis County and wants to know the impact of the pollution emissions for this manufacturing 
zone. What is their impact now? What more will they do? He would like to see the land stay 
agricultural land. What benefit would this be for Harrisville to take agricultural land for industrial 



 

PLANNING COMMISSION MEETING MINUTES – MAY 08, 2024 | PAGE 3 of 12 
 

use? He knows why developers do this. It is because the land is cheap land and can be rezoned 
easily. He does this type of thing for a living and knows the effects on a city. He asked the 
commissioners to consider this in their decision. 
 
Mike Dalpias’ concerns began with the notice. He found no address and no information on what 
the public hearings were about. He is here to receive the information on what this hearing was for. 
Most of the residents present were in the city long before HHI was there. He urged the commission 
to leave the parcel agricultural. 
 
Sherri Vasas stated her concern was the lack of presence of the residents. The last time this was 
presented there was a line out the door. Tonight, the room is not even packed. She received no 
notice about the public hearing and feels the residents were not properly notified. She feels this 
reflects poorly on the city. She is not in favor of this. Long term plan shows leaving it agricultural. 
She does not feel this will really affect her but is concerned about the bright lights along with the 
increased traffic. She reminded the commissioners they are representing the people. It was clear 
last time the people did not want this. 
 
MOTION: Commissioner Read motioned to close the public hearing. Commissioner Elmer 
seconded the motion. 
 
Nathan Averill  Yes 
Chad Holbrook  Yes 
Brad Elmer  Yes 
Jordan Read  Yes 
 
The motion passed with all voting in the affirmative. 
 

4. DISCUSSION/ACTION/RECOMMEND – to recommend Ordinance 533; an 
ordinance amending the General Plan Map and Official Zoning Map for certain parcels 
on West Harrisville Road.  

 
Ms. Knight reviewed the staff report dated May 1, 2024, stating this decision is a legislative 
decision where the Planning Commission has broad discretion. The reason for this request is to 
bring the zoning of the subject property in line with the zoning of a larger lower portion of the 
parcel owned by the applicant. Chair Averill and Commissioner Read both clarified the zoning 
lines for this parcel for those present. Chair Averill asked if there is a street address to the upper 
portion. Ms. Knight confirmed there is no street address for the upper portion of the parcel. She 
reviewed each portion of the concept with current zoning. She continued by answering some of 
the questions brought forth in the public hearing. Transportation access will be utilized by the new 
road, 1750 North, and Highway 89. There has been no city action on this project nor has anything 
been approved nor would be until the rezone is granted. Regarding the noticing issues the state 
mandate no longer requires the city to notify the residents by mail. The city went above and beyond 
the state code to send out the mailers to the property owners within 300 feet. Again, this is not a 
requirement but a practice the city continues to complete in order to notify as many people as 
possible. If the commissioners desire, they can leave the public comments open until the next city 
council meeting. The transportation issues on West Harrisville Road widening project have been 
approved and funding is already being received. It was to begin this year, but the city has postponed 
due to some unforeseen circumstances. The city is in the process of trying to receive the funds to 



 

PLANNING COMMISSION MEETING MINUTES – MAY 08, 2024 | PAGE 4 of 12 
 

address the remaining transportation issues in this area. The City Council did recently adopt the 
new transportation plan which included 750 W. During the development process, issues regarding 
such items as storm water will be addressed. Also, this is a manufacturing zone not an industrial 
zone. Anything which is proposed would have to comply with the manufacturing ordinance in our 
city code. 
 
Commissioner Holbrook asked what the city requirements are for emissions for HHI. Justin 
Shinsel, Public Works Director, answered the State monitors this through an Industrial Use Permit 
since the city is not considered large enough to monitor it ourselves. Businesses requiring a 
conditional use permit in this zone would be required to obtain this permit. 
 
Commissioner Read inquired if there are any current agricultural uses on the property currently. 
Ms. Knight replied historically it has had an agricultural use. Commissioner Read urged the public 
of the importance to look at the broader picture. The city needs to look to another source of 
revenue. Ms. Knight agreed this would be another source.  
 
Commissioner Holbrook added one of the reasons for this rezone is to make the parcel congruent 
with current zoning on the southern portion, the land would connect to the commercial portion 
bordering Highway 89, and the access would be off Highway 89 not West Harrisville Road.  
Discussion with the commissioners continued including the total amount of the parcel currently 
zoned Agricultural (14 acres are in agricultural of the 54 total acres).  
 
Commissioner Holbrook reviewed the comments and reasons for tabling this in the past. He feels 
there is clear reasoning for this to be approved. Ms. Knight asked the commissioners to look at this 
rezoning from an appeal perspective. Under state law this division of zoning is a burden on the 
property owner. She added to those who mentioned the water shares concerns, the city will make 
every effort to maintain their rights. 
 
Chair Averill interjected this concept was not possible two (2) years ago. Now with the 
development of the city property this is possible. Leaving this piece A-1 no longer makes sense.  
 
Commissioner Elmer said he would hate to see the A-1 disappear, but the property is already 
owned and zoned. 
 
MOTION: Commissioner Holbrook motioned to forward a positive recommendation of 
Ordinance 533; an ordinance amending the General Plan Map and Official Zoning Map for 
certain parcels on West Harrisville Road subject to the Staff Memo dated May 1, 2024, and 
any other staff or agency comments. Commissioner Read seconded the motion. 
 

Nathan Averill  Yes 
Chad Holbrook  Yes 
Brad Elmer  No 
Jordan Read  Yes 
 
The motion passed with three (3) commissioners voting in the affirmative and one (1) 
commissioner voting in the negative. 
 

5. PUBLIC HEARING – the Harrisville City Planning Commission will hold a public 



 

PLANNING COMMISSION MEETING MINUTES – MAY 08, 2024 | PAGE 5 of 12 
 

hearing to take comments for and/or against Harrisville Ordinance 555; a Clustered 
Development Plan for property located at approximately 863 North Harrisville Road.  

 
MOTION: Commissioner Read motioned to open the public hearing. Commissioner Elmer 
seconded the motion. 
 
Nathan Averill  Yes 
Chad Holbrook  Yes 
Brad Elmer  Yes 
Jordan Read  Yes 
 
The motion passed with all voting in the affirmative. 
 
Ms. Knight referred to the Staff Memo dated May 1, 2024, in response to a public comment asking 
for an introduction to be made. On December 9, 2021, the Project Management Committee 
reviewed an application for a Clustered Development for property located at approximately 863 
North Harrisville Road identified as Weber County Parcel Numbers 11-378-0001 and 11-378-
0002. Staff have been working with the developer over the last several years to address the Flood 
Plain requirements and to develop a viable concept plan. This Clustered Development Plan 
complies with the municipal code requirements.  Representation letters have been filed by all 
owners of the properties and were included in the packet. There will be 58 lots in this development 
with 5 design examples given in the MDA. Bonus Density is outlined in Exhibit “E” of the Master 
Development Agreement. The Master Development Plan outlines in Exhibit “D-1” the setbacks, 
height, and building size of each lot, meeting the minimum distance requirements. The Master 
Development Plan includes 12 acres of open space which will be dedicated to the City. Open space 
in the development will be developed and maintained by the City. Design and Site Standards and 
Renderings are outlined in Exhibit “C-2” of the Master Development Agreement. Includes 
examples of five (5) single family housing type options. Development includes Covenants, 
Conditions, and Restrictions (CC&R’s). The development lot size is comparable to the R-1-10 
standards in the Harrisville Residential Code, these standards have been applied to each lot size. 
Utility service availability letters have been received from the following providers: Bona Vista 
Water Improvement District, Dominion Energy, Rocky Mountain Power. Harrisville City provides 
services for storm water, sewer, and secondary irrigation water. They will be required to be 
incorporated into the Four Mile Special Service District. Subdivider’s escrow will be required in 
accordance with HCMC §12.02.09 of the Subdivision Ordinance. Based on the review of the 
Project Management Committee and analysis of the application’s compliance with Harrisville 
Municipal Code for a Clustered Development Plan, staff recommends forwarding a positive 
recommendation to City Council subject to compliance with Title 12 of the Harrisville Municipal 
Code and any other staff or agency comments.  
 
Robert Bell asked if this was another rezone since this was an A-1 property. Chair Averill 
explained this type of development is allowed in an A-1 zone. Mr. Bell said he felt the city is 
circumventing the A-1. How many entrances are there? It is showing one which doesn’t meet the 
fire code. There will be increased traffic on West Harrisville Road. Where is the traffic study? It 
is a speedway. There are no sidewalks, and he does not want sidewalks. Cluster development is a 
copout to get around the requirements for the A-1 zone. If you do this, you set a precedent. 
 
David Anderson wishes the commission to consider this is A-1 before putting development down 



 

PLANNING COMMISSION MEETING MINUTES – MAY 08, 2024 | PAGE 6 of 12 
 

there. There are flowing springs on the property. He wanted to know what the plan is to mitigate 
the water in the homes that are planned to be built. He is against the project. What will happen 
when a developer places something like this on the property and the houses begin to sink. Who 
will be responsible? The city needs to look at the more complexion of the city. It is a quiet 
community. He does not want sidewalks on the street. They recently started the irrigation process. 
This area catches the wastewater from the irrigations.  
 
Shanna Edwards expressed her appreciation for the work the planning commission does. She asked 
the commission if they received her letter. Developers do not understand the dynamics of the 
property. Drive through Ashlar Cove and see the effect of the high ground water here in Harrisville. 
She is opposed to this. She does not feel it will fit into the community. There are areas in the city 
which just are not developable. 
 
Paul Davis declared access is a concern as is the traffic impact in this area. Those living on 
Harrisville Road will see more traffic. He stated his concern about the road noise on Highway 89 
and his desire for it to be addressed in another meeting. He stated his runoff water concerns and 
the concern for the waterfowl currently on the property. If you look at the foliage around the 
property you can tell how wet the soil really is. 
 
David Schad informed the commission there are wetlands and birds already settling into the area. 
He moved to the city 3 ½ years ago. When they looked at the property there were 2 girls walking 
their sheep down the road. He is against this project. He thought to himself this was a nice little 
ranch. He added his traffic concerns. This was not what he moved here for. Heavily against it. 
 
Linda Gaz said it was her understanding these lands were designated as wetlands by the federal 
government. She continued to explain how her son was hired to build a fence. As fast as they could 
dig the hole, the hole filled up with water. The railroad ties wouldn’t stay because of the water. 
Those who think this would be a neat place to build will not realize the water situation and how 
bad it can be here. She continued by giving a brief history of the use of the property including the 
results of a prior development whose foundations are currently filled with water. She likes living 
in Harrisville and walking on the road. Cars go by really fast on North Harrisville Road. 
 
Michelle Walters wanted to know where the A-1 was going? She thought some of the area was a 
conservation area. She walks her property daily with rubber boots because of the water issues.  
 
Garrett Woolsey began by saying the FEMA Flood Plain Map shows 50% of this lot is designated, 
without Base Flood Elevations (BFE), as a special flood hazard area and the rest is designated as 
an annual chance at flood hazard. He feels this is something serious to look at. Looking at the city 
code A-1 zone is specifically low-density or areas where there are going to be high water tables 
and limited public access. This is a perfect example of why this is A-1. If you change it to zone R-
1-10, a 10,000 square foot lot, a quarter of the size, which is super dense compared to the 
surrounding parcels, for typical neighborhoods sharing frontage, local roads, and having all 
necessary utilities and access. By definition, this should stay A-1 and not be changed. 
 
Crystal Woolsey expressed her deep concerns with water mitigation issues. The parcel has multiple 
streams on it. She noticed there is a subdivision attaching to this project with a spring where it 
connects. Multiple residents flood irrigate their properties including them. All their water goes 
down to this parcel. They have no way of mitigating the flood water after their use. We are saying 



 

PLANNING COMMISSION MEETING MINUTES – MAY 08, 2024 | PAGE 7 of 12 
 

about 15 hours straight of our water flowing past our properties. She stated her concern for the 
future residents who will have no idea what water issues they are getting into. They would not 
know until they purchased the house that they would need to buy flood insurance. She said she is 
scared about changing the A-1. We have very little A-1. She is concerned this zoning change will 
set a precedent. 
 
Shawn Douglas voiced his curiosity about how the commissioners will look at this parcel since it 
is a continuous use parcel. He is interested in seeing how the commission will treat this property 
since the surrounding uses are A-1.  
 
Vicky Anderson said she could see a lake on this property from her kitchen window. Whenever it 
thaws there are large amounts of water there. She is also concerned with the fact she has large 
animals. Is there going to be something placed to protect her animals and liability issues with future 
residents whose homes will back her fence? Her biggest concern is with the water. She feels if 
there is any question on the water then the commissioners need to go take a walk on the property 
and see it for themselves. 
 
MOTION: Commissioner Averill motioned to close the public hearing. Commissioner 
Elmer seconded the motion. 
 
Nathan Averill  Yes 
Chad Holbrook  Yes 
Brad Elmer  Yes 
Jordan Read  Yes 
 
The motion passed with all voting in the affirmative. 
 

6. DISCUSSION/ACTION/RECOMMEND – to recommend Ordinance 555; a Clustered 
Development Plan for property located at approximately 863 North Harrisville Road 

 
Chair Averill began answering the public hearing concerns by saying there are two (2) accesses 
points proposed. He explained where the connections will be and where the bulk of the traffic will 
be with most of it being eliminated off North Harrisville Road. He moved to the open space in the 
middle of the property which is going to be a large regional detention basin of 12 acres. Out of the 
37 acres, 12 acres are going to be deeded to the city to mitigate future flooding in this area. Chair 
Averill asked the developer, Craig North, to explain his development and the regional detention 
basin. Mr. North said he had an aquatics engineer analyze the wetlands and a flood plain engineer 
included in the designs of this concept. There would be land drains in the back of each yard to help 
with water mitigation. The first phase homes will be built approximately 3-4 feet higher than the 
native soil. The homes will be slab on grade, crawl spaces, or daylight basements where 
appropriate. He is determined to keep all the homes out of the flood plain elevation and not build 
in the native soil. 
 
Chair Averill asked if the realignment of 400 North will need a review with Ogden City. Ms. 
Knight informed the Commissioners the city has already had this conversation with Ogden City. 
As part of the recommended motion, a formal application to Ogden City will be included. The 
developer has been in contact with Ogden City about their requirements. In connection with this, 
North Street is on the Wasatch Front Regional Council’s Master Plan to go from mountain road 



 

PLANNING COMMISSION MEETING MINUTES – MAY 08, 2024 | PAGE 8 of 12 
 

all the way to the freeway. The city has asked for the line to be realigned into Harrisville since 
their master plan shows that connection. Mr. North added they have turned the concept into Ogden 
City for review and have addressed their engineering concerns many times. 
 
Chair Averill asked if the developer knew if the wetlands were jurisdictional or what the status of 
them are. Mr. North replied that they are being mitigated. Ms. Knight said this is identified in the 
MDA including any area which will be excluded from development until the areas are approved 
through the CLOMAR or LOMAR processes. Ms. Knight clarified this is not a zoning change. 
The zone stays the same. The cluster development is a permitted use within that zone. 
 
There was an error found in the CCR’s. The wording refers to another city. Chair Averill pointed 
out there is a notice in the MDA, section 2.2, for the Right to Farm Community. He continued with 
asking what the city plans on doing with the open area. Ms. Knight replied first and foremost it 
will be a regional retention basin to collect the excess water in the city. Another possibility is 
adding park amenities. Mr. Shinsel stood and addressed the size of the regional detention basin 
asked earlier by Commissioner Holbrook. A regional detention basin is engineered to meet the 
100-year storm requirements. Independence Park is a regional detention basin. There will be 
control structures to help mitigate the excessive water. State Law states if you irrigate water on 
your property, the owners are to keep it on their property and have a system in place to move it 
downstream. 
 
Commissioner Elmer stated he did go down to the bottom of the lot to look over the project. He 
too is concerned with the water. He feels there is way too much water on the surface. Building on 
this parcel does not make sense to him. There is no place for the water to go. Mr. Shinsel reminded 
Commissioners part of the water issues are from Dixon Creek which has not been maintained nor 
cleaned out. By adding a land drain system and the Regional Detention Basin these issues can be 
mitigated. Ms. Knight added the water is a concern. It is difficult to give any details at this time 
since those items have not been required as part of the approval process yet. There is no part of the 
subdivision ordinance that allows the developer to skirt the issue with the water. It will be required 
before we do any approvals for the subdivision. Their application meets the municipal code. The 
developer is working with FEMA, Army Corp of Engineers, and the appropriate professional 
agencies. 
 
Commissioner Holbrook stated there will be significant effort on the developer to manage the 
water issues. There are requirements the developer will need to meet before a building can be built. 
One of the things we can appreciate is the growth of the state is moving north. We can either get 
in front of this or play catch up. We do not allow the city developers to walk over the city to obtain 
their desires. There are multiple evaluations of any development before it even reaches the 
commission. The city is being very mindful of its residents as they look to the future. 
 
Commissioner Read restated the governor’s recent comments about how if smaller cities will not 
allow development, then the state will force their hand. We do not want to see that happen to 
Harrisville. If we want our families to live here in Harrisville, then we need to see these types of 
subdivisions. That is why we go through the processes as thoroughly as we do.  
 
Ms. Knight explained how the bonus density calculation is obtained to address some concerns by 
the commission. She went through some of the calculations to help the commission understand 
how the 58 lots maximum was reached for this development. She added if the mitigation is not 



 

PLANNING COMMISSION MEETING MINUTES – MAY 08, 2024 | PAGE 9 of 12 
 

completed, then the development will not be able to be placed in this area. She agreed with 
Commissioner Read. The governor is highly interested in developments which will increase 
housing. This plan preserves the open space. With 400 North potentially going through the city, 
we would be remiss if we do not take advantage of this now. In recent months, UTA has purchased 
property in Harrisville to bring Frontrunner North. They are in the process of purchasing others, 
but we do not know their plans.  However, they are in a better position than anyone to increase the 
culverts under the rail lines which will alleviate the flood plain in this area. We also know they are 
intending to install some type of substation to service the BDO. Any protections we can put into 
place with development to maintain that open space will help the city keep the vision in the General 
Plan and requirements of the Moderate-Income Housing Plan. The State cannot require us to place 
higher density in an area we have existing lower densities. 
 
Continued discussion occurred on traffic, sidewalks, protecting the existing residents, and current 
uses of North Harrisville Road. The commission ended the discussion in agreement that they did 
not want to wait for the city to be forced to place a mass transit station in this area. Their desire is 
to protect the current residents and their families by doing what they can to maintain this open 
space. 
 
MOTION: Commissioner Holbrook motioned to forward a positive recommendation of 
Ordinance 555; a Clustered Development Plan for property located at approximately 863 
North Harrisville Road subject to the Staff Memo dated May 1, 2024 and any other staff or 
agency comments including engineering notations from Ogden City. Commissioner Read 
seconded the motion. 
 

Nathan Averill  Yes 
Chad Holbrook  Yes 
Brad Elmer  No 
Jordan Read  Yes 
 

The motion passed with three (3) commissioners voting in the affirmative and one (1) 
commissioner voting in the negative. 
 

7. DISCUSSION/ACTION/RECOMMEND – to approve Conditional Use Permit # 143 
an application for a preschool business located at approximately 2264 N 600 W.  

 
Ms. Knight reviewed the staff memo. On April 21, 2024, an application was received for a 
Conditional Use Permit for a Home Occupation at approximately 2264 N 600 W, Harrisville, 
which is zoned R-1-10. In accordance with Harrisville Municipal Code 11.10.020(9)(a) a 
conditional use permit is required for visiting clientele. The application is for a Preschool for up 
to 10 children for two preschool sessions twice a week on Tuesdays and Thursdays. Preschool 
hours will be an AM session from 9:15-11:45 am and a PM session from 12:15-2:45pm. Included 
in the staff memo are the basis for issuance for the commission review. 
 
Chelsy Shelton explained she is looking to open an in-home preschool. Chair Averill asked for 
more details about the impact on the community. Ms. Shelton plans is to have the parents park on 
both sides of the road and walk their child to her door. The road is wide enough to accommodate 
this. The preschool will be in the living room space in the basement and is less than 25% of the 
home. The preschool times will begin and end after the busing of junior high and elementary 



 

PLANNING COMMISSION MEETING MINUTES – MAY 08, 2024 | PAGE 10 of 12 
 

children.  
 
Chair Averill asked if there will be an additional employee and food preparation. Ms. Shelton 
replied she is limited to 9-14 children. She is choosing no more than 10 since this is her first year. 
She is not planning on an employee. The food will be pre-packed items. 
 
Ms. Knight added staff recommends approving the conditional use permit based on compliance 
with Harrisville Municipal Code subject to the outlined conditions in the staff memo are being 
met. 
 
MOTION: Commissioner Averill motioned to approve Conditional Use Permit # 143 an 
application for a preschool business located at approximately 2264 N 600 W subject to Staff 
Memo dated May 1, 2024, HCMC §11.10.020(9) – Home Occupations, and all other staff or 
agency comments. Commissioner Holbrook seconded.  
 
Nathan Averill  Yes 
Chad Holbrook  Yes 
Brad Elmer  Yes 
Jordan Read  Yes 
 

The motion passed with all voting in the affirmative. 
 
Ms. Shelton was informed by staff there is a fifteen-day appeal period. Assuming there are no 
appeals received to the city the permit can be signed after May 23, 2024. 
 

8. DISCUSSION/ACTION/RECOMMEND – to grant Preliminary Plat Approval for 
Summit Views Phase 1 located at approximately 125 W 1100 N. 

 
Ms. Knight reviewed the engineer’s memo dated May 6, 2024, for Summit Views Subdivision 
Preliminary Plat – Phase 1 approval. This first phase of the development will construct 17 
townhome units, 6 single-family units and includes the construction of the main public roadway 
through the property and stubs for future street connections. Preliminary approval of the plat at 
this time with the following comments to be completely addressed prior to final approval. They 
are: Submit the plat to the Weber County Surveyor’s Office for review and receive approval of the 
plat from their office. Include a signature block for them on the plat; Address all red-line comments 
provided by our office on the preliminary plat; Include any required easements for drainage, sewer, 
irrigation, etc. on the plat; The stub roads that run east and west intersect the main road at less of 
an angle than the city standard. Fix the angle of the road connection or obtain approval for this 
variance from the Administrative Land Use Authority; Obtain approval from North View Fire 
District for the turnaround area at the west end; and Provide lot addresses on the plat as provided 
by our office. Mr. Shinsel stood to address the concerns with the angle on Wahlen Way. 
 
MOTION: Commissioner Read motioned grant Preliminary Plat Approval for Summit 
Views Phase 1 located at approximately 125 W 1100 N subject to City Engineer Memo dated 
May 6, 2024, and any other staff or agency comments. Commissioner Elmer seconded. All 
voted in the affirmative. 
 
Nathan Averill  Yes 



 

PLANNING COMMISSION MEETING MINUTES – MAY 08, 2024 | PAGE 11 of 12 
 

Chad Holbrook  Yes 
Brad Elmer  Yes 
Jordan Read  Yes 
 

The motion passed with all voting in the affirmative. 
 

9. PUBLIC COMMENTS – (3 minute maximum) 
 
Matthew Tropp would like to see more detail on the road alignment for Wahlen Way since his 
home resides at the end of it. He would like to know the impact it will have on him.  
 
Paul Davis stood and asked more about the runoff water. He expressed his feelings on where the 
runoff water should not go. He would be highly opposed to the project if it went into the Western 
Water system. 
 

10. COMMISSION/STAFF FOLLOW-UP. 
 
Ms. Knight reminded the commissioners to sign their Ethical Behavioral Forms before leaving 
tonight. Otherwise, she had no follow-up for the commission. 
 
Mr. Shinsel stood to address any questions about development in the city. He began with Ben 
Lomond Subdivision. The developer intends to start the installation of the new sewer line next 
week. They are pushing a month timeline which is very aggressive. Also, they are pushing to get 
the main road in as quickly as possible.  
 
The UDOT Highway 89 project resurfacing project will begin tomorrow. Starting with the 
accessibility ramps which are not up to code. They will also be removing portions of the center 
median. The end date for this project is September 30. They are trying to postpone most of the 
major work until after school ends. They are very mindful of Harrisville City needs and are 
working with city staff to accomplish this. In addition, most of the work will be at night. The 
project is from 2700 North to Wall Avenue. The North Harrisville Road entrance will be 
completely redone. 
 
Commissioner Elmer asked if Mr. Shinsel could talk to UDOT about the light at 750 West. He 
asked for the light pattern to be changed on 750 W and HWY 89. He also mentioned the changes 
in the public works building and how quickly progress is coming. Mr. Shinsel added the floor and 
vertical walls should be poured next week. There will be a flag closure on 750 West while the 
powerline is installed. This will occur sometime in July. 
 
Chair Averill asked about the LOMAR and CLOMAR updates for Dixon Creek Park Subdivision. 
Mr. Shinsel replied the developer is close to having everything finalized. Preconstruction on Phase 
1 is coming up shortly and discussion on phase 2 has begun with city staff.  
 
He concluded by saying Ashlar Cove is digging foundations and the light at the intersection of 
Ben Lomond Subdivision and 1750 North will not be placed until the capacity or essential 
emergency services warrants it. 
 
 



 

PLANNING COMMISSION MEETING MINUTES – MAY 08, 2024 | PAGE 12 of 12 
 

11. ADJOURN. 
 
MOTION: Commissioner Averill motioned to adjourn the meeting. Commissioner Elmer 
seconded.  
 
Nathan Averill  Yes 
Chad Holbrook  Yes 
Brad Elmer  Yes 
Jordan Read  Yes 
 
All voted in the affirmative. 
 
The meeting adjourned at 9:23 pm. 
 
 
 
Nathan Averill     Cynthia Benson 
Chair       Deputy Recorder 
 



 

HARRISVILLE CITY 
ORDINANCE 558 

 
AN ORDINANCE OF HARRISVILLE CITY, UTAH, ADOPTING A MASTER 
DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT FOR OAK HOLLOW SUBDIVISION LOCATED AT 
APPROXIMATELY 265 LARSEN LANE; SEVERABILITY; AND PROVIDING AN 
EFFECTIVE DATE. 

 
WHEREAS, Harrisville City (hereinafter “City”) is a municipal corporation duly 

organized and existing under the laws of the State of Utah; 
 
   WHEREAS, Utah Code Annotated §10-8-84 and §10-8-60 allow municipalities in the 
State of Utah to exercise certain police powers, including but not limited to providing for safety and 
preservation of health, promotion of prosperity, improve community well-being, peace and good 
order for the inhabitants of the City; 
 

WHEREAS, Title 10, Chapter 9a of the Utah Code Annotated enables municipalities to 
regulate land use and development and Utah Code Ann. §10-9a-532 allows municipalities to enter 
into a development agreement for lawful purposes; 

 
 WHEREAS, the City has received an application for a Master Development Agreement for 
the Oak Hollow Subdivision located at approximately 265 Larsen Lane, identified as Weber 
County Parcel Numbers 11-027-0104, 11-027-0118, 11-027-0023, 11-027-0022, 11-027-0004, 11-
027-0061 and 11-027-0024, filed by the putative property owner, JLM Development Amber LLC; 
 
 WHEREAS, the Master Development Agreement is attached as Exhibit “A”; 

 
WHEREAS, after publication of the required notice the Planning Commission held its 

public hearing on June 12th, 2024, to take public comment on this proposed ordinance and gave 
its recommendation to __________ this Ordinance; 

 
 WHEREAS, the City Council received the recommendation from the Planning 
Commission and held its public meeting on _________, 2024, to act upon this Ordinance; 
 

NOW, THEREFORE, be it Ordained by the City Council of Harrisville City, Utah as 
follows: 
 
Section 1: Adoption of Master Development Agreement. The Master Development Agreement 

attached wherein as Exhibit “A” which is hereby adopted and incorporated herein by 
this reference. Any development must substantially conform to this Master 
Development Agreement 

 
Section 2: Severability. If a court of competent jurisdiction determines that any part 

of this ordinance is unconstitutional or invalid, then such portion of this 
Ordinance, or specific application of the ordinance, shall be severed from 
the remainder which remainder shall continue in full force and effect. 

 
Section 3: Effective Date. This Ordinance takes effect immediately after approval and 

posting. 
 



 

PASSED AND APPROVED by the City Council on this           day of  , 2024 
 

 
 

 

MICHELLE TAIT, Mayor 
 
ATTEST: 

 
 
JACK FOGAL, City Recorder 

 
RECORDED this  day of  . 2024. 
PUBLISHED OR POSTED this  day of  , 2024. 

 
CERTIFICATE OF PASSAGE AND PUBLICATION OR POSTING 

According to the provision of UCA §10-3-713, 1953 as amended, I, the municipal recorder of 
Harrisville City, hereby certify that the foregoing ordinance was duly passed and published, or 
posted at 1) City Hall 2) 2150 North, and 3) Harrisville Cabin on the above reference dates. 

 

DATE:    
 

City Recorder 
 



Master Development Agreement

for

Oak Hollow Development
Clustered Development Sub-zone

Between

Harrisville City, Inc.

and

JLM Development Amber, LLC
on this ____of _____________ of 2024





MASTER DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT FOR
Oak Hollow

THIS MASTER DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT is made and entered as of this 

_____ of ______________ of 2024

by and between HARRISVILLE CITY and JLM Development Amber, LLC.

RECITALS

A. The capitalized terms used in this MDA are defined in Section 1.2, below.

B. Master Developer is under a contract to purchase and will own as of the Effective

Date the Property and is developing the Project on the Property.

C. Contemporaneously with the approval of this MDA the City has approved the 

Master Plan.

D. The City finds that this MDA and the Master Plan conform with the intent of the 

City’s General Plan.

E. The City has processed this MDA and the Master Plan pursuant to the applicable 

provisions of Section 10-9a-532, et seq., of the Act as a land use regulation including holding 

hearings on the MDA and the Master Plan before the Planning Commission and the City 

Council.

F. Master Developer and the City desire that the Property be developed in a unified 

and consistent fashion pursuant to the Master Plan.

G. The Parties acknowledge that development of the Property pursuant to this MDA

will result in significant planning and economic benefits to the City, and its residents by, among

other things requiring orderly development of the Property as a master planned development and



increasing property tax and other revenues to the community based on improvements to be 

constructed on the Property. In addition, the development will provide a much needed moderate 

income housing option for the members of the community, which is much needed in the present 

housing climate.

H. The Parties desire to enter into this MDA to specify the rights and

responsibilities of Master Developer to develop the Property as expressed in this MDA and 

the rights and responsibilities of the City to allow and regulate such development pursuant to 

the requirements of this MDA.

I. The Parties understand and intend that this MDA is a “development agreement”

within the meaning of the Act and entered into pursuant to the terms of the Act.

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the foregoing Recitals, the mutual covenants 

contained herein, and other good and valuable consideration, the receipt and sufficiency of which 

is hereby conclusively acknowledged, the City and Master Developer hereby agree to the 

following:

TERMS

1. Incorporation of Recitals and Exhibits/Definitions.

1.1. Incorporation. The foregoing Recitals and Exhibits “A” – “N”, whether or not 

specifically referenced herein are hereby incorporated into this MDA.

1.2. Definitions. As used in this MDA, the words and phrases specified below shall 

have the following meanings:

1.2.1.Act means the Land Use, Development, and Management Act, Utah Code

Ann. § 10-9a-101 (2020), et seq.

1.2.2.Administrator means the person designated by the City as the

Administrator of this MDA.



1.2.3.Applicant means a person or entity submitting a Development Application.

1.2.4. Subdivision means a community reinvestment area created by the City to

use certain tax increment financing for City-related infrastructure.

1.2.5.Buildout means the completion of all the development on the entire

Subdivision project in accordance with the approved plans.

1.2.6.City means Harrisville City, a Utah municipality.

1.2.7. City Consultants means those outside consultants employed by the City in 

various specialized disciplines such as engineering, planning, traffic, hydrology, or drainage for 

reviewing certain aspects of the development of the Project.

1.2.8. City’s Future Laws means the ordinances, policies, standards, and 

procedures which may be in effect as of a particular time in the future when a Development 

Application is submitted for a part of the Project and which may or may not be applicable to the 

Development Application depending upon the provisions of this MDA.

1.2.9. City’s Vested Laws means the ordinances, policies, standards, and 

procedures of the City in effect as of the date the City approves this MDA.

1.2.10. Council means the elected City Council of the City.

1.2.11. Default means a material breach of this MDA as specified herein.

1.2.12. Denial means a formal denial issued by the final administrative 

decision-making body of the City for a Development Application but does not include review 

comments or “redlines” by City staff.

1.2.13. Design and Site Standards means those standards for the design, look,



and feel of the Project more fully specified in Exhibit “G”.

1.2.14. Development means the development of a portion of the Property 

pursuant to an approved Development Application.

1.2.15. Development Area means one of the areas that are a part of the Project 

as conceptually illustrated in the Master Plan.

1.2.16. Development Application means an application to the City for 

development of a portion of the Project including a Subdivision or any other permit, certificate or 

other authorization from the City required for development of the Project.

1.2.17. Development Report means a report containing the information 

specified in Sections 2.5.8 – 2.5.10.

1.2.18. Effective Date means the date that this MDA becomes effective as 

specified in Section 27, below.

1.2.19. Final Plat means the recordable map or other graphical representation of 

land prepared in accordance with the Act or any successor provision, and approved by the City, 

effectuating a Subdivision of any portion of the Project.

1.2.20. Four Mile SSD means a special service district to be created by the City 

to provide approved public services to the Project, including secondary water (pressurized 

irrigation), if Developer is unable to arrange for such water through Pineview Water District.

1.2.21. Intended Uses means the use of all or portions of the Project for 

single-family and multi-family residential units, restaurants, public facilities, businesses, 

commercial areas, professional and other offices, services, open spaces, parks, trails, and other 

uses as more fully specified in Exhibit “B-2”.



1.2.22. Master Developer means JLM Development Amber, LLC.

1.2.23. Master Plan means the conceptual layout for Residential Dwelling Units, 

Open Space, and Public Infrastructure for the Project.

1.2.24. Maximum Residential Units means the maximum number of Residential 

Dwelling Units that may be developed on the Property, as detailed in Section 2.2 below, 

consistent with the Property zoning and as generally depicted in the Master Plan.

1.2.25. MDA means this Master Development Agreement including all
the Exhibits.

1.2.26. Multi-Family Site Plan means a site plan for a multi-family 

Development where no Subdivision is required.

1.2.27. Notice means any notice to or from any Party to this MDA that is either 

required or permitted to be given to another party.

1.2.28. Open Space shall have the meaning specified in Section 11.01.060 of the 

City’s Municipal Code.

1.2.29. Outsourcing means the process of the City contracting with City 

Consultants or paying overtime to City employees to provide technical support in the review and 

approval of the various aspects of a Development Application as is more fully set out in this 

MDA.

1.2.30. Party/Parties means, in the singular, Master Developer or the City; in the 

plural Master Developer and the City.
1.2.31. Planning Commission means the City’s Planning Commission.

1.2.32. Project means the total development to be constructed on the Property 

pursuant to this MDA with the associated public and private facilities, and all the other aspects 

approved as part of this MDA.

1.2.33. Property means the real property owned by and to be developed by



Master Developer more fully described in Exhibit “A”.

1.2.34. PTOS Plan means the plan for developing, managing, preserving, and 

improving the neighborhood parks, trails, and open space in the Project as more fully specified in 

Exhibit “B-2”.

1.2.35. Public Infrastructure means those elements of infrastructure that are 

planned to be dedicated to the City or other governmental entity as a condition of the approval of 

a Development Application including, but not limited to, public streets, culinary water utility 

lines, secondary water utility lines, sanitary sewer lines and storm water facilities.

1.2.36. Residential Dwelling Unit means a structure or portion thereof designed 

and intended for use as a single-family residence, an attached residence, including a 

condominium and town house, as illustrated on the Master Plan.

1.2.37. Standards Deviations means those deviations from existing City 

development, design, engineering, and other standards, including but not limited to those 

standards that are included in the City’s Vested Laws, which are specified in the following 

documents and which are subject to the provisions of Sections 2.1 and 5.1, below.

1.2.38. Sub-developer means a person or an entity not “related” (as defined by 

Section 165 of the Internal Revenue Code) to Master Developer which purchases a Development 

Area for development.

1.2.39. Subdivision means the division of any portion of the Project into 

developable lots pursuant to the Act and/or the Zoning Ordinance.

1.2.40. Subdivision Application means the application to create a Subdivision.

1.2.41. Zoning means the Residential zoning for the Property adopted by 

the City on contemporaneously with the approval of this MDA.

1.2.42. Zoning Ordinance means the City’s Land Use and Development



Ordinance adopted pursuant to the Act that was in effect as of the date of this MDA as a part of 

the City’s Vested Laws.

2. Development of the Project.

2.1. Compliance with the Master Plan, Design Standards, and this MDA.

Development of the Project shall be in accordance with the City’s Vested Laws (except as 

specified in the following documents), the City’s Future Laws (to the extent that these are 

applicable as otherwise specified in this MDA), the Master Plan, the Design Standards, and this 

MDA. If there is any conflict between this MDA and the City’s Vested Laws, then this MDA 

shall be controlling.

2.2. Maximum Residential Units/Intended Uses. At Buildout of the Project,

Master Developer shall be entitled to have developed the Maximum Residential Units of 30.

2.3. Limitation and No Guarantee. Master Developer acknowledges that the 

development of the Maximum Residential Units and every other aspect of the Master Plan 

requires that each Development Application comply with the City’s Vested Laws, the Master 

Plan, the Design Standards, and this MDA. The City’s entry into this MDA does not guarantee 

that the Master Developer will be able to construct the Maximum Residential Units or any other 

aspect of the Project until and unless all the applicable requirements of the City’s Vested Laws 

are complied with.



2.4. Design Standards for Development Units.

The Parties acknowledge that the precise design standards for the single family homes, pickleball 

courts and related parking areas, as shown on the Master Plan are not yet completed. The Design 

and Site Standards, Exhibit “G”, includes some renderings and other details and design concepts. 

The Parties shall work cooperatively to amend this MDA within a period consistent with the 

sequencing outlined in Section 2.5.5, to include detailed and reasonable design standards for 

these building and uses to work toward final building exterior designs.

2.5. Sequencing and Relationship of Residential and Commercial Uses.

2.5.1. General Statement. The Parties acknowledge that, separate from
and related to the City’s interest in the development of Residential Uses within the Development,

the City has an interest in the development of areas designated on the Master Plan to include 

Single Family Residences configured as Patio Homes and 2-Story Homes, and recognizing that 

such development is subject to market/economic forces beyond the control of Master Developer, 

desires certain assurances that Master Developer is and will remain committed to develop the full 

development, including the amenities, in a timely manner. To that specific end, the Parties agree 

to the following sequencing plan and related mutual goals:

2.5.2. Prompt Platting/Approval. Master Developer will use its best commercially 

reasonable efforts actively and promptly to pursue the platting and approval of all

residential subdivisions within the Development, including the layout of roads and general 

infrastructure within those subdivisions, with the goal of satisfying all requirements for 

approvals, of each intended phase (per the attached phasing plan as outlined in Exhibit F-2), 

within a period of not more than 120 days from the Effective Date of this Agreement. For its 

part, the City will actively and promptly engage in all reasonable and required review and 

analysis of Master Developer’s subdivision applications with the goal of providing required 

approvals within the stated target period.



2.5.3. Timely Application Review. The Parties acknowledge that an 

accelerated sequencing of sub-development to the Parties mutual benefit, including the City’s 

proper and timely review, analysis and consideration of Master Developer’s anticipated and 

separate residential subdivisions within the period stated in subsection 2.5.2. In consideration 

of, and to offset the additional expenses likely to be incurred by the City in those efforts, the 

Master Developer will pay any additional fees as required by the accelerated request. 

Additional fees will be agreed upon ahead of time between Developer and the City.

2.5.4. Infrastructure Development. Upon approval of the subdivision by

all governmental entities necessary to the approval process, and subject at all times to the 

requirements and reservations outlined in Subsection 2.5.7 below, Master Developer will 

promptly and actively, as commercially reasonable, pursue the development and installation of 

all infrastructure for the entire Development, beginning with the excavation and development of 

roadways and, conditional upon approval by the applicable utility, continuing with the 

installation of electric, sewer, water (including secondary water) and cable or fiber lines. 

Assuming necessary approvals from the City and all utilities by July 9, 2024, Master Developer 

projects, without guarantee, completion of residential infrastructure within twelve (12) months of 

approval, with appropriate and reasonable adjustments to that timeframe for any delays in 

approvals.

2.5.5. Single Family Buildings Design.

Separately, Master Developer and the City, through its Planning Commission, will actively and in 

good faith engage in such charrettes as may be necessary to finalize acceptable architectural



designs and drawings for the single family homes, and other common area features, to be 

constructed in locations generally consistent with the conceptual site plan designs presented by 

Master Developer within the area of the Master Plan designated for those units. Assuming 

necessary approvals from the City by July 9, 2024, Master Developer projects, without 

guarantee, completion of designs and drawings for all buildings and related amenities within 

twelve (12) months of the effective date of this agreement, with appropriate and reasonable 

adjustments to that timeframe for any delays in approvals.

2.5.6. Building Sequencing. Master Developer shall commence 

development and construction of the buildings as follows:

2.5.6.1. Phase 1: Construction of Units 1-13 and Units

26-30, including 18 single family homes, completed with reception of certificates of occupancy.

All required roads and infrastructure will be completed as required for safe access to all Units 

and any other required public safety improvements as required by the Fire Department..

2.5.6.2. Phase 2: Construction of Units 14-25, including 12 

Patio Homes completed with reception of certificates of occupancy, the pickleball courts, the 

pavilion and other common areas. All roads and utility improvements will be completed for the 

entire subdivision as required to complete Phase 2 developments.

2.5.6.3. Development Area Sales. The City acknowledges 

that the precise location and details of the public improvements, lot layout and design and any 

other similar items regarding the development of a particular Development Area, may not be 

known at the time of the creation of or sale of a Development Area. Master Developer may 

obtain approval of a division or partition of the Property as is provided in Section 

10-9a-103(65)(c)(v) of the Act that does not create any individually developable lots in the

Development Area without being subject to any requirement in the City’s Vested Laws to



complete or provide security for any Public Infrastructure at the time of such subdivision. The 

responsibility for completing and providing security for completion of any Public Infrastructure 

in the Development Area shall be that of the Master Developer or a Sub-developer upon a 

subsequent re-Subdivision of the Development Area that creates individually developable lots. 

However, construction of improvements shall not be allowed until the Master Developer or 

Sub-developer complies with the City’s Vested Laws.

2.5.7. Transfers of Residential Dwelling Units and Other Intended Uses. 

The Master Plan provides that Residential Dwelling Units and Other Intended Uses may be 

transferred between or among Development Areas by Master Developer subject to certain limited 

and specified parameters as a matter of right without any approvals being required by the City 

(unless applicable to the subdivision purposed).

2.5.8. Accounting for Residential Dwelling Units and Other Intended 

Uses for Development Areas developed by Master Developer. At the recordation of a Final Plat 

for any Development Application for areas to be developed by Master Developer, Master 

Developer shall provide the City a Development Report showing any Residential Dwelling Units 

or other Intended Uses used with the Development Application and the number of Residential 

Dwelling Units and other Intended Uses remaining with Master Developer for the remaining 

Project. The Development Report shall also account for any required Open Space.

2.5.9. Accounting for Residential Dwelling Units and Other Intended 

Uses for Development Areas Sold to Sub-developers. Any Development Area sold by Master 

Developer to a Sub-developer shall include the transfer of a specified portion of the Maximum 

Residential Units and, for any non-residential Intended Use, shall specify the amount and type of 

any such other use sold with the Development Area. At the recordation of a Final Plat or other 

document of conveyance for any Development Area sold to a Sub-developer, Master Developer



shall provide the City a Development Report showing the ownership of the Development Area(s) 

sold, the portion of the Maximum Residential Units and/or other type of Intended Use transferred 

with the Development Area(s), the amount of the Maximum Residential Units and other Intended 

Uses remaining with Master Developer and any material effects of the sale on the Master Plan.

2.5.10. Return of Unused Residential Dwelling Units or Other Intended 

Uses. If any portion of the Maximum Residential Units or other Intended Uses transferred to a 

Sub-developer are unused by the Sub-developer at the time the Development Areas transferred 

with such Density receives approval for a Development Application for the final portion of such 

transferred Development Areas, the unused portion of the transferred Maximum Residential 

Units or other Intended Uses shall automatically revert back to Master Developer and the Master 

Developer shall file with the City a Development Report.

3. Vested Rights.

3.1. Vested Rights Granted by Approval of this MDA. To the maximum extent

permissible under the laws of Utah and the United States and at equity, the Parties intend that this

MDA grants Master Developer all rights to develop the Project in fulfillment of this MDA, the

City’s Vested Laws, the Zoning, and the Master Plan, except as specifically provided herein. The

Parties specifically intend that this MDA grant to Master Developer “vested rights” as that term

is construed in Utah’s common law and pursuant to Section 10-9a-509 of the Act.

3.2. Exceptions. The restrictions on the applicability of the City’s Future Laws

to the Project as specified in Section 3.1 are subject to only the following exceptions:

3.2.1. Master Developer Agreement. City’s Future Laws that Master

Developer agrees in writing to the application thereof to the Project;

3.2.2. State and Federal Compliance. City’s Future Laws which are



generally applicable to all properties in the City, and which are required to comply with State and

Federal laws and regulations affecting the Project;

3.2.3. Codes. Any City’s Future Laws that are updates or amendments

to existing building, plumbing, mechanical, electrical, dangerous buildings, drainage, flood plain

or similar construction or safety related codes, such as the International Building Code, the

APWA Specifications, AAHSTO Standards, the Manual on Uniform Traffic Control Devices, the

International Residential Code or similar standards that are generated by a nationally or statewide

recognized construction/safety organization, or by the State or Federal governments and are

required to meet legitimate concerns related to public health, safety or welfare;

3.2.4. Regulations of other service providers. Any changes in laws, rules

or regulations of any other entity that provides services to the Project.

3.2.5. Taxes. Taxes, or modifications thereto, so long as such taxes are

lawfully imposed and charged uniformly by the City to all properties, applications, persons, and

entities similarly situated;

3.2.6. Fees. Changes to the amounts of fees for the processing of

Development Applications that are generally applicable to all development within the City (or a

portion of the City as specified in the lawfully adopted fee schedule) and which are adopted

pursuant to State law;

3.2.7. Impact Fees. Impact Fees or modifications thereto which are

lawfully adopted, and imposed by the City and which meet all requirements of the U. S.

Constitution, Utah Constitution, law, and applicable statutes, including but not limited to Utah

Code Ann. § 11-36a-101 (2020), et seq.;

3.2.8. Planning and Zoning Modification. Changes by the City to its

planning principles and design standards, provided that such changes do not work to reduce the



Maximum Residential Units, are generally applicable across the entire City and do not materially

and unreasonably increase the costs or net financial results of any Development Area; or

3.2.9. Compelling, Countervailing Interest. Laws, rules, or regulations

that the City’s land use authority finds on the record, are necessary to avoid jeopardizing a

compelling, countervailing public interest pursuant to Utah Code Ann. § 10-9a-509(1)(a)(i)

(2020).

4. Term of Agreement This MDA shall expire on December 31, 2031. If Master Developer has

not been declared to be currently in Default as of December 31, 2031 (and if any such Default

is not being cured), then this MDA shall be automatically extended until December 31, 2036.

This MDA shall also terminate automatically at Buildout.

5. Public Infrastructure.

5.1. Construction by Master Developer. Master Developer shall have the right and the

obligation to construct or cause to be constructed and installed all Public Infrastructure reasonably

and lawfully required as a condition of approval of the Development Application. The Public

Infrastructure shall be designed and constructed in Compliance with all applicable standards in the

City’s Vested Laws (except for those exceptions specified in the Master Development Agreement)

and, also, with any other Federal, State, or County laws, rules, or regulations. The Public

Infrastructure shall be consistent with and fulfill the purposes of adopted plans for such

infrastructure that are a part of the City’s Vested Laws.

5.2. Bonding. If and to the extent required by the City’s Vested Laws, unless

otherwise provided by the Act, security for any required improvements shall be provided in a

form acceptable to the City as specified in the City’s Vested Laws. Partial releases of any such

required security shall be made as work progresses based on the City’s Vested Laws.



6. Parks, Trails and Open Space. Master Developer shall be responsible for creating,

dedicating, and improving the parks, trails and open space in the Project as specified in the

PTOS Plan.

7. Processing of Development Applications.

7.1. Processing of Development Applications. Within ten (10) business days

after receipt of a Development Application and upon the request of Applicant, the City and 

Applicant will confer in good faith concerning the projected timeline for processing the 

application and to determine the scope of any supplementation or outsourcing that may be 

necessary to meet the desired schedule. If the City determines that outsourcing is necessary and 

appropriate to the timely processing of any Development Application as agreed between the 

Parties, then the City shall promptly estimate the reasonably anticipated differential cost of 

outsourcing in the manner selected by the Master Developer or Sub-developer in good faith 

consultation with the City. This may include either an agreement to pay overtime to the City 

employees or the hiring of a City Consultant acceptable to the Parties and selected in the manner 

consistent with that provided in Section 7.3 below for expert consultants. If the Master 

Developer notifies the City that it desires to proceed with the outsourcing based on the City’s 

reasonable estimate of costs, the Master Developer shall deposit the estimated funds as as 

required for the completion of Phase One, as detailed in Section 2.5.3 in advance with the City 

and any costs will be charged against the deposit. Any additional costs, above the City’s estimate, 

will be paid for by the Master Developer. Similarly, if a Sub-developer notifies the City that it 

desires to proceed with the Outsourcing based on the City’s estimate of costs, then the 

Sub-developer shall deposit in advance with the City the estimated differential cost. In either 

case, with deposits secured, the City shall promptly proceed with having the work Outsourced in 

a manner agreed. Upon completion of the Outsourcing services and the provision by the City of 

an invoice (with such reasonable supporting documentation as may be requested by Master



Developer or Sub-developer) for the actual differential cost of Outsourcing, Master Developer or

the Sub-developer shall, within ten (10) business days pay or receive credit (as the case may be)

for any difference between the estimated differential cost deposited for the Outsourcing and the

actual cost differential. If at any time the Applicant becomes delinquent in the payment of any

Outsourcing fees, the City may postpone all work until the Applicant is paid current with the

City for all outstanding fees related to the Development Application.

7.2. Acceptance of Certifications Required for Development Applications. Any

Development Application requiring the signature, endorsement, or certification and/or stamping

by a person holding a license or professional certification required by the State of Utah in a

particular discipline shall be so signed, endorsed, certified, or stamped signifying that the

contents of the Development Application comply with the applicable regulatory standards of the

City. The City should endeavor to make all redlines, comments or suggestions at the time of the

first review of the Development Application unless any changes to the Development Application

raise new issues that need to be addressed.

7.3. Independent Technical Analyses for Development Applications. If the City

needs technical expertise beyond the City’s internal resources to determine impacts of a

Development Application such as for structures, bridges, site infrastructure, and other similar

matters which are not required by the City’s Vested Laws to be certified by such experts as part

of a Development Application, the City may engage such experts as City Consultants with the

actual and reasonable costs being the responsibility of Applicant. The City Consultant

undertaking any review by the City required or permitted by this MDA shall be selected from a

list generated by the City for each such City review pursuant to a “request for proposal” process

or as otherwise allowed by City ordinances or regulations. Applicant may, in its sole discretion,

strike from the list of qualified proposers any of such proposed consultants so long as at least

three (3) qualified proposers remain for selection. The anticipated cost and timeliness of such



review may be a factor in selecting the City Consultant. The actual and reasonable costs of a City 

Consultant shall be the responsibility of Applicant. The work of the City Consultant shall be 

completed in a commercially reasonable time.

7.4. Processing of Residential Subdivisions, Commercial Site Plans and Multi-

Family Site Plans. Residential Subdivisions shall be processed by the “Land Use Authority”, 

pursuant to the standards and processes of Chapter 11.22, subject to Standards Deviations, and 

shall be approved if they are in compliance with the Master Plan.

7.5. City Denial of a Development Application. If the City issues a Denial of a

Development Application, the City shall provide a written determination advising the Applicant 

of the reasons for denial including specifying the reasons the City believes that the Development 

Application is not consistent with this MDA, the Zoning and/or the City’s Vested Laws (or, if 

applicable, the City’s Future Laws).

7.6. Meet and Confer regarding Development Application Denials. The City

and Applicant shall meet within ten (10)  business days after any Denial to resolve the issues 

specified in the Denial of a Development Application.

7.7. City Denials of Development Applications Based on Denials from Non-

City Agencies. If the City’s denial of a Development Application is based on the denial of the

Development Application by a non-City agency, Applicant shall appeal any such denial through 

the appropriate procedures for such a decision and not through the processes specified below.

7.8. Mediation of Development Application Denials.

7.8.1. Issues Subject to Mediation. Issues resulting from the City’s

Denial of a Development Application for reasons other than denials from non-City agencies and

that the parties are not able to resolve by “Meet and Confer” shall be mediated and include, but



are not necessarily limited to, the following:

7.8.1.1. the location of On-Site Infrastructure, including utility lines and

stub outs to adjacent developments,

7.8.1.2. right-of-way modifications that do not involve the altering or

vacating of a previously dedicated public right-of-way,

7.8.1.3. interpretations, minor technical edits, or inconsistencies necessary to

clarify or modify documents consistent with their intended purpose of the Development

Standards,

7.8.1.4. Justifications for, selection of and costs of Outsourcing under

Sections 7.1 and 7.4;

7.8.1.5. the scope, conditions and amounts of any required development or

infrastructure bond or related security and any impact fees; and

7.8.1.6. the issuance of subdivision applications and related review of

project-wide systems designs.

7.8.2. Mediation Process. If the City and Applicant are unable to resolve

a disagreement subject to mediation, the parties shall attempt within fifteen (15) calendar days to

appoint a mutually acceptable mediator with knowledge of the legal issue in dispute. If the City

and Applicant are unable to agree on a single acceptable mediator, they shall each, within fifteen

(15) calendar days, appoint their own representative. These two representatives shall, between

them, choose the single mediator. Applicant and the City shall split the fees of the chosen

mediator, each Party paying 50% of the fees. The chosen mediator shall, within fifteen (15)

calendar days, review the positions of the parties regarding the mediation issue and promptly

attempt to mediate the issue between the parties. If the parties are unable to reach agreement, the

mediator shall notify the parties in writing of the resolution that the mediator deems appropriate.



The mediator’s opinion shall not be binding on the parties.

7.9. Arbitration of Development Application Objections.

7.9.1. Arbitration Process. If the City and Applicant are unable to resolve

an issue through mediation, the parties may then attempt within fifteen (15) calendar days to

appoint a mutually acceptable arbitrator with knowledge of the legal issue in dispute. If the

parties are unable to agree on a single acceptable arbitrator, they shall each, within fifteen (15)

calendar days, appoint their own individual appropriate expert. These two experts shall, between

them, choose the single arbitrator. Applicant and the City shall split the fees of the chosen

arbitrator, each Party paying 50% of the fees. The chosen arbitrator shall within fifteen (15)

calendar days, review the positions of the parties regarding the arbitration issue and render a

decision. The arbitrator shall ask the prevailing party to draft a proposed order for consideration

and objection by the other side. Upon adoption by the arbitrator, and consideration of such

objections, the arbitrator’s decision shall be final and binding upon both parties. If the arbitrator

determines as a part of the decision that the City’s or Applicant’s position was not only incorrect

but was also maintained unreasonably and not in good faith, then the arbitrator may order the

City or Applicant to pay the arbitrator’s fees.

8. Application Under City’s Future Laws. Without waiving any rights granted by

this MDA, Master Developer may at any time, choose to submit a Development Application for

all or part of the Project under the City’s Future Laws in effect at the time of the Development

Application so long as Master Developer is not in current breach of this Agreement.

9. Default.

9.1. Notice. If Master Developer or a Sub-developer or the City fails to perform

their respective obligations hereunder or to comply with the terms hereof, the

Party believing that a Default has occurred shall provide Notice to the other



Party. If the City believes that the Default has been committed by a

Sub-developer, then the City shall also provide a courtesy copy of the Notice

to Master Developer.

9.2. Contents of the Notice of Default. The Notice of Default shall:

9.2.1. Specific Claim. Specify the claimed event of Default;

9.2.2. Applicable Provisions. Identify with particularity the provisions

of any applicable law, rule, regulation, or provision of this MDA that is claimed to be in Default;

9.2.3. Materiality. Identify why the Default is claimed to be material;

and

9.2.4. Optional Cure. If the City chooses, in its discretion, it may propose

a method and time for curing the Default which shall be of no less than thirty (30) calendar days

duration.

9.3. Meet and Confer, Mediation, Arbitration. Upon the issuance of a Notice of

Default the parties shall engage in the “Meet and Confer” and “Mediation” processes specified in

Sections 7.6 and 7.8. If the claimed Default is subject to Arbitration as provided in Section 7.9,

then the parties shall follow such processes.

9.4. Remedies. If the parties are not able to resolve the Default by “Meet and

Confer” or by “Mediation”, and if the Default is not subject to arbitration, then the parties may

have the following remedies:

9.4.1. Law and Equity. All rights and remedies available at law and in

equity, including, but not limited to, injunctive relief and/or specific performance.

9.4.2. Security. The right to draw on any security posted or provided in

connection with the Project and relating to remedying of the Default.

9.4.3. Future Approvals. The right to withhold all further reviews,



approvals, licenses, building permits and/or other permits for development of the Project in the

case of a default by Master Developer, or in the case of a default by a Sub-developer, development

of those Development Areas owned by the Sub-developer until the Default has been cured or a

bond has been posted to secure satisfaction of the default. Building permits or Certificates of

Occupancy may not be withheld from any Development Area sold to a Sub-developer based on

any Default of the Master Developer unless that Default of the Master Developer is such that the

Public Infrastructure required to service a Development Area owned by a Sub-Developer is not

available to service the Development Area. Nor shall any Default by a Sub-developer permit the

withholding of any Development Applications for Master Developer or any other Sub-developer

that is not in Default.

9.5. Public Meeting. Before any remedy in Section 9.4 may be imposed by the

City, the party allegedly in Default shall be afforded the right to attend a public meeting before the

City Council and address the City Council regarding the claimed Default.

9.6. Emergency Defaults. Anything in this MDA notwithstanding, if the City

Council finds on the record that a default materially impairs a compelling, countervailing interest

of the City and that any delays in imposing such a default would also impair a compelling,

countervailing interest of the City, then the City may impose the remedies of Section 9.4 without

the requirements of Section 9.5. The City shall give Notice to Master Developer and/or any

applicable Sub-developer of any public meeting at which an emergency default is to be

considered and the Master Developer and/or any applicable Sub-developer shall be allowed to

address the City Council at that meeting regarding the claimed emergency Default.

9.7. Extended Cure Period. If any Default cannot be reasonably cured within

thirty (30) calendar days, then such cure period shall be extended so long as the defaulting party

pursuing a cure with reasonable diligence.



9.8. Default of Assignee. A default of any obligations assumed by an assignee

shall not be deemed a default of Master Developer.

9.9. Limitation on Recovery for Default – No Damages. Anything in this MDA

notwithstanding, no Party shall be entitled to any claim for any monetary damages as a result of

any breach of this MDA and each Party waives any claims thereto. The sole remedy available to

Master Developer or any Sub-developer shall be that of specific performance.

10. Notices. All notices required or permitted under this MDA shall, in addition to any

other means of transmission, be given in writing by certified mail and regular mail to the

following address:

To the Master Developer:
JLM Development Amber, LLC
James Bradshaw
2097 E Cedar Fort Drive
Eagle Mountain, UT 84005

With a Copy to:

Glade McCombs
6169 E Hummingbird Pt
Huntsville, UT 84317

To the City:

 

11. Effectiveness of Notice. Except as otherwise provided in this MDA, each Notice

shall be effective and shall be deemed delivered on the earlier of:
11.1. Hand Delivery. Its actual receipt, if delivered personally, by courier service,

Harrisville City
363 W. Independence 
Harrisville, UT 84404



or by facsimile provided that a copy of the facsimile Notice is mailed or personally delivered as

set forth herein on the same day and the sending party has confirmation of transmission receipt

of the Notice. If the copy is not sent on the same day, then notice shall be deemed effective the

date that the mailing or personal delivery occurs.

11.2. Electronic Delivery. Its actual receipt if delivered electronically by email

provided that a copy of the email is printed out in physical form and mailed or personally

delivered as set forth herein on the same day and the sending party has an electronic receipt of

the delivery of the Notice. If the copy is not sent on the same day, then notice shall be deemed

effective the date that the mailing or personal delivery occurs.

11.3. Mailing. On the day the Notice is postmarked for mailing, postage prepaid,

by First Class or Certified United States Mail and actually deposited in or delivered to the United

States Mail. Any party may change its address for Notice under this MDA by giving written

Notice to the other party in accordance with the provisions of this Section.

12. Secondary Water/Consent to Four Mile SSD. If required, Master Developer shall be

responsible to furnish sufficient water rights to support secondary water service sufficient

to satisfy requirements for the Project. If such service is not available from or through

Pineview Water District, Master Developer agrees to coordinate such service from the

Four Mile SSD, previously formed to provide authorized services to areas of the City

including the Project, including any Project-specific services for which the Oak Hollow

development is required, but may be unable, to provide under applicable CC&Rs.

13. Headings. The captions used in this MDA are for convenience only and are not intended

to be substantive provisions or evidence of intent.

14. No Third-Party Rights/No Joint Venture. This MDA does not create a joint venture

relationship, partnership or agency relationship between the City or Master Developer.



Further, the parties do not intend this MDA to create any third-party beneficiary rights.

The Parties acknowledge that this MDA refers to a private development and that the City

has no interest in, responsibility for or duty to any third parties concerning any

improvements to the Property or unless the City has accepted the dedication of such

improvements at which time all rights and responsibilities—except for warranty bond

requirements under City’s Vested Laws and as allowed by state law—for the dedicated

public improvement shall be the City’s.

14.1. Hold Harmless. Master Developer hereby covenants to indemnify, defend, and

hold the City harmless from any claims made by any third parties regarding the City’s entry into

this MDA and the City’s performance of any of its obligation under this MDA.

14.2. Assignability. The rights and responsibilities of Master Developer under this

MDA may be assigned in whole or in part, respectively, by Master Developer with the consent of

the City as provided herein, which consent may not unreasonably be withheld.

14.3. Sale of Lots. Master Developer’s selling or conveying lots in any approved

Subdivision or Development Areas to builders, users, or Sub-developers, shall not be deemed to

be an “assignment” subject to the above-referenced approval by the City unless specifically

designated as such an assignment by Master Developer.

14.4. Related Entity. Master Developer’s transfer of all or any part of the

Property to any entity “related” to Master Developer (as defined by regulations of the Internal

Revenue Service in Section 165), Master Developer’s entry into a joint venture for the

development of the Project or Master Developer’s pledging of part or all of the Project as

security for financing shall also not be deemed to be an “assignment” subject to the

above-referenced approval by the City unless specifically designated as such an assignment by

the Master Developer. Master Developer shall give the City Notice of any event specified in this



sub-section within fifteen (15) calendar days after the event has occurred. Such Notice shall

include providing the City with all necessary contact information for the newly responsible party.

14.5. Notice. Master Developer shall give Notice to the City of any proposed

assignment and provide such information regarding the proposed assignee that the City may

reasonably request in making the evaluation permitted under this Section. Such Notice shall

include providing the City with all necessary contact information for the proposed assignee.

14.6. Time for Objection. Unless the City objects in writing within fifteen (15)

calendar days of notice, the City shall be deemed to have approved of and consented to the

assignment.

14.7. Partial Assignment. If any proposed assignment is for less than all of

Master Developer’s rights and responsibilities, then the assignee shall be responsible for the

performance of each of the obligations contained in this MDA to which the assignee succeeds.

Upon any such approved partial assignment Master Developer shall not be released from any

future obligations as to those obligations which are assigned but shall remain responsible for the

performance of any obligations herein.

14.8. Denial. The City may only withhold its consent to an assignment of Master

Developer’s rights hereunder if the City is not reasonably satisfied of the proposed assignee’s

financial ability to perform the obligations of Master Developer proposed to be assigned or there

is an existing breach of a development obligation owed to the City by the assignee or related

entity that has not either been cured or in the process of being cured in a manner acceptable to the

City. Any refusal of the City to accept an assignment shall be subject to “Meet and Confer” and

“Mediation” processes specified in Sections 7.6 and 7.8.1. If the denial arises in the context of any

dispute that is subject to Arbitration, then the Parties shall follow such processes.

14.9. Assignees Bound by MDA. Any assignee shall consent in writing to be

bound by the assigned terms and conditions of this MDA as a condition precedent to the



effectiveness of the assignment. That consent shall specifically acknowledge the provisions of

Section 2.

15. Binding Effect. If Master Developer sells or conveys Development Areas of lands

to Sub-developers or related parties, the lands so sold and conveyed shall bear the same rights,

privileges, configurations, and number of Residential Dwelling Units as applicable to such

Development Area and be subject to the same limitations and rights of the City when owned by

Master Developer and as set forth in this MDA without any required approval, review, or consent

by the City except as otherwise provided herein.

16. No Waiver. Failure of any Party hereto to exercise any right hereunder shall not

be deemed a waiver of any such right and shall not affect the right of such party to exercise at

some future date any such right or any other right it may have.

17. Severability. If any provision of this MDA is held by a court of competent

jurisdiction to be invalid for any reason, the Parties consider and intend that this MDA shall be

deemed amended to the extent necessary to make it consistent with such decision and the balance

of this MDA shall remain in full force and effect.

18. Force Majeure. Any prevention, delay or stoppage of the performance of any

obligation under this Agreement which is due to strikes, labor disputes, inability to obtain labor,

materials, equipment or reasonable substitutes therefor; acts of nature, governmental restrictions,

regulations or controls, judicial orders, enemy or hostile government actions, wars, civil

commotions, fires or other casualties, governmental delays or restrictions resulting from COVID-

19 or other declared pandemic, or other causes beyond the reasonable control of the Party

obligated to perform hereunder shall excuse performance of the obligation by that Party for a

period equal to the duration of that prevention, delay or stoppage.

19. Time is of the Essence. Time is of the essence to this MDA and every right or



responsibility shall be performed within the times specified.

20. Appointment of Representatives. To further the commitment of the Parties to

cooperate in the implementation of this MDA, the City and Master Developer each shall 

designate and appoint a representative to act as a liaison between the City and its various 

departments and the Master Developer. The initial representative for the City shall be the City 

Planner as the Administrator of the MDA as defined in Section 1.2.2. The initial representative 

for Master Developer shall be Lane Monson or Glade McCombes. The Parties may change their 

designated representatives by Notice. The representatives shall be available at all reasonable 

times to discuss and review the performance of the Parties to this MDA and the development of 

the Project.

21. Entire Agreement. This MDA, and all Exhibits thereto, is the entire agreement

between the Parties and may not be amended or modified except either as provided herein or by a 

subsequent written amendment signed by all Parties.

22. Estoppel Certificate. Upon ten (10) calendar days’ prior written request by Master

Developer or a Sub-developer, the City will execute an estoppel certificate to any third party 

certifying that Master Developer or a Sub-developer, as the case may be, at that time is not in 

default of the terms of this Agreement.

23. Mutual Drafting. Each Party has participated in negotiating and drafting this

MDA and therefore no provision of this MDA shall be construed for or against any Party based on 

which Party drafted any portion of this MDA.

24. Effective Date. This MDA shall become effective upon Master Developer giving

Notice to the City that Master Developer or its Assigns has (have) acquired the Property. Barring 

a written agreement between the Parties otherwise, if Master Developer has not given the City 

such Notice on or before ___________ , then this MDA shall become null, void and of no effect. 

25. Recordation and Running with the Land. This MDA shall be recorded in the



chain of title for the Project after the Effective Date. This MDA shall be deemed to run with the 

land. 

26. Authority. The Parties to this MDA each warrant that they have all of the

necessary authority to execute this MDA. Specifically, on behalf of the City, the signature of the

Mayor of the City is affixed to this MDA lawfully binding the City pursuant to Ordinance 

No. ______adopted by the City on___________________, 2024.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have executed this Agreement by and

through their respective, duly authorized representatives as of the day and year first herein above

written.

* * * * * * SIGNATURE PAGE FOLLOWS * * * * * *



MASTER DEVELOPER CITY

JLM Development Amber, LLC Harrisville City

___________________________ _____________________________
By: James Bradshaw

Its: Manager

Date: ________________________

By: Michelle Tait

Its: City Mayor

Date: ____________________________

Approved as to form and legality: Attest:

City Attorney City Recorder

CITY ACKNOWLEDGMENT

STATE OF UTAH )

:ss.

COUNTY OF WEBER )

On the day of , 2024 personally appeared before me who being 
by me duly sworn, did say that she is the City Mayor of Harrisville City, a political subdivision 
of the State of Utah, and that said instrument was signed in behalf of the City by authority of its 
City Council and said City Mayor acknowledged to me that the City executed the same.

___________________________________

NOTARY PUBLIC

My Commission Expires:
Residing at:



MASTER DEVELOPER ACKNOWLEDGMENT

STATE OF UTAH )

:ss.

COUNTY OF WEBER )

On the day of , 2024, personally appeared before me , who 
being by me duly sworn, did say that he is the Manager of JLM Development Amber, LLC, and 
that the foregoing instrument was duly authorized by the company at a lawful meeting held by 
authority of its operating agreement and signed in behalf of said company.

NOTARY PUBLIC

My Commission Expires:
Residing at:



TABLE OF EXHIBITS

Exhibits:1

A Legal Description of Property

B Master Plan Packet
B-1 Master Plan
B-2 Overall Land Use
B-3 Roadway Plan
B-4 Landscape Plan

C Cluster Development Sub Zone Land Use Regulations

D Transportation Plan and ROW Standards - To Be Completed before
application
D-1 Narrative
D-2 Site Plan
D-3 Trip Distribution Volumes
D-4 Conclusion
D-5 Roadway Plan
D- 6 City Future Transportation Plan

E Phasing Plan
F-1 Narrative
F-2 Phasing Map

F Design and Site Standards and Renderings
Narrative
F-1 Residential Development and Design
Standards - To be Completed
F-2 Preliminary Residential Renderings

1 Duplicate copies of italicized Exhibits may be included as elements of separate categories of documents required
under Harrisville Ord. # 11.11.030.



G HOA Organizational Documents

H HOA CC&Rs

I Geotechnical Report (Printed Separately)

J Phase I Environmental Study

K Parks, Trails and Open Spaces (PTOS)
K-1 Narrative Plan
K-2 PTOS Plan
K-3 Landscape Design Plan

L Maximum Residential Units Table

M Development Areas

N Maintenance Plan



EXHIBIT A
Legal Description

A parcel of ground being a part of the Northeast Quarter of Section 8, Township 6 North, Range 1 West, Salt Lake
Base and Meridian, U.S. Survey being more particularly described as follows.

Beginning at a point on the South Right-of-Way Line of Larsen Lane, said point being retraced at station 13+85.20
according to the official Right-of-Way maps completed by Utah Department of Transportation in 2018, known, as
project number F-LC57(26), said point also being measured 660.63 feet North 88°47'41" West along the Section
Line and 163.36 feet South 1°09'38" West along the Center Line of Washington Boulevard to a Center Line
monument found at the intersection of Washington Boulevard and 1100 North Street and 779.66 feet South
01°09'49" West along the Center Line of Washington Boulevard to the control line of said UDOT project and
continuing along the control line 70.64 feet North 88°50'23" West to a point of curvature to the left having a radius
of 135.00 feet and a central angle of 30°12'47" and Westerly along said arc a distance of 71.19 feet note (Chord
equals South 76°03'13" West 70.37 feet) and 579.11 feet South 60°56'50" West and 368.00 feet South 62°37'11"
West and 242.42 feet South 60°37'11" West and leaving the control line 40.00 feet South 29°22'49" East from the
Northeast Corner of said Section 8 (Basis of bearing being North 1°09'38" West along the Center Line Washington
boulevard between found monument within the intersections of 1100 North and Lockwood Drive) and running
thence along the South Right-of-Way of Washington Boulevard North 60°37'11" East 241.72 feet to Station
16+28.32; thence continuing along said South Right-of-Way North 62°37'11" East 22.44 feet to station 16+50.76;
thence South 24°32'24" East 145.39 feet to an old barb wire fence; thence along said fence North 65°43'06" East
89.76 feet; thence North 24°32'24" West 37.00 feet; thence North 61°15'36" East 90.00 feet; thence South
24°32'24" East 62.94 feet to the Southwest corner of land conveyed to Flying J Inc found at Entry No. 2171137;
thence along said conveyance North 61°15'36" East 38.31 feet to a long standing barbed wire fence; thence South
00°54'49" West along said fence 524.61 feet to a point 2650.65 feet along the section line South 0°18'56" West
and 1293.95 feet South 88°39'20" East and 623.81 feet North 1°11'50" East and 2.97 feet more or less North
88°48'10" West from the North Quarter Corner of Said Section 8; thence North 88°48'10" West 297.03 feet; thence
South 01°11'50" West 600.00 feet; thence North 88°48'10" West 100.00 feet; thence North 01°11'50" East 260.00
feet; thence North 88°48'10" West 99.31 feet to a point at the extension of Jennings Subdivision 1st Amendment;
thence North 01°19'30" East 147.50 feet along said subdivision and its extension; thence continuing along said
subdivision North 01°06'19" East 635.08 feet to the Point of Beginning.

Containing 346,021.60 square feet or 7.9436 acres, more or less.

APN’s: 110270023

110270104

110270118

110270061



Exhibit B
Master Plan Packet









LANDSCAPE PLAN

EXHIBIT B-4







EXHIBIT C - City of Harrisville Land Use Code for Development Agreement
11.11.060 Development Agreement

1. Contents. A Development Agreement, provided by the City, shall include the items specified in this Section.
   2. Legislative Action. The City Council, in its legislative discretion, shall exercise its general policy determination 
functions in considering and may make any modifications to the proposed Development Agreement that it deems 
appropriate before approving the Development Agreement and applying it to the property as a part of the creation 
and mapping of the Sub-zone.
  3. Required Elements. The Development Agreement shall include:

a. A master development plan for the entire property of the project showing:
i. The general areas of each intended use and the approximate intensity of each such use such as the 
approximate number of each type of residential or support use.

       ii. The general areas of each intended use and the approximate intensity of each use such as the approximate 
number of each type of commercial, office, or retail use;
      iii. The approximate location of infrastructure such as roads, parking, storm water facilities, flood control, 
utilities, and other infrastructure.
      iv. The general location size and type of support uses, open space, recreational amenities, pathways or trails, and 
related amenities.
     v. Designation of any present or proposed FEMA floodplain and wetland area.
  b. Proposed development standards for the various types of residential, commercial, retail office, or other uses 
proposed including parking areas, dimensions and setbacks.
  c. Proposed design standards addressing building height, massing and orientation, open space, natural resource 
protection, architectural design and materials, landscaping and buffering standards, parking, and signage.
  d. Proposed plan for maintenance of the project including appropriate costs for the same to be incurred by an 
owner’s association, that accounts for implementation costs and long-term maintenance projections. 
  e. Proposed plan for implementing, administering, enforcing the proposed project.
  f. A hold harmless provision ensuring that the City, and other public entities servicing the project, cannot be held 
liable for any damages arising out of the Development Agreement.
  g. Any other items that the City Engineer or City Attorney deems appropriate.

HISTORY
Adopted by Ord. 503 on 1/14/2020
Amended by Ord. 508 on 5/12/2020

https://harrisville.municipalcodeonline.com/book?type=ordinances#name=11.16.010_Purpose_And_Intent


EXHIBIT D

Traffic Impact Study



EXHIBIT D-1

To: Harrisville City From: Jason Watson, PE, PTOE

FOCUS Engineering & Surveying, LLC

File: Oak Hollow Date: April 8, 2024

Reference: Oak Hollow Traffic Statement

INTRODUCTION
This traffic statement is for the Oak Hollow development located in Harrisville, Utah. The purpose of this
memorandum is to provide the number of vehicles that will be entering and exiting the proposed Oak
Hollow development during typical peak hours of a typical week day. The proposed development is
situated on roughly 7.8 acres of land and is located along Larsen Lane, between Washington Blvd and
Harrisville Road (SR 89).

The Oak Hollow development is planned for 30 single-family homes. The proposed development is
planned for one access onto Larsen Lane and with future connections to surrounding future
developments. The Main Access is located to the north of the development and provides access to
Larsen Lane. At full build-out of this development, it is assumed all the traffic generated will use the
Main Access onto Larsen Lane. Future connections are uncertain at this time.

Exhibit 1 illustrates the vicinity map and surrounding roadways of the Oak Hollow development.

EXISTING CONDITIONS
Surrounding Land Uses
The proposed Oak Hollow development is located along Larsen Lane between Harrisville Road (SR 89)
and Washington Boulevard. Residential homes surround the proposed development on the south, east
and west with Larson Lane to the north. The parcel of land for the proposed development currently
consists of vacant land. The proposed access to this site is planned to align with Wahlen Way. The
proposed development is located within the city limits of Harrisville.

Existing Roadways

Washington Boulevard: Washington Boulevard is a major arterial roadway that is owned and
maintained by Utah Department of Transportation (UDOT). Washington Boulevard runs north and south
and becomes 400 East in the south providing connection to Harrisville Road (SR 89). Washington
Boulevard currently consists of two lanes in each direction with a center two-way left turn lane. The
posted speed limit is 45 mph.



Harrisville Road (SR 89): Harrisville Road is also a major arterial roadway that is owned and maintained
by Utah Department of Transportation (UDOT). Harrisville Road runs north and south and provides
connectivity throughout Harrisville and Ogden. Harrisville Road currently consists of two lanes in each
direction with a center two-way left turn lane. The posted speed limit is 45 mph.

Larsen lane: Larsen Lane is a collector roadway that is owned and maintained by Harrisville City. Larsen
Lane runs along the north boundary of this project and runs east to west, providing connection to
Harrisville Road in the west and Washington Boulevard to the east. Larsen Lane currently consists of one
lane in each direction with a center two way left turn lane and bike lanes. The posted speed limit in
the area is 35 MPH.

Wahlen Way: Wahlen Way is a residential roadway that provides access onto Larsen Lane for local
residents. Wahlen Way is located north of the development and runs southeast to northwest. Wahlen
Way is wide enough to allow for one lane in each direction but is currently not striped. The posted
speed limit in the area is 25 MPH.

Exhibit 1 – Project Vicinity Map



PROPOSED SITE CONDITIONS

The proposed Oak Hollow Development will consist of 30 single-family homes. It will be situated on
roughly 7.8 acres of land. The proposed development is planned with the main access onto Larsen
Lane. Future connections are planned with this development as surrounding future developments
occur. For purposes of this traffic generation statement, these future connections were not considered
as the surrounding future developments are not certain at this time.

At the Main Access to the development, it is expected 50% of traffic will enter and exit the
development to and from the west and the other 50% will enter and exit to and from the east. Larsen
Lane provides connectivity to both Harrisville Road (US 89) and also Washington Blvd. Both of these
roadways provide the quickest and safest routes to surrounding places of employment, schools, I-15
and shopping.

It is anticipated the proposed Oak Hollow development will be built-out and occupied by 2026. Refer
to Exhibit 2 for the proposed layout of Oak Hollow.

TRIP GENERATION

The proposed Oak Hollow development will consist of 30 single-family homes. Using land use code 210
for Single-family Detached Housing, trip generation rates were determined using the 11th Edition of the
Trip Generation Manual. This manual is an information report, published by the Institute of
Transportation Engineers (ITE). The Peak Hour of Adjacent Street Traffic rates are used to generate the
AM and PM peak traffic volumes. The trip generation for housing is typically determined based on the
number of Dwelling Units (D.U.). The trips generated from the proposed development are presented in
Table 1.

Table 1 - Trip Generation – Average Weekday Traffic Volumes

ITE Land
Use
Code

Land Use
Land Use
Description

Size
Daily

Trip Generation
(AM)

Trip Generation
(PM)

(AADT) Enter Exit Enter Exit

210
Single-Family
Detached
Housing

D.U. 30 283 6 17 19 11

Total 283 6 17 19 11



As illustrated in Table 1, it is anticipated the total number of trips generated during the AM peak hour
will be 23. It is anticipated of these 23 trips during the AM peak hour, 6 will be entering the
development and 17 will be exiting the development. During the PM peak hour, it is anticipated 30
trips will be generated, with 19 entering and 11 exiting the development. It is anticipated on a typical
weekday; the Oak Hollow Development will generate 283 total daily trips (ADT). Using the project
distribution percentage explained previously in this traffic statement, Exhibit 3 illustrates the projected
traffic volumes the proposed development will add to the surrounding roadways and the anticipated
direction these trips will be traveling to and from as they enter and exit the development.



Exhibit D- 2 – Site Plan for Oak Hollow





EXHIBIT D-4

CONCLUSION
The new proposed Oak Hollow Development will consist of 30 single-family homes.
It is anticipated to generate roughly 23 vehicles in the AM peak hour, with 6
entering and 17 exiting the proposed development. In the PM peak hour, the Oak
Hollow Development is anticipated to generate 30 vehicles with 19 entering and
11 exiting the development. The Oak Hollow Development is anticipated to
generate 283 daily trips on a typical weekday.

With the planned connection to Larsen Lane and future stub connections to
surrounding future developments to the east, west and south the Oak Hollow
Development will provide connectivity and access to the surrounding roadways.
With the minimal amount of traffic anticipated from Oak Hollow, the surrounding
roadways are expected to experience very minimal impacts or delays beyond
what is currently being experienced. With an existing two-way left turn lane along
Larsen Lane, and the proposed Main Access aligning with Wahlen Way, vehicles
will be able to enter and exit the site with minimal impacts to vehicles along Larsen
Lane.

Please feel free to contact me with any questions or comments.

Sincerely,

FOCUS ENGINEERING & SURVEYING, LLC

Jason Watson, PE, PTOE
Transportation Department Manager
801.352.0075
jwatson@focusutah.com



Single-Family Detached Housing
(210)

Vehicle Trip Ends
vs:

Dwelling Units

On a: Weekday

Setting/Location
:

General
Urban/Suburban

Number of
Studies:

174

Avg. Num. of Dwelling
Units:

246

Directional
Distribution:

50% entering, 50%
exiting

Vehicle Trip Generation per Dwelling Unit
Average Rate Range of Rates Standard Deviation

9.43 4.45 - 22.61 2.13

Data Plot and Equation



Single-Family Detached Housing (210)
Vehicle Trip Ends
vs:

Dwelling Units

On a: Weekday,
AM Peak Hour of
Generator

Setting/Location
:

General
Urban/Suburban

Number of
Studies:

169

Avg. Num. of Dwelling
Units:

217

Directional
Distribution:

26% entering, 74% exiting

Vehicle Trip Generation per Dwelling Unit

Average Rate Range of Rates Standard Deviation

0.75 0.34 - 2.27 0.25



Data Plot and Equation



4/8/24, 4:47 PM itetripgen.org/query/PrintGraph2?code=210&ivlabel=UNITS210&timeperiod=TPGEN&x=30&edition=685&locationCode=General Ur

Single-Family Detached Housing
(210)

Vehicle Trip Ends
vs:

Dwelling Units

On a: Weekday,
PM Peak Hour of
Generator

Setting/Location
:

General
Urban/Suburban

Number of
Studies:

178

Avg. Num. of Dwelling
Units:

203

Directional
Distribution:

64% entering, 36% exiting

Vehicle Trip Generation per Dwelling Unit
Average Rate Range of Rates Standard Deviation



0.99 0.49 - 2.98 0.28

Data Plot and Equation





EXHIBIT D-6 City Future Transportation Plan



EXHIBIT E-1

PHASING PLAN

PHASING NARRATIVE

It is anticipated that the Oak Hollow subdivision will be completed in three phases as follows:

Phase One - This phase will include units 1-13 and units 26-30, including the installation of
underground utilities, storm drains, rough grading of the roadway, and the platting of the lots.

Phase Two - This phase will include units 14-25, the pickleball courts, pavilion and common area
around the pickleball courts, including the installation of underground utilities, storm drains, rough
grading of the roadway, and the platting of the lots.

The phasing may be adjusted as the development proceeds.





Exhibit F-1
Design and Site Standards and Renderings

Narrative
Exhibit F consists of:

1. F-2 Residential Design and Site Standards. These Standards will be supplemented by a
Residential Design Guide to be used by the Home Owner’s Association Design Review
Committee to review sub-developer applications for residential building permits. The Guide will
be completed prior to completion of residential subdivision horizontal infrastructure construction.
2. F-3 Preliminary Residential Rendering. These will be supplemented with additional
renderings provided during negotiations with individual sub-developers and during the
development process.



Exhibit F-2

This information will be provided prior to final plat approval



Oak Hollow
Elevation Plans

Exhibit F-3

These elevation plans are preliminary designs. The full design plans will be completed
prior to construction.



OAK HOLLOW SUBDIVISION – Harrisville Utah

PLAN: ALPINE
2314 SF | 4 BED | 2.5 BATH | 2-CAR GARAGE | 2-STORY

FEATURES:

FRONT COVERED PORCH
2-CAR GARAGE
MAIN LEVEL

● STUDY
● DINING
● FAMILY ROOM



● KITCHEN
● ½ BATH
● REAR DECK

UPPER LEVEL
● OWNER’S SUITE

● 3 BEDROOMS
● 2 BATHS
● LOFT
● LAUNDRY



PLAN: ALPINE

LEVEL ONE

LEVEL TWO



OAK HOLLOW SUBDIVISION – Harrisville Utah

PLAN: LUPINE
2314 SF | 4 BED | 2.5 BATH | 2-CAR GARAGE | 2-STORY

FEATURES:

FRONT COVERED PORCH
2-CAR GARAGE
MAIN LEVEL

● STUDY
● DINING
● FAMILY ROOM
● KITCHEN
● ½ BATH

● REAR DECK
UPPER LEVEL

● OWNER’S SUITE
● 3 BEDROOMS
● 2 BATHS
● LOFT
● LAUNDRY



PLAN: LUPINE

LEVEL ONE

LEVEL TWO



OAK HOLLOW SUBDIVISION – Harrisville Utah

PLAN: BEN LOMOND
2498 SF | 5 BED | 3.5 BATH | 2-CAR GARAGE | 2-STORY

FEATURES:

2-CAR GARAGE
REAR DECK
MAIN LEVEL

● LIVING
● DINING
● FAMILY ROOM
● KITCHEN

● ½ BATH
UPPER LEVEL

● OWNER’S SUITE
● 4 BEDROOMS
● 3 BATHS
● LAUNDRY



PLAN: BEN LOMOND

LEVEL ONE

LEVEL TWO



AK HOLLOW SUBDIVISION – Harrisville Utah

PLAN: HARRIS
2314 SF | 4 BED | 2.5 BATH | 2-CAR GARAGE | 2-STORY



FEATURES:

2-CAR GARAGE
COVERED PORCH
MAIN LEVEL

● FAMILY ROOM
● DINING
● KITCHEN
● STUDY
● ½ BATH

● REAR DECK
UPPER LEVEL

● OWNER’S SUITE
● 3 BEDROOMS
● 2 BATHS
● LOFT
● LAUNDRY



PLAN: HARRIS

LEVEL ONE

LEVEL TWO



OAK HOLLOW SUBDIVISION – Harrisville Utah

PLAN: ASPEN
2309 SF | 4 BED | 2.5 BATH | 2-CAR GARAGE | 2-STORY

FEATURES:

2-CAR GARAGE
COVERED PORCH
MAIN LEVEL

● OFFICE
● FAMILY ROOM
● DINING
● KITCHEN

● LAUNDRY
● ½ BATH

UPPER LEVEL
● OWNER’S SUITE
● 3 BEDROOMS
● 2 BATHS
● LOFT



PLAN: HARRIS
LEVEL ONE

LEVEL TWO



OAK HOLLOW SUBDIVISION – Harrisville Utah

PLAN: SPRUCE
3102 SF | 5 BED | 2.5 BATH | 2-CAR GARAGE | 2-STORY

FEATURES:

2-CAR GARAGE
COVERED ENTRY
MAIN LEVEL

● STUDY/BEDROOM
● GREAT ROOM
● DINING
● KITCHEN

● ½ BATH
UPPER LEVEL

● OWNER’S SUITE
● 2 BEDROOMS
● 2 BATHS
● LAUNDRY
● OPTIONAL BONUS ROOM



PLAN: SPRUCE
MAIN LEVEL

UPPER LEVEL



OAK HOLLOW SUBDIVISION – Harrisville Utah

PLAN: BIRCH
1197 SF | 2 BED | 1 BATH | 1-CAR GARAGE | 1-STORY

FEATURES:

1-CAR GARAGE
MAIN LEVEL

● OWNER’S SUITE
● BEDROOM
● GREAT ROOM
● DINING
● KITCHEN
● FULL BATH
● LAUNDRY



PLAN: BIRCH
FLOORPLAN



OAK HOLLOW SUBDIVISION – Harrisville Utah

PLAN: CEDAR
1197SF | 2 BED | 1 BATH | 1-CAR GARAGE | 1-STORY

FEATURES:

1-CAR GARAGE
MAIN LEVEL

● OWNER’S SUITE
● BEDROOM
● FAMILY ROOM

● DINING
● KITCHEN
● FULL BATH
● LAUNDRY



PLAN: CEDAR
FLOORPLAN



OAK HOLLOW SUBDIVISION – Harrisville Utah

PLAN: OAKWOOD
1675 SF | 3 BED | 2 BATH | 2-CAR GARAGE | 1-STORY

FEATURES:

2-CAR GARAGE
COVERED FRONT PORCH
REAR PORCH
MAIN LEVEL

● GREAT ROOM
● DINING
● KITCHEN
● MASTER SUITE
● 2 BATHROOMS
● LAUNDRY
● WALK-IN CLOSET



PLAN: OAKWOOD
MAIN LEVEL



OAK HOLLOW SUBDVISION – Harrisville Utah

PLAN: REDWOOD
1498 SF | 3 BED | 2 BATH | 2-CAR GARAGE | 1-STORY

FEATURES:

2-CAR GARAGE
COVERED FRONT PORCH
PATIO
MAIN LEVEL

● GREAT ROOM
● DINING
● KITCHEN
● PANTRY
● MASTER SUITE
● 2 BATHROOMS
● LAUNDRY
● WALK-IN CLOSET



PLAN: REDWOOD
MAIN LEVEL



EXHIBIT G

ARTICLES OF INCORPORATION OF
OAK HOLLOW OWNERS ASSOCIATION

A Utah Non-Profit Corporation

(Pursuant to the provisions of Utah Code § 16-6a-202)

I, the undersigned natural person, being of the age of eighteen years or more, acting as
incorporator under the Utah Revised Non-Profit Corporation Act, Utah Code § 16-6a-101 et seq.
(“Nonprofit Act”), adopt the following Articles of Incorporation for such Corporation.

ARTICLE I NAME
The name of this Corporation is Oak Hollow Owners Association

(“Corporation”).

ARTICLE II DURATION
The duration of this Corporation shall be perpetual.

ARTICLE III PURPOSE
The Corporation is organized exclusively for non-profit purposes to provide for the

maintenance, preservation, and architectural control of the real estate project located in Weber
County, State of Utah, known as Oak Hollow; collect and disburse the assessments and charges
provided for in the Declaration and Bylaws; administer, enforce, and carry out the terms, covenants,
and restrictions of the Declaration and the provisions of the Bylaws; have and to exercise any and all
powers, rights, and privileges which a corporation organized under the Nonprofit Act may now or
hereafter have or exercise; and generally provide for and promote the health, safety, and welfare of
the Corporation’s Members.

ARTICLE IV MEMBERS & VOTING
The Corporation shall have Members. The Corporation will not issue shares evidencing

membership. All Lot Owners in the Project shall be members of the Corporation. The terms and
conditions of membership and voting will be set forth in the recorded Declaration and Bylaws of the
Corporation.



ARTICLE V
DIRECTORS

The affairs of the Corporation shall be managed and governed by a Board of
Directors. Pursuant to Utah Code § 16-6a-801(2)(b), JLM Development Amber, LLC (the
“Declarant”) is hereby authorized to exercise all of the powers and perform all the duties
of the Board of Directors during the Control Period set forth in the Declaration. In lieu of
acting as the Board of Directors, the Declarant, in its sole discretion, may also appoint
and remove individual Directors and officers of the Corporation during the Control
Period. Declarant may voluntarily surrender its right to appoint and remove Directors
and officers prior to the expiration of the Control Period, but, in that event, Declarant
may require, for the remainder of the Control Period, that specific actions of the
Corporation or Board, as described in an instrument executed by Declarant, be
approved by Declarant before they become effective. Following the Control Period, the
Board of Directors shall be elected by the Members as more particularly set forth in the
Bylaws.

Each Director shall hold office until his/her successor has been duly
appointed/elected and qualified, or until a Director is removed or resigns as provided in
the Bylaws. The Board of Directors shall exercise such powers as are provided by these
Articles of Incorporation, the Bylaws, the Declaration, and applicable laws of the State of
Utah. The Board of Directors shall exercise all powers on behalf of the Corporation,
except for those powers specifically reserved for the vote of the Members.

ARTICLE VI
OFFICERS

The Board of Directors is authorized to elect and appoint officers and agents of
the Corporation as shall be necessary and appropriate. Such officers and agents shall
hold office until their successors are duly elected or appointed and qualified, or until
they are removed or they resign. All officers and agents of the Corporation, as between
themselves and the Corporation, shall have such authority and perform such duties in
the management of the affairs of the Corporation as may be provided in these Articles
of Incorporation, the Bylaws, the Declaration, or as may be determined by resolution of
the Board of Directors, so long as such resolution is not inconsistent with these Articles
of Incorporation, the Bylaws, or the Declaration.

ARTICLE VII
CORPORATION POWERS

The Corporation shall have such powers and authority as are provided by the
Nonprofit Act and other applicable laws and acts. Specifically, the Corporation shall
have power and authority to sue or be sued and defend the Corporation’s name;
maintain a corporate seal; receive gifts, devises, or bequests for personal and real
property; to purchase or lease personal or real property and to otherwise acquire, hold,
improve, use, and possess the same; to convey, mortgage, pledge, lease, exchange,



transfer, bargain, or otherwise dispose of any or all of its property and assets; to secure
and acquire loans in the name of the Corporation; to conduct its normal and ordinary
affairs, transact business, and carry on operations with such offices as are necessary; to
elect Directors to the Board, and to appoint officers and agents of the Corporation and
to define their duties, by bylaw or otherwise; to defend, indemnify, and hold harmless
any Director, officer, or agent of the Corporation for expenses actually and necessarily
incurred in furthering the activities and operations of the Corporation or in defense of
any litigation or action in which any said Director, officer, or agent is made a party; and
to exercise all other powers necessary and reasonably convenient to effect any and all
of the purposes for which the Corporation is now authorized or hereafter may be
authorized by the laws of the United States and the State of Utah.

ARTICLE VIII
LIMITATIONS ON DISPOSITION OF EARNINGS AND ASSETS

The Corporation’s objectives are not for pecuniary profit and no part of the net
earnings of the Corporation, if any, shall inure to the benefit of any Director, officer, or
Member of the Corporation or any other individual, and no Director, officer, or Member
of the Corporation or any private individual shall be entitled to share in the distribution of
any of the corporate assets on dissolution or liquidation of the Corporation.
Notwithstanding any other provision of these Articles of Incorporation to the contrary, the
Corporation shall not carry on any other activities not permitted to be carried on by a
corporation exempt from federal income taxes under Section 501(c) of the Internal
Revenue Code.

ARTICLE IX
BYLAWS

Provisions for managing the business and regulating the affairs of the
Corporation shall be set forth in the Corporation’s adopted Bylaws and/or Declaration
recorded in the office of the Weber County Recorder. The Bylaws and Declaration may
be amended from time to time pursuant to the terms therein.

ARTICLE X
DISSOLUTION

The Corporation may be dissolved only upon the termination of the Declaration in
accordance with the terms thereof and with the assent given in writing and signed by
Members holding not less than ninety percent (90%) of the voting interests of the
Corporation. Upon dissolution, the assets of the Association shall be divided among all
the Members as provided in the Declaration or otherwise required by law.

ARTICLE XI
LIABILITY

The Board, Directors, officers, employees, and Members of this Corporation shall
not be liable, either jointly or severally, for any obligation, indebtedness, or charge



against the Corporation to the maximum extent allowed by and consistent with the terms
of the Nonprofit Act, specifically § 16-6a-823. This provision shall apply to former
Directors, officers, employees, and Members including, without limitation, those
appointed by the Declarant during the Control Period.



ARTICLE XII
INDEMNITY OF DIRECTORS AND OFFICERS AND COMMITTEE MEMBERS

The Corporation shall defend, indemnify, and hold harmless any and all of its
Directors and officers and committee members, or former Directors and officers and
committee members against all expenses, claims, and losses to the maximum extent
permitted by law, and shall advance expenses incurred by such Directors, officers, and
committee members, as referenced in § 16-16a-904 of the Nonprofit Act, as the same
may be amended from time to time, to the maximum extent permitted by law. Such
defense, indemnification, and hold harmless shall not be deemed exclusive of any or all
other rights to which those indemnified may be entitled, under the Declaration or
Bylaws, or other law, agreement, vote, or otherwise. This provision shall apply to
Directors, officers, and committee members both prior to, during, and after the Control
Period.

ARTICLE XIII
INCORPORATOR

The name and address of the Incorporator is:
JLM Development Amber, LLC

2097 E Cedar Fort Drive
Eagle Mountain, UT 84005

ARTICLE XIV
REGISTERED OFFICE AND AGENT

The Corporation’s Registered Agent and the address of the Corporation’s
registered office shall be:

JLM Development Amber, LLC
2097 E Cedar Fort Drive

Eagle Mountain, UT 84005

Such office may be changed at any time by the Board of Directors without
amendment to these Articles of Incorporation.

ARTICLE XV
PRINCIPAL ADDRESS

The Corporation’s principal address shall be:
JLM Development Amber, LLC

2097 E Cedar Fort Drive
Eagle Mountain, UT 84005



ARTICLE XVI
MISCELLANEOUS

1. Amendment. During the Control Period, these Articles may be amended by
Declarant, in its sole discretion. No other amendment shall be valid or enforceable
during the Control Period unless the Declarant has given written consent to such
amendment. Following the Control Period, any amendment to these Articles must be
authorized and approved by at least sixty-seven percent (67%) of the voting interests of
the Corporation. Any amendment so authorized and approved shall be accomplished in
conformity with the Nonprofit Act and other applicable laws.

2. Defined Terms. Capitalized terms used herein, shall have the same
meaning and effect as defined and used in the Declaration and Bylaws of the
Corporation.

3. Interpretation. The captions preceding the various portions of these Articles
are for convenience and shall in no way affect the manner in which any provision hereof
is construed. Whenever the context so requires, the singular shall include the plural, the
plural shall include the singular, the whole shall include any part thereof, and any gender
shall include both genders. The invalidity or unenforceability of any provision contained
in these Articles shall not affect the validity or enforceability of the remainder hereof.
These Articles have been prepared in conjunction with the Declaration and should be
read in light of that fact and liberally so as to effect the purposes of both instruments. In
the event of a conflict between the provisions of these Articles and the provisions of the
Declaration, the provisions of the Declaration shall prevail.

ARTICLE XVII
CERTIFICATION

In Witness Whereof, has executed these Articles
of Incorporation on behalf of the Incorporator this day of , 2024
and says:

That I am authorized by the incorporator herein to execute these Articles,
which I have read and know of the contents thereof, and that the same are
true to the best of my knowledge and belief. Furthermore, these Articles of
Incorporation have been duly approved by the Corporation.

JLM Development Amber, LLC



Title:



EXHIBIT H

DECLARATION
OF

COVENANTS, CONDITIONS, AND RESTRICTIONS
FOR

OAK HOLLOW

A Planned Development in
Weber County



TABLE OF CONTENTS

RECITALS 1

ARTICLE I. DEFINITIONS 1

ARTICLE II. PROJECT DESCRIPTION 5

ARTICLE III. MEMBERSHIP AND VOTING RIGHTS 6

ARTICLE IV. EASEMENTS AND RIGHTS IN COMMON AREAS 6

ARTICLE V. BUDGET AND ASSESSMENTS 8

ARTICLE VI. DUTIES AND POWERS OF THE ASSOCIATION 14

ARTICLE VII. MAINTENANCE 18

ARTICLE VIII. INSURANCE 21

ARTICLE IX. USE RESTRICTIONS 24

ARTICLE X. ARCHITECTURAL CONTROLS 25

ARTICLE XI. ENFORCEMENT 26

ARTICLE XII. SPECIAL DECLARANT RIGHTS 27

ARTICLE XIII. RIGHTS OF FIRST MORTGAGEE 30

ARTICLE XIV. AMENDMENTS 30

ARTICLE XV. DISPUTE RESOLUTION 31

ARTICLE XVI. MISCELLANEOUS 36

EXHIBIT A - LEGAL DESCRIPTION

EXHIBIT B - BYLAWS

EXHIBIT C - MAINTENANCE ALLOCATION CHART



This DECLARATION OF COVENANTS, CONDITIONS, AND RESTRICTIONS FOR
Oak Hollow (“Declaration”) is hereby adopted and shall be effective when recorded with the
Weber County Recorder’s Office by JLM Development Amber, LLC, a Utah limited liability
company, (“Declarant”).

RECITALS
A. The real property situated in Weber County, Utah, described in Exhibit A, attached to and

incorporated in this Declaration by reference, is hereby submitted, together with all
buildings and improvements previously, now, or hereafter constructed, and all easements
and rights appurtenant thereto, to a residential development consisting of Lots and
related Common Areas pursuant to Utah Code § 57-8a-101 et seq. that shall be known
as Oak Hollow (the “Project”).

B. Declarant is the owner of the real property subject to this Declaration. By signing this
Declaration, Declarant consents to subjecting the real property within the Project to the
terms, covenants and restrictions contained herein.

C. Declarant hereby desires to establish for the mutual benefit of all future Owners and
Occupants of the Project, certain covenants, conditions, restrictions, easements, rights,
privileges, assessments and liens as set forth herein, which shall run with and be a
burden upon the Project.

D. Declarant desires to create an association of homeowners, which entity shall possess
the power to maintain and administer the Common Areas, collect and disburse
assessments and charges hereinafter provided for, and administer and enforce the
provisions of this Declaration. It is intended that this Declaration shall serve as a binding
contract between the Association and each Owner; however, nothing herein is intended
to create a contractual relationship between Declarant and the Association or Declarant
and any Owner, or to inure to the benefit of any third-party. Additionally, it is not intended
that this Declaration be read in conjunction with any deed or real estate purchase
contract to create privity of contract between Declarant and the Association.

E. Declarant intends that the Owners, Occupants, Mortgagees, and all other persons
hereafter acquiring any interest in the Project shall at all times enjoy the benefits of, and
shall hold their interest subject to this Declaration, which is recorded in furtherance of
establishing a general plan of governance of the Project, and for establishing rules for
the use, occupancy, management, and enjoyment thereof.

F. Declarant explicitly reserves for itself the option in the future to expand the Project.

ARTICLE I. DEFINITIONS
The capitalized terms used in this Declaration shall have the meanings set forth in this Article.
Unless the context clearly requires otherwise, the masculine, feminine and neuter genders
and the singular and the plural shall be deemed to include one another, as appropriate.

1.1. Act shall mean the Utah Community Association Act, codified at Utah Code §
57-8a-101, et seq., as the same may be amended from time to time.



1.2. Additional Land shall mean and refer to, without limitation, any parcel of land
that is annexed into the Project by the Declarant.



1.3. Articles shall mean and refer to the Articles of Incorporation for the
Association, as amended and restated from time to time.

1.4. Assessments shall mean any monetary charge or fee imposed or levied by
the Association against Owners as provided in this Declaration or other Governing
Documents.

1.5. Association shall mean the Oak Hollow Owners Association, a Utah non-profit
corporation. Failure of the Association to maintain its corporate status will not result in the
dissolution of the Association. The Association’s Board may renew or reinstate its corporate
status without Owner approval.

1.6. Benefitted Area shall mean a geographical area in the Project in which the
Lots within that area receive special benefits or services from the Association that the
Association does not provide to all Lots within the Project.

1.7. Board or Board of Directors shall mean and refer to the Board of Directors of
the Association as duly elected in accordance with the terms and conditions of the Articles of
Incorporation and Bylaws. The Board is the governing body of the Association.

1.8. Board Member shall mean a duly qualified and elected or appointed individual
member of the Board of Directors of the Association.

1.9. Bylaws shall mean the Bylaws of the Association that are attached hereto as
Exhibit B, as the same may be amended from time to time. No amendment to the Bylaws
shall be effective until it is recorded.

1.10. Common Areas shall mean all land, and the improvements situated thereon,
within the Project that the Association now or hereafter owns in fee for the benefit of Owners
for as long as the Association is the owner of the fee, which may include without obligation or
limitation: private roads, common sidewalks, Association signs or monuments, open space,
landscaped areas, sewer lift station, utility facilities, and any real property or improvements
within the Project that the Association has the obligation to maintain, repair, or replace for the
common benefit of the Owners, as the Board shall determine in its sole and exclusive
discretion, including, without limitation, all utility and service lines and similar improvements,
whether public or private-company owned, intended to serve more than one Residence,
whether located on a Lot, Common Area, public roadway, or lying inside of the exterior
boundaries of the Residence.

1.11. Common Expenses shall mean (a) all sums lawfully assessed against Owners;
(b) expenses of administration, maintenance, management, operation, repair and
replacement of the Common Areas which are maintained by the Association; (c) expenses
allocated by the Association among the Owners; (d) expenses agreed upon as common
expenses by the Association or its Board of Directors; (e) expenses declared common
expenses by the Declaration; and (f) other miscellaneous charges incurred by the Association
or the Board pursuant to the Act, or the Governing Documents.

1.12. Declarant shall mean JLM Development Amber, LLC, a Utah limited liability
company, and any successor or assign.

1.13. Declaration shall mean this Declaration of Covenants, Conditions and



Restrictions for Oak Hollow, as may be amended from time to time.

1.14. Design Guidelines shall mean the requirements governing the location, color,
materials, and architectural design of dwellings, structures, and improvements within the
Project as adopted by the Board as provided herein.

1.15. Governing Documents shall mean collectively, the Declaration, Articles of
Incorporation, Bylaws, Plat, Design Guidelines, and any Rules adopted by the Board.

1.16. Limited Common Areas shall mean the Common Area reserved for the use
and benefit of a designated Lot or Residence to the exclusion of other Owners. Whether or
not indicated on the Plat, the Limited Common Areas shall include facilities appurtenant to
the Residences including porches, balconies, driveways, and portions of the Common Area
bounded by approved fences (if any). Limited Common Areas may also be assigned to all
Lots within a Benefitted Area generally, rather than to individual Lots. The right to the
exclusive use of the Limited Common Area shall be appurtenant to each respective Lot and
may not be severed from the ownership of the Lot. All installations or modifications of Limited
Common Areas shall be approved by the Association and shall be subject to the provisions in
this Declaration and the Design Guidelines. The Board shall have the power and discretion to
determine the Limited Common Area boundaries or assign Limited Common Area use if the
Plat or other Governing Documents are found ambiguous or if there is a dispute over their
boundaries. If the Limited Common Areas depicted on the Plat differ in size or locations from
the as built Limited Common Areas, then the as built dimensions or structures installed by
Declarant shall supersede anything depicted on the Plat.

1.17. Lot shall mean each of the individual Lots within the Project, as shown on the
Plat, with the exception of the Common Areas. A Lot shall include any Residence or other
improvement constructed thereon. Each Lot consists generally of all structures on or within
the boundary of the Lot. Subject to dividing lines between Lots, any above-ground structure
that extends beyond the vertical plane of the ground-level boundary of the Lot is part of the
Lot if it: (1) is part of and an integral part of the Residence’s structure (such as bay windows,
pop-outs, eves, etc., not to include fences, or other appurtenant structures that merely
connect to the structure); or (2) was constructed as part of the original construction of the
Residence on the Lot. Unless specifically indicated otherwise, the use of the term “Lot” in this
Declaration shall apply to Lots with detached residences.

1.18. Manager shall mean a person, persons, or entity, if any, selected by the Board
to manage the affairs of the Association and Project.

1.19. Member shall mean and refer to a Lot Owner.

1.20. Mortgage shall mean any mortgage, deed of trust, or trust deed or the act of
encumbering any Lot or any property by a mortgage, trust deed, or deed of trust.

1.21. Mortgagee shall mean and refer to any person or entity named as a
mortgagee of a mortgage or beneficiary under or holder of a deed of trust.

1.22. Occupant shall mean any Person, living, dwelling, visiting, or staying in a
Residence. This includes, but is not limited to, all lessees, tenants, and the family members,
agents, and representatives living, dwelling, visiting, or staying in a Residence. Occupants
shall be bound by the Restrictions in this Declaration and shall be liable for any fines that are



assessed for violations of the Governing Documents.

1.23. Owner shall mean the record owner, whether one or more Persons, of fee
simple title to any Lot which is a part of the Project, including contract sellers, but excluding
those having an interest merely as security for the performance of an obligation.

1.24. Party Wall shall mean a wall, including without limitation a foundation wall, that
forms part of a Residence and is located on or adjacent to a boundary line between two or
more adjoining Residences that are owned by more than one (1) Owner and is used or is
intended to be used by the Owners of the benefitted Residences as a structural partition wall.
A Party Wall may be separated by a sound board between two or more Residences.

1.25. Period of Declarant Control shall mean the period of time during which the
Declarant may act as the Board of Directors, or appoint Board Members. Such period of time
shall commence on the date this Declaration is recorded and terminate on the occurrence of
the earliest of the following events: (i) six (6) months after the date on which all of the Lots
and all of the Additional Land, have been conveyed to Persons other than Declarant or its
successors, assigns, and affiliates, regardless of whether such Additional Land has been
added hereto; or (ii) the Declarant executes and records a written waiver of its right to control
the Association. The Special Declarant Rights contained within this Declaration may last
beyond the Period of Declarant Control for the maximum length permitted by law. If the
Declarant elects to waive one or more, but not all, of its Special Declarant Rights, then all
Special Declarant Rights not waived shall remain in full force and effect.

1.26. Person shall mean and refer to a natural individual, corporation, business
entity, estate, partnership, trustee, association, joint venture, government, governmental
subdivision, or agency or other legal entity capable of holding title to real property.

1.27. Plat shall mean all of the official subdivision plat(s) of the Oak Hollow
Subdivision that are filed and recorded in the official records of the Weber County Recorder.
The term Plat shall specifically include any additional, amended, or supplemental plat(s) that
may be recorded in the future comprising the Additional Land. The Plat is hereby
incorporated into and made an integral part of this Declaration, and all requirements and
specifications set forth on the Plat and required by the Act are deemed included in this
Declaration. If any conflict exists between the Plat and this Declaration, the Declaration shall
control.

1.28. Project shall include the real property described in Exhibit A and all Additional
Land, together with the buildings, improvements, and permanent fixtures located thereon,
and all easements and rights appurtenant thereto and shall at any point in time mean and
refer to the entire Oak Hollow Subdivision development. The Project shall also include any
Additional Land annexed into the Association and made subject to this Declaration.

1.29. Residence shall mean a structure intended for use and occupancy as a single-
family residence, together with the garage and all improvements located on or with respect to
the Lot concerned which are used in connection with such residential structure. The
Residence shall include, without limitation, the roofs and all exterior surfaces, exterior trim,
gutters, downspouts, structural members, and foundations. The Residence shall also include
any mechanical equipment and appurtenances located within any one Residence or located
without said Residence but designed to serve only that Residence, such as appliances, air



conditioning compressors, sprinkler systems, antennas, fixtures and the like. All pipes, wires,
conduits, or other utility lines or installations constituting a part of the Residence or serving
only the Residence shall be deemed to be a part of the Residence.

1.30. Restrictions shall mean the covenants, conditions, assessments, easements,
liens, and restrictions set forth in this Declaration.

1.31. Rules shall mean and refer to the rules, resolutions, regulations, policies,
architectural guidelines, etc. adopted by the Board.

1.32. Supplemental Declaration shall mean a written instrument recorded in the
records of the Weber County Recorder, which refers to this Declaration and which amends,
modifies, or supplements this Declaration in accordance with its terms.

ARTICLE II. PROJECT DESCRIPTION
2.1. Submission. The real property described with particularity on Exhibit A

attached hereto and incorporated herein by this reference is hereby submitted to the Act. The
Declarant declares that the Project and all of the Lots shall be held, conveyed, transferred,
sold, mortgaged, encumbered, occupied, used, and improved subject to the Restrictions,
which Restrictions shall constitute covenants and conditions running with the land and shall
be binding upon and inure to the benefit of the Declarant, the Association, and each Owner,
including their respective heirs, successors, and assigns.

2.2. Name. The Project, as submitted to the provisions of this Declaration, shall be
known as Oak Hollow. The Project is not a cooperative.

2.3. Description of Improvements. The major improvements contained in the
Project will initially include 30 Patio Home or 2-story Residences that are constructed on
detached home Lots. Other Lots or Common Area upon the Additional Land may be added
as reserved by the Declarant. There are also open space areas, a clubhouse, pickleball
courts, and other improvements detailed on the Plat. All improvements have been and shall
continue to be constructed in a style and of materials architecturally compatible with the other
improvements in the Project. The Lots, their locations, and approximate dimensions are
indicated on the respective Plats.

2.4. Benefitted Areas. The Declarant may create and place Lots into one or more
Benefitted Areas in which the Lots share Limited Common Areas or receive special benefits
or services from the Association that it does not provide to all Lots within the Project. The
creation of a Benefitted Area, the designation of Lots subject to a Benefitted Area, and the
scope of services to be performed for a Benefitted Area may be set forth in a Board
resolution, or similar Association document. A Lot may be assigned to more than one
Benefitted Area, depending on the number and types of special benefits or services it
receives. A Benefitted Area may be comprised of Lots of more than one housing type and
may include Lots that are not contiguous. The Declarant may designate Benefitted Areas and
assign Lots to a particular Benefitted Area at any time prior to the expiration of the Period of
Declarant Control. Declarant may also unilaterally amend Benefitted Area boundaries.
Following the Period of Declarant Control, the Board may, by a resolution, designate
Benefitted Areas and assign Lots to them upon the affirmative vote of Owners exceeding



sixty-seven percent (67%) of the Lots affected by the proposed designation.

2.6. Expansion of Project. The Project may be expanded by the Declarant by the
recording of a Supplemental Declaration to annex any Additional Land that Declarant
determines to be added.



ARTICLE III. MEMBERSHIP AND VOTING RIGHTS
3.1. Membership. Every Owner shall be a Member of the Association with one

membership interest per Lot. Membership in the Association shall be mandatory, shall be
appurtenant to the Lot in which the Owner has the necessary interest, and shall not be
separated from the Lot to which it appertains. Membership in the Association shall not be
transferred, pledged, or alienated in any way, except upon the transfer of ownership of the
Lot to which it is appurtenant, and then only to the new Owner. Any attempt to make a
prohibited transfer is void. In the event an Owner fails or refuses to transfer the membership
registered in such Owner’s name to the purchaser of the Lot, the Association shall have the
right to record the transfer upon its books and thereupon the old membership outstanding in
the name of the seller shall be null and void.

3.2. Voting Rights. Except as otherwise disallowed in this Declaration or the
Bylaws, or limited by the Special Declarant Rights, Owners shall be entitled to one vote per
Lot owned.

3.3. Multiple Ownership Interests. If there is more than one Owner of a Lot, the
vote relating to such Lot shall be exercised as such Owners may determine among
themselves. A vote cast by any of such Owners, whether in person or by proxy or by written
ballot, shall be conclusively presumed to be the vote attributable to the Lot concerned unless
an objection is immediately made by another Owner of the same Lot. In the event such an
objection is made or if there are conflicting votes from the same Lot, the vote involved shall
not be counted for any purpose, except towards establishing a quorum.

3.4. Record of Ownership. Every Owner shall promptly notify the Association of
any change in ownership of a Lot by providing the conveyance information to the Secretary of
the Association who shall maintain a record of ownership of the Lots. Any cost incurred by
the Association in obtaining the information about an Owner as specified herein which is not
furnished by such Owner shall nevertheless be at the expense of such Owner and shall be
reimbursed to the Association as an Individual Assessment.

ARTICLE IV. EASEMENTS AND RIGHTS IN COMMON AREAS
4.1. Easement of Enjoyment. Each Owner shall have a right and easement of use

and enjoyment in and to the Common Areas. Such right and easement shall be appurtenant
to and shall pass with title to each Lot and in no event shall be separated therefrom. Any
Member may delegate the right and easement of use and enjoyment described herein to any
permitted Occupant(s) who reside in such Owner’s Residence. The rights and privileges of
such delegee or assignee shall be subject to suspension in the same manner and to the
same degree as those of an Owner. This right of easement shall not extend to the Limited
Common Area or privately owned Lots of other Owners.

4.2. Title to Common Areas. The Declarant may convey title to the Common
Areas to the Association, the City, or to any other entity in the discretion of the Declarant;
however, neither this conveyance nor any other provision of the Declaration shall be
construed to create a contractual relationship between the Association and Declarant.

4.3. Limitation on Easement. A Member’s right and easement for the use and



enjoyment of the Common Areas shall be subject to the following:
(a) The right of the Association to impose reasonable limitations on the number of

guests per Member who at any given time are permitted to use the Common Areas;
(b) The right of the Association to charge reasonable admission and other fees for

the use of the recreational facilities situation upon the Common Areas;
(c) The right of any governmental or quasi-governmental body having jurisdiction

over the Project to access and rights of ingress and egress over and across any street,
parking area, walkway, or open area contained within the Project for purposes of
providing police and fire protection, transporting school children, and providing any other
governmental or municipal service.

(d) The right of the Association to suspend voting rights and right to use the
Common Areas by an Owner for any period during which any Assessments against his
Lot remain unpaid, and for a period not to exceed sixty (60) days for any infraction of the
Rules.

(e) The right of the Association to dedicate or transfer all or any part of the
Common Areas, and any sewer, water and storm drain lines to any public agency or
authority for such purposes and subject to such conditions as may be agreed to by the
Association. Any such dedication or transfer must, however, be assented to by
sixty-seven percent (67%) of the Owners.

4.4. Association Easement. The Association, its Board, employees, agents, and
contractors shall have non-exclusive easements to use the Common Areas and Limited
Common Areas to perform their duties as assigned by the Governing Documents.

4.5. Easement for Utility Services. In addition to the easements identified in the
Plats, the Project is subject to a blanket easement over, across, above, and under it for
ingress, egress, installation, maintenance, repair, and replacement of utilities. Utilities include,
without limitation, water, sewer, gas, telephone, electricity, data, video, and cable. If any utility
company or municipal authority requests that a more specific easement be granted in its
favor in substitution for the easement hereby established with respect to the Common Areas,
the Board shall have the power and authority, without the need for any consent by the
Owners to grant the more specific easement on such terms and conditions as the Board
deems appropriate. It is intended that this utility easement be construed broadly.

4.6. Easements for Encroachments. If any portion of a Common Area or Limited
Common Area structure or improvement encroaches upon any Lot, or if any structure or
improvement of a Lot encroaches upon any other Lot, Limited Common Area, or the
Common Area as a result of the manner in which the improvements were initially approved
and constructed, or due to settling, shifting, alteration, replacement, repair, or restoration, a
valid easement for encroachment, and maintenance of such encroachment, shall exist for the
life of the improvement or structure.

4.7. Right to Enter. The Association, acting through the Board or its duly
authorized agent, shall have the right at all times and upon reasonable notice of at least 48
hours to enter upon any Lot on the areas located outside the exterior boundaries of a
Residence, without trespass, and regardless of whether or not the Lot Owner or Occupant



thereof is present at the time, to abate any infractions, to fulfill its responsibilities, to exercise
its rights, to make repairs, and to correct any violation of any of the Governing Documents.
The 48-hour notice set forth in this Section shall not be necessary in case of an emergency
threatening other Residences, Occupants, or other parts of the Project. Nothing in this
Section shall be construed to authorize the entry of the Association into the interior of a
Residence without the consent of the Lot Owner unless there is an emergency threatening
another Residence, the Occupants of another Residence. Owners shall maintain up-to-date
emergency contact information records with the Association, including any local
representative an Owner may have for notice purposes. Owners shall be responsible for any
costs incurred by the Association as a result of entering a Lot or Residence under this
Section and shall defend, indemnify, and hold harmless the Association for all damages
related to such entry, except for such damages resulting from intentional or willful
misconduct.

4.8. Association Not Guarantor of Geotechnical Risk. Soils in Utah, including
those in the Project, under Lots, and under Common Area, may shift, expand, erode, or
collapse, resulting in movement of all or portions of a Residence or damage to Lots, Common
Areas, improvements, or persons. Soils in the Project may be adversely affected by moisture
contacting those soils from, by way of example and not of limitation, rain, surface waters or
runoff, landscape sprinklers, downspouts, and changes to grading. The Declarant and the
Association have not performed any soils investigation or testing, however, the nature of the
slopes and soils in the Project were open and oblivious to all Owners prior to purchasing a
Lot in the Project and to all residents prior to occupying any Residence within the Project. By
purchasing a Lot in the Project, each Owner was/is on notice of potential soils issues and is
in the best position to obtain insurance for their Lot, person, family, guests, tenants, and
personal property against risks of damage or loss resulting from soils or geotechnical
damages. Thus, neither the Declarant nor the Association can act as a guarantor against
damages or losses arising out of geotechnical or soils risks and occurrences. The Declarant
and the Association shall not be liable to any Owner or resident within the boundaries of the
Plat for any damages resulting from or in any way related to earth movement, instability,
erosion, expansion, contraction, earth or rockslides, or any other geotechnical phenomenon,
whether caused by natural or man-made factors. Each Owner and Occupant assumes all risk
associated with the use and enjoyment of their Lot, a Residence, and the Project, and the
Association shall not be responsible for any loss, injury, or damage arising from such use or
enjoyment. The foregoing is intended for the benefit of the Declarant and the Association only
and not intended to preclude any private cause of action between Owners, should liability
exist between Owners.

ARTICLE V. BUDGET AND ASSESSMENTS
5.1. Annual Budget. The Board shall prepare and adopt an annual budget for the

Association. The annual budget shall provide, without limitation, for the maintenance of the
Common Areas and for the administration, management, and operation of the Association.
The Board may revise the budget from time to time as the Board deems appropriate. If the
Board fails to adopt an annual budget, the last adopted budget shall continue in effect until a
new annual budget is adopted. The budget shall be made available to requesting Owners
within thirty (30) days after adoption. Owners may not disapprove a budget during the Period



of Declarant Control.
(a) Benefitted Area Expenses. If one or more Benefitted Areas are designated,

then the budget shall track and estimate the expenses associated with each Benefitted
Area separately from Common Expenses in order to allocate these expenses as set forth
in Section 5.7. “Benefitted Area Expenses” shall include the actual and estimated
expenses incurred or to be incurred by the Association for the benefit of the Lots within
each Benefitted Area which may include snow removal, landscaping, construction,
insurance, maintenance, and repair and replacement of Common Area facilities
appurtenant to the Benefitted Area, structures, and adjacent areas. If the Benefitted Area
responsibilities require the maintenance or repair of long-term Common Area facilities,
then the Benefitted Area Expenses shall include contributions to a reserve fund for the
repair and replacement of such facilities. Benefitted Area reserves shall be accounted for
and kept separate from the Association’s other reserve funds. Separate accounting and
financial reporting shall be maintained for each Benefitted Area.

5.2. Covenant to Pay Assessments. Each Owner of a Lot by the acceptance of a
deed therefore, whether or not it be so expressed in the deed, hereby covenants and agrees
with each other and with the Association to pay to the Association all Assessments, including
without limitation, all Regular, Benefitted Area, Special, and Individual Assessments
described below, and other fees, charges, levies, and fines as may be provided in the
Governing Documents.

5.3. Purpose of Assessments. Assessments levied by the Association shall be
used for the purpose of promoting the health, safety, and welfare of residents of the Project,
including but not limited to the appearance and aesthetics of the Project. The use made by
the Association of funds obtained from Assessments may include, but is not limited to:
payment of the cost of taxes and insurance on the Common Areas; maintenance, repair, and
improvement of the Common Areas; property insurance on attached Residences;
establishing and funding a reserve to cover major repair or replacement of improvements
within the Common Areas; building exterior maintenance costs; shared utility and bulk service
fees; and any expenses necessary or desirable to enable the Association to perform or fulfill
its obligations, functions, or purposes under the Governing Documents.

5.4. Declarant Assessment Exemption. Anything contained in the Governing
Documents to the contrary notwithstanding, the Declarant shall not be obligated to pay
Assessments on any Lot owned by it until such time as the Declarant elects in writing to pay
Assessments, and only for so long as the Declarant elects to pay Assessments. In addition,
the Declarant may exempt Lots owned by Declarant affiliates from the payment of
Assessments during the Period of Declarant Control, in the Declarant’s sole discretion.

5.5. Regular Assessments. Regular Assessments shall be made on a calendar
year basis based on each Owner’s equally allocated portion of the budget. The Board shall
give written notice of each Regular Assessment not less than fifteen (15) days prior to the
beginning of the next calendar year. Each Regular Assessment shall be due and payable in
monthly or quarterly installments on dates established by the Board. At least fifteen (15) days
prior to the effective date of any change in the amount of the Regular Assessment, the
Association shall give each Owner written notice of the new amount.



5.6. Benefitted Area Assessment. Benefitted Area Assessments shall be paid by
all Lots within a designated Benefitted Area that are subject to assessment in addition to the
Regular Assessment. The amount of the Benefitted Area Assessment shall be determined by
equally allocating the budgeted Benefitted Area Expenses to all Lots within the Benefitted
Area. At no time shall a Benefitted Area Assessment be charged or assessed to Lots outside
of the designated Benefitted Area. The amounts the Association collects as Benefitted Area
Assessments shall be held in trust for and expended solely for the benefit of the Lots from
which they were collected.

5.7. Special Assessments. The Board may levy a Special Assessment payable
over such a period as the Board may determine for the purpose of defraying, in whole or in
part any expense or expenses not reasonably capable of being fully paid with funds
generated by Regular Assessments; the cost of any construction, reconstruction, or
unexpected repair or replacement of the Common Areas; or for any other expense incurred
or to be incurred as provided in this Declaration. Special Assessments over one-thousand
dollars ($1,000) in a calendar year must be approved and assented to by a majority of the
Members present in person or by proxy at a meeting duly called for such purpose. Notice in
writing of the amount of any Special Assessments and the time for their payment shall be
given as soon as is reasonably possible to the Owners. Payment shall be due on the dates
and in the manner determined by the Board and provided in the notice. Notwithstanding the
foregoing, Declarant may levy Special Assessments in any amount deemed necessary during
the Period of Declarant Control without Owner approval.

5.8. Individual Assessments. The Board may also levy Individual Assessments
against a Lot and its Owner for: (a) administrative costs and expenses incurred by the Board
in enforcing the Governing Documents against the Owner or its Occupants; (b) costs
associated with the maintenance, repair, or replacement of Common Areas caused by the
neglect or actions of an Owner or its Occupants; (c) any other charge, fine, fee, expense, or
cost designated as an Individual Assessment in the Governing Documents or by the Board,
including, without limitation, action taken to bring a Residence and its Owner into compliance
with the Governing Documents; (d) nonpayment of a Reinvestment Fee; (e) costs of
providing services to the Lot upon request of the Owner; and (f) attorney fees, court or
collection costs, fines, and other charges relating to any of the foregoing, regardless of
whether a lawsuit is filed. In addition, Individual Assessments may be levied against a Lot
and its Owner specifically benefited by any improvements to adjacent roads, sidewalks,
planting areas or other portions of the Common Areas made on the written request of the
Owner of the Lot to be charged. The aggregate amount of any such Individual Assessments
shall be determined by the cost of such improvements, repairs, maintenance, or enforcement
action, including all overhead and administrative costs and attorney fees, and shall be
allocated among the affected Lots according to the special benefit or cause of damage or
maintenance or repair work or enforcement action, as the case may be. Individual
Assessments may be levied in advance of the performance of the work. If a special benefit
arises from any improvement which is part of the general maintenance obligations of the
Association, it shall not give rise to an Individual Assessment against the Lot(s) benefited,
unless such work was necessitated by the Owner’s or the Occupants’ negligence.

5.9. Allocation of Assessments. Regular and Special Assessments shall be fixed



at an equal uniform rate for all Lots, unless otherwise provided in the Governing Documents.
Benefitted Area Assessments shall be fixed at an equal rate for all benefitted Lots. Individual
Assessments shall be allocated separately to each Lot based on the costs incurred by the
Association.

5.10. Application of Excess Assessments. In the event the amount budgeted to
meet Common Expenses for a particular fiscal year proves to be excessive in light of the
actual Common Expenses, the Board in its discretion may apply the excess to reserves,
credit the excess against future Assessments, or pay the excess to the Owners, as the Board
deems appropriate. The decision of the Board shall be binding and conclusive. In addition,
the Association shall not be obligated to reduce the amount of Assessments in succeeding
years if an excess exists for a prior year.

5.11. No Offsets. All Assessments shall be payable in the amount specified by the
Assessment and no offsets against such amount or withholding of any amount shall be
permitted for any reason, including, without limitation, non-use or limited use of a Residence
or Common Area, a claim that the Association owes the Owner money, or that the
Association is not properly exercising its duties and powers as provided in this Declaration.

5.12. Certificate Regarding Payment. Upon the request of an Owner, prospective
purchaser, Mortgagee, or encumbrancer of a Lot, the Association shall issue a certificate
stating whether or not all Assessments respecting such Lot are current and, if not, the
amount of the delinquency. Such certificate shall be conclusive in favor of all persons who in
good faith rely thereon. The Association may charge the requesting Owner, prospective
purchaser, Mortgagee, or encumbrancer of a Lot a reasonable fee as permitted in the Act.

5.13. Personal Obligation and Lien. All Assessments, together with any interest,
late fees, collection costs, and attorney fees shall constitute and remain: (a) a charge and
continuing lien upon the Lot with respect to which such Assessment is made pursuant to Utah
Code § 57-8a-301; and (b) the personal obligation of the person who is the Owner of such
Lot at the time the Assessment falls due. No Owner may exempt themselves or their Lot from
liability for payment of Assessments by waiver of their rights concerning the Common Areas
or by abandonment of a Lot. In a voluntary conveyance of a Lot, the grantee shall be jointly
and severally liable with the grantor for all such unpaid Assessments, late payment fees,
interest, and costs of collection, including reasonable attorneys’ fees, which shall be a charge
on the Lot at the time of the conveyance, without prejudice to the grantee’s right to recover
from the grantor the amounts paid by the grantee therefore.

5.14. Billing and Collection Procedures. The Board shall have the right to adopt
Rules or a Board resolution setting forth procedures for the billing and collection of
Assessments, provided that such procedures are not inconsistent with the provisions hereof.
The failure of the Association to send an invoice to an Owner shall not relieve any Owner of
liability for any Assessment or charge under this Declaration, but the Assessment lien
therefore shall not be foreclosed or otherwise enforced until the Owner has been given not
less than thirty (30) days written notice prior to such foreclosure or enforcement, at the
address of the Owner on the records of the Association, of the Assessment or installment
and of the amount owing. Such notice may be given at any time prior to or after delinquency
of such payment. A copy of such notice may also be provided to the Occupant(s) of the



Residence if the Owner does not reside in the Project. Unless otherwise provided for in the
Rules or Board resolution, all payments for Assessments shall be applied to the earliest (or
oldest) charges first. Owners shall have no right to direct the application of their payments on
Assessments or to require application of payments in any specific order, to specific charges,
or in specific amounts. The Association may charge collection fees to Owners that are
charged by the Manager.

5.15. Due Date and Delinquency. Assessments shall be paid in a timely manner.
Payments are due in advance on the first day of the month or the first day of such other
period established for the payment of Assessments. Payments are delinquent if received
more than ten (10) days from the date that they became due. Whenever an Assessment is
delinquent, the Board may at its option invoke any one or more options or all of the sanctions
granted in this Article or the Act.

5.16. Collection Charges. If the Association does not otherwise adopt or establish
billing and collection procedures in the Rules or Board resolution, the following shall apply.
Delinquent accounts shall be charged a twenty-five dollar ($25.00) late fee each month until
the Owner’s account (including all collection charges, costs, and attorneys’ fees) is paid in
full. Interest shall accrue on all unpaid balances at the rate of eighteen percent (18%) per
annum. Collection charges, interest, and/or late fees shall constitute part of the Assessment
lien provided above until paid. The Association may also assess to the Owner a collection
charge, late fee, and any other reasonable fee charged by a Manager related to collections.

5.17. Collection Action at Law. The Association may exercise any or all of the
following remedies to collect delinquent Assessments:

(a) The Association may suspend such Owner’s voting rights.
(b) The Association shall have a lien against each Lot for any Assessment levied

against the Lot and any fines or other charges imposed under the Governing Documents
against the Owner of the Lot from the date on which the Assessment, fine, or charge is
due. This lien shall arise and be perfected as of the date of the recording of this
Declaration. At any time, any Assessment or installment thereof is delinquent, the
Association, by and through its Board or any Manager, may file a notice of lien in the deed
records of Weber County against the Lot with respect to which the delinquency pertains.
Once filed, such lien shall accumulate all future Assessments or installments, interest, late
fees, penalties, fines, attorney fees, and other appropriate costs properly chargeable to
an Owner by the Association, until such amounts are fully paid. Said lien may be
foreclosed at any time as allowed by law. The lien of the Association shall be superior to
all other liens and encumbrances except: a lien or encumbrance recorded before the
original Declaration was recorded; a first or second security interest on the Lot secured by
a Mortgage or trust deed that is recorded before the Association's notice of lien; or a lien
for real estate taxes or other governmental assessments against the Lot. The Association
through its duly authorized agents, may bid on the Lot at any foreclosure sale, and may
acquire and hold, lease, mortgage, and convey the Lot.

(c) The Association may bring an action to recover a money judgment for unpaid
Assessments, fines, and charges under this Declaration against an Owner without
foreclosing or waiving the lien described above. Recovery on any such action, however,



shall operate to satisfy the lien, or the portion thereof, for which recovery is made.
(d) If the delinquent Owner is leasing a Lot or any portion thereof, the Board may,

at its option, so long as such default shall continue, demand and receive from any tenant
of the Owner the rent due or becoming due and the payment of such rent to the Board
shall discharge such tenant for rent due, and shall discharge the Owner for such
Assessments to the extent of the amount so paid.

(e) The Association may terminate utilities paid out of the Common Expense and
the right to use the Common Areas.

(f) Payments shall be credited first to collection costs (including attorney’s fees),
then to interest and late fees, then to the oldest assessments, then the most recent
assessments.

(g) The Association shall have any other remedy available to it whether provided
in the Governing Documents, the Act, or other law or in equity.

5.18. Power of Sale. The Association shall have all rights of foreclosure granted by
the Act, both judicially and non-judicially. Pursuant to Utah Code §§ 57-1-20 and 57-8a-302,
an Owner’s acceptance of an interest in a Lot constitutes a simultaneous conveyance of the
Lot in trust, with power of sale, to the Association’s attorney of record, as trustee, for the
benefit of the Association, for the purpose of securing payment of Assessments under the
terms of this Declaration and the Act. The Association may appoint a qualified successor
trustee by executing and recording a substitution of trustee form.

5.19. Reserve Account. The Board shall establish a reserve account to fund long-
term maintenance of Common Areas. The Board shall follow any statutory requirement to
conduct a reserve analysis and utilize such reserve analysis in making decisions regarding
the funding of a reserve account. The Board shall not be personally liable for failure to fund
the reserve account unless willful or intentional misconduct is proven in a court of law.
Notwithstanding the foregoing, such reserve fund duties and obligations shall not apply to the
Association and Board during the Period of Declarant Control.

5.20. Reinvestment Fee Covenant. A perpetual Reinvestment Fee Covenant is
hereby established that obligates all Transferees of Lots to pay the Association a fee that
benefits the Lot and Project. The Board shall have the right to establish the Reinvestment
Fee assessment amount in accordance with this Section and Utah Code § 57-1-46. The
following terms shall govern Reinvestment Fees:

(a) Upon the occurrence of any sale, transfer, or conveyance of any Lot as
reflected in the office of the County recorder, regardless of whether it is pursuant to the
sale of the Lot or not (as applicable, a “Transfer”), the Person receiving title to the Lot (the
“Transferee”) shall pay to the Association a Reinvestment Fee in an amount to be
established by the Board in the Rules or Board resolution, provided that in no event shall
the Reinvestment Fee exceed the maximum rate permitted by law.

(b) The amount of the Reinvestment Fee shall be established by the Board in the
Rules or through a Board resolution and amounts may differ based on Lot type.

(c) The Association shall not levy or collect a Reinvestment Fee for any Transfer
exempted under Utah Code § 57-1-46(8).

(d) All transfers of Lots from Declarant to a Declarant related Person shall be



exempt from a Reinvestment Fee. The Declarant shall have the sole discretion to
determine whether such Transferee is a related Person and if a Reinvestment Fee
applies.

5.21. Account Payoff Fees. The Association may charge a fee for providing
Association payoff information needed in connection with financing, refinancing, or closing of
the sale of a Lot as provided for in Utah Code § 57-8a-106. The amount of such fee shall be
fifty dollars ($50.00) or as otherwise established in the Rules. Additional paperwork required
in a private sale between an Owner and purchaser may be obtained from the Association but
may incur additional fees.

5.22 Association Responsibility after Foreclosure. If the Association takes title to
a Lot pursuant to a foreclosure (judicial or non-judicial), it shall not be bound by any of the
provisions related to the Lot that are otherwise applicable to any other Owner, including but
not limited to obligations to pay assessments, taxes, or insurance, or to maintain the Lot. By
taking a security interest in any Lot governed by this Declaration, Mortgagees cannot make
any claim against the Association for nonpayment of taxes, Assessments, or other costs and
fees associated with any Lot if the Association takes title to a Lot related to a failure to pay
Assessments.

5.23 Homestead Waiver. Pursuant to Utah Code § 57-8a-301, and to the extent any
liens are created pursuant to this Declaration, whether such liens are now in existence or are
created at any time in the future, each Owner waives the benefit or priority of any homestead
or exemption laws of the State of Utah now in effect, or in effect from time to time hereafter.

ARTICLE VI. DUTIES AND POWERS OF THE ASSOCIATION
6.1. Organization of Association. The Association shall serve as the governing

body for all Owners. The Association shall make provisions for the maintenance, repair,
replacement, administration, and operation of the Common Area and Common Expenses,
and other matters as provided in the Act, this Declaration, and the Bylaws. The Association
shall have all rights and powers granted to it under the Act and in this Declaration, the
Articles, and the Bylaws. The Association shall not be deemed to be conducting a business of
any kind, and all funds received by the Association shall be held and applied by it for the
Owners in accordance with this Declaration, the Articles, and the Bylaws. Except as
specifically authorized in this Declaration, the Articles, or the Bylaws, no Owner or group of
Owners shall have authority to take any action on behalf of the Owners, the Association, or
the Board of Directors.

6.2. Legal Organization. The Association is intended to be incorporated as a
nonprofit corporation. In the event the nonprofit corporate status expires or is invalidated in
any manner, it shall automatically be succeeded by an unincorporated association of the
same name vested with all property, powers and obligations of the nonprofit corporation and
the Board of Directors, in its sole discretion, may renew and/or reincorporate the Association.
Any such expiration or invalidation shall not relieve any Owner from paying Assessments and
abiding by all Restrictions contained in this Declaration.

6.3. General Powers and Obligations. The Association shall have, exercise and
perform all of the following powers, duties, and obligations:



(a) The powers, duties, and obligations granted to the Association by this
Declaration, its Bylaws, and the Articles of Incorporation;

(b) The powers and obligations of a nonprofit corporation pursuant to the general
nonprofit corporation laws of the State of Utah;

(c) The powers, duties, and obligations of a homeowners association pursuant to
the Utah Community Association Act, or any successor thereto;

(d) The powers, duties, and obligations not reserved specifically to Owners; and
(e) Any additional or different powers, duties, and obligations necessary or

desirable for the purpose of carrying out the functions of the Association pursuant to the
Governing Documents or otherwise promoting the general benefit of the Owners within
the Project.

The powers and obligations of the Association may from time to time be amended, repealed,
enlarged, or restricted by changes in this Declaration made in accordance with the provisions
herein, accompanied by any necessary changes in the Articles of Incorporation or Bylaws of
the Association made in accordance with such instruments and with the nonprofit corporation
laws of the State of Utah.

6.4. Specific Powers and Duties. The powers and duties of the Association shall
include, without limitation, the following:

(a) Maintenance and Services. The Association shall provide maintenance and
services for the Project as provided in Article VII and other provisions of this Declaration.

(b) Insurance. The Association shall obtain and maintain in force policies of
insurance as provided in this Declaration or the Act. The Association shall have no
obligation to obtain or maintain any insurance covering the personal and real property of
any Owner(s), and each Owner shall be responsible for obtaining and maintaining such
personal and real property insurance.

(c) Rulemaking. The Association, through its Board of Directors, shall make,
establish, promulgate, amend, and repeal Rules governing the conduct of persons and
the operation and use of the Project as it may deem necessary or appropriate in order to
assure a clean, aesthetically pleasing, peaceful, and orderly use and enjoyment of the
Project. Pursuant to Utah Code § 57-8a-218(20), the requirements of Utah Code §§
57-8a-218(1), (2), (6), and (8) through (14), except subsection (1)(b)(ii), are hereby
modified to not apply to the Association. During the Period of Declarant Control, the
Declarant and the Declarant appointed Board (if any) shall be exempt from the
rulemaking procedures of Utah Code § 57-8a-217.

(d) Assessments. The Association shall adopt budgets and impose and collect
Assessments as provided in Article V of this Declaration.

(e) Enforcement. The Association shall perform such acts, whether or not
expressly authorized by this Declaration, as may be reasonably necessary to enforce the
provisions of the Governing Documents of the Association including the assessment of
fines, remedial action as permitted in the Governing Documents, or legal action. The
Association may assess fines to Owners, Occupants, or their guests for violations of the



Governing Documents in accordance with the provisions of the Governing Documents
and the Act and Owners, Occupants, guests, and family members shall be jointly and
severally liable for any fines incurred for violations of the Governing Documents.

(f) Title to Common Areas. The Association may hold title to Common Areas
conveyed to it, and pay all real property taxes and assessments levied upon any portion
of the Common Areas, unless paid by the Owners, provided that the Association shall
have the right to contest or compromise any such taxes or assessments. Declarant shall
have all rights and voting authority to unilaterally approve the transfer of title to Common
Area on behalf of the Association during the Period of Declarant Control. After the Period
of Declarant Control, upon approval of sixty-seven percent (67%) or more of the total
voting interests, the Board shall have the authority to transfer title to Common Area real
property owned by the Association to governmental entities for public use, or to individual
third parties for private use.

(g) Employment of Agents, Advisers, and Contractors. The Association may
employ the services of any person or corporation as managers, hire employees to
manage, conduct, and perform the business, obligations, and duties of the Association,
employ professional counsel and obtain advice from such persons or firms or
corporations such as, but not limited to, community association managers, landscape
architects, accountants, recreational experts, architects, planners, lawyers, reserve study
specialists, or what is convenient for the management, maintenance, and operation of the
Project. The Board has no authority to enter into a management agreement or contract
inconsistent with the terms of the Governing Documents or that provides for a termination
fee or requirement for termination for cause.

(h) Litigation. The Board may instigate litigation to enforce the provisions of this
Declaration or any other common law or statutory right which the Association is granted
subject to the limitations set forth in Article XV.

(i) Bulk Service Agreements. The Association shall have the right to enter
agreements, as the Board deems appropriate, for the provision of cable, television,
internet, telephone, or other similar services for all of the Lots or groups of Lots. Such
services shall be assessed to the Owners pursuant to the provisions of this Declaration
and in any Assessment, may be broken out as a separate line item on invoices,
statements, or notices of Assessment.

(j) Loans. The Association shall have the authority to obtain loans for the efficient
operation of the Association and may use Common Area and other assets of the
Association as collateral for financing. A majority vote of the Board shall be required prior
to obtaining any loan.

(k) Joint Use/Cost Sharing/Easement Agreements. The Association shall have
the right to enter agreements and/or easements for the use, maintenance, repair, and
replacement of improvements or facilities which use may be shared with other
homeowners associations or other property owners, or which may be located on land
outside of the Project. The shared facilities and improvements appurtenant to the
agreements may be located within or outside the Project. Each Owner hereby consents
and agrees that the Association shall have the authority to record any Joint Use



Agreements it enters into against each Lot within the Project.

6.5. Liability. Board Members and officers of the Association shall not be liable to
the Association or to any Member thereof for any damage, loss, or prejudice suffered or
claimed on account of any action or failure to act in the performance of their duties, except for
intentional or willful misconduct. If a Board Member or any officer of the Association is made
a party to any proceeding because the individual is or was a Board Member or officer of the
Association, the Association shall defend, indemnify, and hold harmless such individual
against liability and expenses incurred to the maximum extent permitted by law, except where
the Board Member or officer is found by a court of law to have engaged in willful or intentional
misconduct in carrying out their duties.

6.6. Board of Directors. The governing body of the Association shall be the Board
of Directors. Except where a matter or vote is specifically reserved to the Owners, the Board
shall act in all instances on behalf of the Association. Board Members shall be elected
pursuant to the provisions set forth in the Bylaws. The Bylaws may set forth requirements for
serving on the Board.

Notwithstanding the foregoing, during the Period of Declarant Control, the Declarant shall
have the sole authority to act as the Board of Directors, or to appoint Board Members.
Declarant appointed Board Members shall not be bound by the qualification requirements in
the Bylaws.

6.7. Board Indemnification. Each past and present Board Member (including the
Declarant and its appointees) shall be entitled to defense and indemnification to the fullest
extent permitted by the Utah Revised Nonprofit Corporation Act. The right of any Person to
be indemnified shall be subject always to the right of the Association by the Board, in lieu of
such indemnity, to settle any claim, action, suit, or proceeding at the expense of the
Association by the payment of the amount of such settlement and the costs and expenses
incurred in connection therewith.

6.8. Records. Owners shall have the right to inspect Association Records within a
reasonable time following an Owner’s request. “Association Records” are limited to the
following documents and information: (a) Declaration, (b) Bylaws, (c) Articles of Incorporation,
(d) minutes of Owner meetings and Board meetings, (e) most recent approved budget, (f) a
record of all actions taken by Owners or the Board without a meeting, (g) a record of all
actions taken by a committee of the Board in place of the Board, (h) a record of all waivers of
notices for Owner meetings and Board meetings, (i) a list of all Owners in alphabetical order
showing their address and the number of votes each Owner is entitled, (j) all resolutions
adopted by the Board currently in effect, (k) all written communications to Owners generally
as Members for a period of three years, (l) a list of Board member names and addresses, (m)
a copy of the most recent annual report delivered to the State, (n) all annual financial
statements (balance sheet and profit and loss statement) of the Association for the past three
years, and (o) the most recent reserve analysis. Association Records shall specifically
exclude emails, texts, phone calls, writings, and personal communications between Board
Members or Owners. The Board shall have the power and discretion to determine what
documents or information are considered Association Records if there is a dispute over the
definitions or language provided in this Section. The Association shall have no duty to keep,



maintain, produce, or permit inspection of any documents, draft documents, electronic files,
or other information not explicitly identified in Utah Code §§ 57-8a-227(1)(a)(ii) and
16-6a-1601. The Board shall have the sole discretion to determine the format in which
documents and records are kept. The Association may redact any private, privileged, or
sensitive information from Association Records produced herein, in the Board’s discretion.
The Association may provide additional information or documents to Owners not identified as
Association Records herein, in the Board’s discretion. The Association may make Association
Records available via a website or internet link, and if so provided, then the Association shall
have met its record inspection obligations set forth in this Section or other applicable law for
all such documents posted thereon.

6.9. Registration with the State. In compliance with Utah Code § 57-8a-105, the
Association shall be registered with the Utah Department of Commerce and shall update its
registration to keep any required information current as required by law.

6.10. Registered Agent. The Registered Agent of the Association shall be as
provided in the entity filings with the Utah State Department of Commerce, Division of
Corporations and Commercial Code. The Board may change the Registered Agent without
Owner vote or approval.

6.11. Management. The Project may be managed by a professional manager,
selected by the Declarant, or upon the termination of the Period of Declarant Control, shall be
selected by the Board to assist in the management and operation of the Project. The Board
may delegate such of its powers and duties to the Manager as it deems appropriate;
reserving the right, however, to control and oversee the administration thereof. Any powers
and duties delegated to any Manager may be revoked by the Board at any time, with or
without cause. Following the Period of Declarant Control, the Board shall have the option to
either renew the contract with the Declarant selected Manager or hire a different Manager.

ARTICLE VII. MAINTENANCE
7.1. Association Maintenance. The Association shall maintain, repair, and replace

the Common Areas together with all improvements thereon and all easements appurtenant to
the Common Area including, but not limited to, common landscaped areas, storm water
facilities, clubhouse, pickleball courts, private utility lines owned or controlled by the
Association that serve more than one Residence, private roadways (if any), and personal
property owned by the Association. The Association shall have no responsibility to maintain
or repair the public streets within the Project or any utility lines controlled by a municipality or
utility service provider. The maintenance allocations provided in this Article shall clarify,
expand upon, and supersede any maintenance provisions contained in the Plat or other
Governing Documents. The Board, in its sole discretion, shall determine the maintenance
standard of the Common Areas. The Association shall have no obligation to perform any
maintenance and/or repair of any part of a Lot, Residence, or any other landscaping installed
by an Owner without the Association’s express agreement for such maintenance.

A maintenance allocation chart has been attached hereto as Exhibit C, which further defines
and clarifies Association and Owner maintenance, repair, and replacement responsibilities. If
there is a conflict between the maintenance allocations set forth in this Article and Exhibit C,



then the allocations set forth in Exhibit C shall control. The Board may adopt a resolution to
clarify or allocate maintenance responsibilities within the Project as the Board deems
necessary, which may alter or expand the allocations set forth in this Section.

7.2. Owner Maintenance – Detached Residences. The Owner of each Lot
containing a detached Residence shall have the obligation to provide interior and exterior
maintenance of their Lot, Residence, and Limited Common Areas including but not limited to
the maintenance, repair, and replacement of driveways, structural elements of the Residence,
exterior walls, foundations, roofs, gutters, down spouts, soffits, fascia, interior walls, windows,
doors, landscaping, and utility lines that service the Lot or Residence. Each Owner shall
paint, repair, and otherwise maintain the exterior of its Residence in compliance with
Association standards and shall maintain, repair, and replace all appurtenant mechanical
devices, including but not limited to, electrical, plumbing, and heating, ventilating and air
conditioning systems. Each Owner shall be responsible for performing all snow removal on
the sidewalks and driveways located on their Lot or Limited Common Area.
Owners shall be responsible to maintain, repair, and replace fences which mark the
boundaries of their Lots (if any). When such non-perimeter fences serve, benefit, or otherwise
mark a boundary of two or more Lots, the responsibility and cost to maintain, repair, and
replace the shared portion of such fences shall be borne pro rata by all Owners bounded
thereby.

7.5. Owner Maintenance Neglect. The Association shall have the power and
authority, without liability to any Owner for trespass, damage, or otherwise, to enter upon any
Lot for the purpose of maintaining and repairing such Lot or any improvement thereon; but
only if the Owner fails to maintain and repair such Lot, Residence, or improvement, or for the
purpose of removing any improvement constructed, reconstructed, refinished, altered or
maintained upon such Lot in violation of this Declaration or any Rules of the Association. The
Board shall have the sole authority and discretion to decide whether an Owner has failed to
meet its maintenance obligations. Except as necessary to prevent personal injury or property
damage in an emergency, the Association shall first provide reasonable notice and an
opportunity to cure before exercising the power granted herein. All costs incurred by the
Association in remedying Owner maintenance neglect shall be an Individual Assessment
against the Owner’s Lot.

The Association shall also have the power and authority from time to time in its own name, on
its own behalf, or in the name and behalf of any Owner or Owners who consent thereto, to
commence and maintain actions and suits to restrain and enjoin any breach or threatened
breach of this Declaration or any Rules promulgated by the Board, or to enforce by
mandatory injunction or otherwise all the provisions of this Declaration and such Rules.

7.6. Maintenance Caused by Owner Negligence. If the need for maintenance or
repair of Common Areas or Limited Common Areas is caused through the willful or negligent
acts of an Owner, an Occupant, or through the willful or negligent acts of the family, guests,
tenants, or invitees of an Owner, the Board may cause such repairs to be made by the
Association and the cost of such maintenance or repair work shall be added to and become
an Individual Assessment to which such Lot is subject.

7.7. Board Discretion to Determine Maintenance Responsibilities. In the event a



maintenance obligation is not outlined herein, or confusion arises as to a maintenance
obligation, the Board may, by resolution and in its sole discretion, determine whether the
Association or the Owners shall have the responsibility to fulfill the maintenance obligation.

7.8. Utilities. The charges for utilities that are metered separately to each Lot or
Residence shall be the responsibility of the respective Lot Owner. In the event water,
electrical, sewer, or other utilities are metered collectively for the Project, or metered
separately for Common Areas, then the Association shall be responsible for paying for such
utility costs as a Common Expense, or Benefitted Area Expense as applicable.

ARTICLE VIII. INSURANCE
NOTICE: The Association’s Insurance Policy does not cover the personal property or
personal liability of the Owners or their Occupants. Owners and Occupants (including
tenants or renters) are required to obtain adequate insurance to cover their personal
property and personal liability.

8.1. Insurance. The Board shall obtain insurance as required in this Declaration,
the Act, or other applicable laws. The Association may obtain insurance that provides more
or additional coverage than the insurance required in this Declaration. Different policies may
be obtained from different insurance carriers and standalone policies may be purchased
instead of, or in addition to, embedded, included coverage, or endorsements to other
policies. General insurance premiums shall be a Common Expense.

8.2. Property Insurance.

(a) The Association shall maintain a blanket policy of property insurance covering
the Project, including the Common Area and all buildings that include attached
Residences along with their fixtures and building services equipment as provided in the
Act. The Association may maintain broader coverage if afforded by the insurance
contract.

(i) The blanket policy shall exclude land and other items not normally and
reasonably covered by such policies. The blanket policy shall be an “all in” or “all
inclusive” insurance as those terms are used in the insurance industry and shall
include insurance for any fixture, improvement, or betterment installed in or to the
Residence or any Limited Common Areas or otherwise permanently part of or
affixed to Common Areas, Residences, or Limited Common Areas, including but not
limited to floor coverings, cabinets, light fixtures, electrical fixtures, heating and
plumbing fixtures, paint, wall coverings, windows.

(ii) At a minimum, the blanket policy shall afford protection against loss or damage
by: (1) fire, windstorm, hail, riot, aircraft, vehicles, vandalism, smoke, and theft; and
(2) all perils normally covered by “special form” property coverage.

(iii) The blanket policy shall be in an amount not less than one hundred percent
(100%) of current replacement cost of all property covered by such policy (including
the Residences) at the time the insurance is purchased and at each renewal date.
The actual replacement cost of the property shall be determined by using methods
generally accepted in the insurance industry.



(iv) The blanket policy shall include either of the following endorsements to assure
full insurable value replacement cost coverage: (1) a Guaranteed Replacement Cost
Endorsement under which the insurer agrees to replace the insurable property
regardless of the cost; and (2) a Replacement Cost Endorsement under which the
insurer agrees to pay up to one hundred percent (100%) of the Property’s insurable
replacement cost but not more. If the policy includes a coinsurance clause, it must
include an Agreed Amount Endorsement which must waive or eliminate the
requirement for coinsurance.

(v) Each property policy that the Association is required to maintain shall also
contain or provide for the following: (i) “Inflation Guard Endorsement,” if available, (ii)
“Building Ordinance or Law Endorsement,” (the endorsement must provide for
contingent liability from the operation of building laws, demolition costs, and
increased costs of reconstruction), and (iii) “Equipment Breakdown,” if the project
has central heating or cooling or other equipment or other applicable fixtures,
equipment, or installation, which shall provide that the insurer’s minimum liability per
accident at least equals the lesser of two million dollars ($2,000,000) or the
insurable value of the building containing the equipment.

(b) Owner Responsibility for Payment of Deductible. If a loss occurs that is
covered by a property insurance policy in the name of the Association and another
property insurance policy in the name of an Owner, then:

(i) The Association’s policy provides primary insurance coverage, and:
1) the Owner is responsible for the Association’s policy deductible; and
2) the Owner’s policy, if any, applies to that portion of the loss attributable

to the Association’s policy deductible.
(ii) An Owner that has suffered damage to any combination of a Residence or a

Limited Common Area appurtenant to a Residence (“Residence Damage”) as part of
a loss, resulting from a single event or occurrence, that is covered by the
Association’s property insurance policy (“a Covered Loss”) is responsible for an
amount calculated by applying the percentage of total damage resulting in a
Covered Loss that is attributable to Residence Damage (“Residence Damage
Percentage”) for that Residence to the amount of the deductible under the
Association’s property insurance policy; and

(iii) If an Owner does not pay the amount required under this Subsection within 30
days after substantial completion of the repairs to, as applicable, the Residence or
the Limited Common Area appurtenant to the Residence, the Association may levy
an assessment against the Owner for that amount.

(c) Claims Under the Deductible. If, in the exercise of its business judgment, the
Board determines that a claim is likely not to exceed the Association’s policy deductible:
(a) the Owner’s policy is considered the policy for primary coverage to the amount of the
Association’s policy deductible; (b) an Owner who does not have a policy to cover the
Association’s property insurance policy deductible is responsible for the loss to the
amount of the Association’s policy deductible; and (c) the Association need not tender the
claim to the Association’s insurer.



(d) Deductible Notice. The Association shall provide notice to each Owner of the
Owner’s obligation under Subsection (2) above for the Association’s policy deductible and
of any change in the amount of the deductible. If the Association fails to provide notice of
the initial deductible, it shall be responsible for the entire deductible in case of any loss. If
the Association fails to provide notice of any increase in the deductible, it shall be
responsible for paying any increased amount that would otherwise have been assessed
to the Owner. The failure to provide notice shall not invalidate or affect any other provision
in this Declaration.

(e) Owner Insurance Responsibility. The Association shall have no obligation to
obtain or maintain any insurance covering Owners’ personal and real property,
and each Owner shall be responsible for obtaining and maintaining such
personal and real property insurance.

8.3. Comprehensive General Liability (CGL) Insurance. The Association shall
obtain CGL insurance insuring the Association, the agents and employees of the Association,
and the Owners, against liability incident to the use, ownership or maintenance of the
Common Area or membership in the Association. The coverage limits under such policy shall
not be less than two million dollars ($2,000,000) covering all claims for death of or injury to
any one person or property damage in any single occurrence. Such insurance shall contain a
Severability of Interest Endorsement or equivalent coverage which should preclude the
insurer from denying the claim of an Owner because of the negligence acts of the Association
or another Owner.

8.4. Director’s and Officer’s Insurance. The Association shall obtain Directors’
and Officers’ liability insurance protecting the Declarant, the Board, the officers, and the
Association against claims of wrongful acts and mismanagement. To the extent reasonably
available, this policy shall include coverage for: (1) failure to maintain adequate reserves, (2)
failure to maintain books and records, (3) failure to enforce the Governing Documents, (4)
breach of contract, (5) volunteers and employees, (6) monetary and non-monetary claims, (7)
claims made under fair housing act or similar statutes or that are based on discrimination or
civil rights claims, and (8) defamation. In the discretion of the Board, the policy may also
include coverage for the Manager and its employees and may provide that such coverage is
secondary to any other policy that covers the Manager or its employees.

8.5. Theft and Embezzlement Insurance. The Association may obtain insurance
covering the theft or embezzlement of funds by Board Members, officers, employees,
Manager, and contractors of the Association in the discretion of the Board.

8.6. Workers’ Compensation Insurance. The Association shall purchase and
maintain in effect workers’ compensation insurance for all employees of the Association to
the extent that such insurance is required by law and as the Board deems appropriate.

8.7. Other Insurance. The Association may purchase earthquake, flood, or other
types of insurance that may benefit the Project, as the Board deems appropriate.

8.8. Certificates. Any insurer that has issued an insurance policy to the Association
shall issue a certificate of insurance to the Association, and upon written request, to any
Owner or Mortgagee.

8.9. Named Insured. The named insured under any policy of insurance shall be the



Association. Each Owner shall also be a named insured under the Association’s insurance
policies as required by law. The Declarant shall be listed by name as an additional insured
under any and all policies of insurance during the Period of Declarant Control.

8.10. Owner Insurance. Each Owner shall be responsible to purchase and maintain
in force appropriate hazard, content, property, and liability insurance as such Owner shall
determine to be appropriate to the Owner’s needs, Residence, personal property, and
circumstances. The Association is not required to file claims on any of its policies for any
damage or liability claim that either should or would have been covered under any Owner’s
policy.

8.11. Right to Negotiate Claims & Receive Proceeds. Insurance proceeds for a
loss under the Association’s property insurance policy are payable to the Association, and
shall not be payable to a holder of a security interest. The Association shall hold any
insurance proceeds in trust for the Association, Owners, and lien holders. Insurance proceeds
shall be disbursed first for the repair or restoration of the damaged property. After repair or
restoration is complete, any remaining proceeds shall be paid to the Association. If the
property is not to be repaired or restored, or if there are remaining proceeds after repairs
have been paid for, the remaining proceeds may be distributed to the Owners or may be held
as credits in accordance with each Owner’s interest in the Association. Each Owner hereby
appoints the Association as attorney-in-fact for negotiating all losses related thereto, including
the collection, receipt of, and appropriate disposition of all insurance proceeds; the execution
of releases of liability; and the execution of all documents and the performance of all other
acts necessary to administer such insurance and any claim. This power-of-attorney is coupled
with an interest, shall be irrevocable, and shall be binding on any heirs, personal
representatives, successors, or assigns of the Owner.

8.12. Owner Act Cannot Void Coverage Under Any Policy. Unless an Owner is
acting within the scope of the Owner’s authority on behalf of the Association and under direct
authorization of the Association, an Owner’s act or omission may not void an insurance policy
or be a condition to recovery under a policy.

8.13. Waiver of Subrogation Against Owners & Association. All property and
CGL policies must contain a waiver of subrogation by the insurer as to any claims against the
Association, Declarant, and the Owners and their respective affiliates, agents, and
employees.

8.14. Applicable Law. This Declaration is specifically subjecting the Association to
the insurance requirements and provisions in Part 4 of the Act, and any amendments thereto
and thereafter enacted by law. It is the intent of this provision that any future changes to the
insurance law applicable to community associations shall apply to this Association.

ARTICLE IX. USE RESTRICTIONS
9.1. Use of Lots and Residences. Each Lot and Residence shall be used only as

a single-family dwelling. Businesses, trades, or other nonresidential use may only be
conducted on a Lot or Residence as allowed by City zoning and ordinances.

9.2. Use of Common Areas. The Common Areas shall be used only in a manner
consistent with their community nature and with the use restrictions applicable to Lots and



Residences. Owners are not permitted to place anything in the Common Area without the
consent of the Board.

9.3. Offensive or Unlawful Activities. No noxious or offensive activities shall be
carried on upon any Lot, Residence, or Common Area, nor shall anything be done or placed
on any Lot or Common Area which interferes with or jeopardizes the quiet enjoyment of other
Lots, Residences, or the Common Areas, or which is a source of annoyance to residents. No
unlawful use shall be made of a Lot or any part thereof, and all valid laws, zoning ordinances
and regulations of all governmental bodies having jurisdiction thereof shall be observed. No
use shall be made of any Lot which would result in an increase in the cost of the
Association’s insurance or which would cause the improvements within the Project or any
part thereof to be uninsurable against loss by fire or other perils included in insurance
contracts, or cause such insurance to be canceled or suspected, or cause any company
issuing such insurance to refuse renewal thereof.

9.4. Parking, RVs, & Equipment. Parking of vehicles, recreational vehicles,
machinery, and equipment shall be conducted on Owner’s Lots in conformance with local
zoning and ordinances. The Association reserves the right to adopt additional Rules
governing the parking of vehicles and equipment if determined necessary for the proper
operation of the Project. The Association may adopt different parking Rules for Townhome
Lots and detached home Lots.

9.5. Pets. Domestic pets may be kept in Residences in conformance with local
government requirements. The Association reserves the right to adopt Rules expanding pet
restrictions if determined necessary for the proper operation of the Project.

9.6. Nuisances. No resident shall create, maintain or permit a nuisance in, on or
about the Project. For purposes of this Section a “nuisance” includes any behavior which
annoys, disturbs or interferes with other residents and interferes with their right to the quiet
and peaceful enjoyment of their property. The Board shall have the sole and absolute
discretion and authority to determine if an activity or condition constitutes a nuisance.

9.7. Signs. Owners may erect signs and flags in the project in accordance with City
ordinances, or other applicable governmental entity with jurisdiction. The Association
reserves the right to adopt Rules expanding sign restrictions if determined necessary for the
proper operation of the Project

9.8. Leases. The leasing of Residences is permitted if conducted in compliance
with City zoning and ordinances. The Board may adopt Rules to regulate the leasing of
Residences. All costs incurred by the Association to enforce the terms of the Governing
Documents against a tenant shall be assessed to the Owner as an Individual Assessment.

9.9. Variances. The Board may, at its option and in extenuating circumstances,
grant variances from the restrictions set forth in this Declaration if the Board determines in its
discretion: (i) that the restriction would create an unreasonable hardship or burden on an
Owner or Occupant, (ii) that a change of circumstances since the recordation of this
Declaration has rendered such restriction obsolete and unreasonable to enforce, or (iii) that
the activity permitted under the variance will not have any adverse financial effect or any
other substantial adverse effect on the Association or other Owners and Occupants of the
Project and is consistent with the high quality of life intended for residents of the Project. Any



such variance shall be unenforceable and without any effect whatsoever unless reduced to
writing and signed by every member of the then-existing Board. No variance may be granted
that is inconsistent with the Act.

9.16. Declarant Exception. So long as the Declarant owns a Lot in the Project, the
Declarant shall be exempt from the restrictions contained in this Article.

ARTICLE X. ARCHITECTURAL CONTROLS
10.1. Architectural Controls. The designs of all structures and Residences in the

Project shall be limited to those approved by the Declarant during the Period of Declarant
Control, and afterwards by the Board. The Board shall act to insure that all improvements and
landscaping within the Project harmonize with the Design Guidelines and existing
surroundings and structures. In the event of any reconstruction of an improvement or
Residence due to a casualty, the design, quality, and appearance of the reconstructed
improvement shall be substantially the same as the structure initially built, unless otherwise
approved by the Board. No landscaping, grading, excavation, building, fence, wall, residence,
or other structure, or alteration of any kind, shall be commenced, erected, maintained,
improved, altered, or made until the construction plans and specifications, have been
approved in writing by the Declarant or the Board, as applicable.

10.2. Design Guidelines. The Board may adopt Design Guidelines governing the
permitted improvements within the Project. The Design Guidelines may designate the design,
style, model, and manufacturer of any materials to be used for an exterior improvement or
alteration that is acceptable to the Board. The Design Guidelines may also designate
landscaping requirements. Such designations shall be for the purpose of achieving uniformity
and ensuring a quality appearance and preservation of property values. Amendments to the
Design Guidelines shall apply prospectively only. They shall not require modifications to or
removal of any structures previously approved once the approved construction or
modification has begun. However, any new work on such structures must comply with the
Design Guidelines as amended.

10.3. Declarant’s Exemption. Nothing contained in this Declaration shall be
construed to prevent the erection or maintenance by Declarant, or its duly authorized agents,
of temporary structures, trailers, improvements or signs necessary or convenient to the
development, marketing, or sale of property within the Project. Furthermore, the provisions of
this Declaration which prohibit or restrict non residential use of Residences, regulate parking
of vehicles, and restrict signage, banners, and the like, shall not prohibit the construction and
maintenance of model homes by Declarant and/or other Persons engaged in the construction
of residences within the Project. The Declarant may use Lots and other areas for parking in
connection with the showing of model homes or for vehicles necessary for development and
construction activities.

10.4. Variances. The Board may authorize variances from compliance with any of
the architectural provisions of this Declaration or Design Guidelines. Such variances must be
in writing and must be signed by all Board Members. If a variance is granted, no violation of
the Governing Documents shall be deemed to have occurred with respect to the matter for
which the variance was granted. The granting of a variance shall not operate to waive any



Restrictions of the Governing Documents, other than those specifically identified in the
variance, nor shall it affect an Owner’s obligation to comply with all governmental laws and
regulations.

10.5. Liability for Damages. The Board and/or the Declarant shall not be held liable
for damages by reason of any action, inaction, approval, or disapproval by it made pursuant
to this Article.

ARTICLE XI. ENFORCEMENT
11.1. Compliance with Restrictions and Rules. Each Owner and Occupant shall

comply with the Restrictions imposed by this Declaration. Further, each Owner, Occupant and
guest shall fully and faithfully comply with the Association’s Rules and Restrictions and shall
be personally jointly and severally liable for any fines for violations thereof.

11.2. Enforcement of Governing Documents. The Association, Declarant, or any
Owner shall have the right to enforce, by proceedings at law or in equity, each provision of
this Declaration and other Governing Documents, including the right to prevent any violation
of such, and the right to recover damages and other sums for such violation(s). The
prevailing party in any action for the enforcement of any provisions of the Governing
Documents (including but not limited to litigation and the appeal thereof) shall be entitled to
collect court costs and reasonable attorney fees. Failure to enforce any covenant or
restriction within the Governing Documents shall in no event be deemed a waiver of the right
to do so thereafter.

ARTICLE XII. SPECIAL DECLARANT RIGHTS
12.1. Improvements. Declarant hereby reserves the right, without obligation, to

construct:
(a) Any improvement shown on the Plat or included in the Project;
(b) Any Lots and corresponding Residences upon all or any portion of Additional

Land the Declarant elects to annex; and
(c) Any other buildings, structures, or improvements that Declarant desires to

construct in the Project, or any other real estate owned by Declarant, regardless of
whether the same ever become part of the Project.

12.2. Expandable Project. The Declarant herewith expressly reserves the right and
option to expand the Project by the addition of Additional Land, or portions thereof, and Lots
and Residences to be constructed thereon, in accordance with the provision of this Section.

(a) The Project may be expanded by the addition of any real property designated
by Declarant.

(b) Expansion or contraction of the Project by the Declarant is without limitation
and shall be effective without prior approval of the Association or any Owner.

(c) Declarant’s right to expand or contract the Project shall not expire until the
Declarant elects in writing to not add land to the Project or the Period of Declarant Control
expires.



(d) Additional Land may be added or withdrawn in total or in part, in any order, by
using any procedure or manner as Declarant may determine.

(e) To submit or withdraw land to or from the Project, the Declarant shall record a
Supplemental Declaration in the office of the County Recorder setting forth that an
expansion or contraction of the Project has occurred. Such Supplemental Declaration
shall include: (i) a description of the land added or withdrawn; and (ii) shall reference this
Declaration and state that the provisions of this Declaration apply to the added land, or
that the withdrawn land is no longer subject to the provisions of this Declaration.

12.3. Special Declarant Rights. Special Declarant Rights are those rights reserved
for the benefit of the Declarant in this Declaration and the Governing Documents and shall
include, among others, and regardless of anything in the Declaration to the contrary, the
following rights, which shall remain in effect for the maximum period allowed by law, which
may exceed the Period of Declarant Control:

(a) the right to maintain sales offices, model Residences, and signs advertising
the Project or any Residence at any location in the Project;

(b) the right to use easements through the Common Areas as set forth in this
Declaration;

(c) the right to dedicate the roads and streets within the Project for and to public
use, to grant road easements with respect thereto, and to allow such street or road to be
used by owners of adjacent land;

(d) the right to convert any part of the Project to a different regime of residential
ownership;

(e) the right to create or designate additional Common Area or Limited Common
Area within the Project;

(f) the exclusive right to act as the Board of Directors, or appoint or remove Board
Members in Declarant’s sole discretion, during the Period of Declarant Control;

(g) unless expressly and specifically bound by a provision of the Governing
Documents, Declarant shall be exempt from the provisions of the Governing Documents;

(h) the right to withdraw land from the Project for up to fifteen (15) years from the
date this Declaration is recorded in the office of the Weber County Recorder;

(i) the right to set all assessments for the Association including regular, special,
benefitted area, and individual assessments;

(j) the right to set all fines and fees for the Association including but not limited to
collection fees, reinvestment fees, architectural review fees, and fines for violations of
Association Rules;

(k) the exclusive right to amend the Articles, Declaration, Bylaws, Plat, and Rules
of the Association without approval from any Members;

(l) the right to cast all votes on behalf of all Owners for the conveyance or
modification of Common Area as may be required by Utah law;

(m) the right to create Benefitted Areas and assign Lots thereto;
(n) the right to exert any right allowed to the Board or the Association pursuant to



the Act and this Declaration;
(o) the right to make and adopt Association Rules without being subject to the

requirements of Utah Code § 57-8a-217; and
(p) pursuant to Utah Code § 57-8a-211(10), Utah Code § 57-8a-211(2) through

(9), shall not apply or have any effect during the Period of Declarant Control, and the
Declarant shall have no duty whatsoever to obtain a Reserve Analysis, or to fund any
Reserve Fund during the Period of Declarant Control.

12.4. Exercising Special Declarant Rights. Declarant may exercise the Special
Declarant Rights at any time prior to the later to occur of the date on which the Period of
Declarant Control expires or the date when the Declarant relinquishes such rights in writing.
Declarant may exercise its Special Declarant Rights in any order, and no assurance is given
as to the order in which Declarant will exercise them. If Declarant exercises any Special
Declarant Right with respect to any portion of the Project, Declarant may, but is not obligated
to, exercise that Special Declarant Right with respect to any other portion of the Project.
Notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained in this Declaration, Declarant may
exercise any Special Declarant Right described in this Article and any other right reserved to
the Declarant in this Declaration, without the consent of the Association or any Owners.

12.5. Interference with Special Declarant Rights. Neither the Association nor any
Owner may take any action or adopt any Rules that interferes with or diminishes any Special
Declarant right contained in this Declaration without Declarant’s prior written consent. Any
action taken in violation of this Section shall be null and void and have no force or effect.

12.6. Transfer of Special Declarant Rights. The Declarant may transfer, convey, or
assign its rights created or reserved under this Declaration to any Person in whole or in part
through a written agreement. The Declarant’s successor shall enjoy any and all Declarant
rights set forth in the Declaration regardless of whether such rights are stated to be
transferable. All references in the Governing Documents to Declarant shall equally apply to
its successor or designated assignee. A contract transferring the Declarant’s rights may, but
shall not be required to, be recorded in the office of the County Recorder.

12.7. Limitation on Improvements by Association. Until such time as the earlier of
the following events occur: (a) termination of the Period of Declarant Control, or (b) such time
as Declarant chooses, neither the Association nor the Board shall, without the written consent
of Declarant, make any improvement to or alteration in any of the Common Areas created or
constructed by Declarant, other than such repairs, replacements, or similar matters as may
be necessary to properly maintain the Common Areas as originally constructed or created by
Declarant

12.8. Changes by Declarant. Nothing contained in this Declaration shall be deemed
to affect or limit in any way whatsoever the right of the Declarant, its successors or assigns,
to sell or to change the location, design, method of construction, grade, elevation, or any
other part or feature of a Lot and Residence prior to the contracting for the conveyance of the
Lot to a purchaser.

12.9. Voting. During the Period of Declarant Control, any matter voted upon by the
Owners shall not become effective unless the matter is approved in writing by the Declarant.



12.10. Easements Reserved to Declarant.
(a) The reservation to Declarant, its successors and assigns, of non-exclusive

easements and rights of way over those strips or parcels of land designated or to be
designated on the Plat as “Public Utility Easement,” or otherwise designated as an
easement area over any road or Common Area on the Project, and over those strips of
land running along the front, rear, side and other Lot lines of each Lot shown on the Plat.

(b) The reservation to the Declarant of an easement for the installation,
construction, maintenance, reconstruction and repair of public and private utilities to serve
the Project and the Lots therein, including but not limited to the mains, conduits, lines,
meters and other facilities for water, storm sewer, sanitary sewer, gas, electric, telephone,
cable television, and other public or private services or utilities deemed by Declarant
necessary or advisable to provide service to any Lot, or in the area or on the area in
which the same is located.

(c) The reservation to Declarant of an easement granting the privilege of entering
upon the Common Areas for such purposes and making openings and excavations
thereon, which openings and excavations shall be restored in a reasonable period of time,
and for such alterations of the contour of the land as may be necessary or desirable to
affect such purposes.

(d) The reservation to the Declarant and its successors and assigns, of a non-
exclusive easement and right-of-way in, through, over and across the Common Area for
the storage of building supplies and materials, parking of construction vehicles, erection
of temporary structures, trailers, improvements or signs necessary or convenient to the
development of the Project, and for all other purposes reasonably related to the
completion of construction and development of the Project and the provision of utility
services, and related services and facilities.

(e) The Declarant reserves unto itself and its successors and assigns, the right to
dedicate all of said roads, streets, alleys, rights of way, or easements, including
easements in the areas designated as “open space” and storm water
management reservation, to public use all as shown on the Plat. No road,
street, avenue, alley, right of way or easement shall be laid out or constructed
through or across any Lot or Lots in the Project except as set forth in this
Declaration, or as laid down and shown on the Plat, without the prior written
approval of the Declarant.

(f) Declarant further reserves unto itself and its successors and assigns, the right
at or after the time of grading of any street or any part thereof for any purpose, to enter
upon any abutting Lot and grade a portion of such Lot adjacent to such street, provided
such grading does not materially interfere with the use or occupancy of any structure built
on such Lot, but Declarant shall not be under any obligation or duty to do such grading or
to maintain any slope.

12.11. No Modification of Declarant Rights. The Special Declarant Rights in this
Declaration or other Governing Documents, and specifically in this Article, shall not be
substantively or procedurally altered, amended, or removed without the written consent of the
Declarant until at least six (6) years have passed after the Period of Declarant Control has
ended, at which time the Declarant’s approval shall no longer be required. Any document or



amendment attempted without obtaining proper consent shall be void ab initio to the extent it
attempts to alter the rights of the Declarant or any provision of this Article without the consent
of the Declarant.

ARTICLE XIII. RIGHTS OF FIRST MORTGAGEE
13.1. Title in Mortgagee. Any first Mortgagee who obtains title to a Lot pursuant to

the remedies provided in the Mortgage or foreclosure of the Mortgage will not be liable for
such Lot’s Assessments or charges which accrue prior to the acquisition of title of such Lot
by the Mortgagee. However, such first Mortgagee shall be responsible for all Assessments
levied while it holds title to the Lot.

13.2. Notice of Default by Owner. If an Owner neglects, for a period of sixty (60)
days or more, to cure any failure on their part to perform their obligations under this
Declaration or other Governing Documents, the Association, upon written request from the
Mortgagee, shall give written notice of such fact to the Mortgagee of such Owner's Lot.

13.3. Priority. No provision herein is intended, nor shall it be construed, to give any
Lot Owner, or any other party, priority over any rights of the first Mortgagee of a Lot pursuant
to its Mortgage in the case of a distribution to such Lot Owner of insurance proceeds or
condemnation awards for losses to or a taking of Common Areas.

ARTICLE XIV. AMENDMENTS
14.1. Amendments by Declarant. During the Period of Declarant Control, or so long

as the Declarant owns one or more Lots in the Project or any part of the Additional Land, the
Declaration and the Plat may be amended or supplemented solely by the Declarant without
any additional Owner approval required. In addition, no other amendment shall be valid or
enforceable without the Declarant’s prior written consent during the Period of Declarant
Control or so long as Declarant owns one or more Lots in the Project or any part of the
Additional Land. Amendments shall become effective upon recordation in the office of the
County Recorder. Declarant's right to amend shall be construed liberally and shall include,
without limitation, the right to amend and/or restate this Declaration in part or in its entirety.

14.2. Amendments by Association. After all of Declarant’s Lots have been sold to
third parties, all Additional Land has been annexed into the Project, and the Period of
Declarant Control has expired, this Declaration and the Plat may be amended upon the
affirmative vote of at least sixty-seven percent (67%) of the voting interests of the
Association. No meeting shall be required for an amendment if the required vote for approval
is obtained by written consent or ballot. Any amendment(s) shall be effective upon
recordation in the office of the County Recorder. In such instrument, the Board shall certify
that the vote required by this Section for amendment has occurred. If a Lot is owned by more
than one Owner, the vote of any one Owner shall be sufficient to constitute approval for that
Lot under this Section. If a Lot is owned by an entity or trust, the vote of any one officer,
trustee, or agent of the entity shall be sufficient to constitute approval for that Lot under this
Section. No acknowledgment of any signature used for voting shall be required.
Notwithstanding, the foregoing, the Members’ authority to amend Articles XII and XVI of this
Declaration is subject to the amendment restrictions set forth therein, and any amendment



purporting to modify the provisions of Articles XII and XVI shall be null and void unless such
amendment is in compliance with the amendment provisions and restrictions therein.

14.3. Necessary Amendments. Declarant or the Association may unilaterally
amend this Declaration without Owner vote if such amendment is necessary: (a) to bring any
provision into compliance with any applicable governmental statute, rule, regulation, or
judicial determination; (b) to satisfy the requirements of any local, State, or Federal
governmental agency; or (c) to correct any scrivener's error. However, any such amendment
occurring after the Period of Declarant Control shall not adversely affect the title to any Lot
unless the Owner shall consent in writing.

14.4. Validity of Amendments. This Declaration and any amendment thereof shall
be presumed to have been validly voted upon and adopted upon recordation in the office of
the Utah County Recorder. Any challenge to this Declaration or an amendment must be
made within six (6) months of its recordation, after which any claim or defense based upon
the alleged invalidity, or procedural irregularity regarding the adoption of the Declaration or an
amendment shall be deemed waived. An Owner that takes title to a Lot subsequent to the
recording of this Declaration or any amendment shall take title subject to all recorded
documents and shall not have standing to challenge the validity or adoption of any prior
recorded documents by way of affirmative claim or defense. In no event shall a change of
conditions or circumstances operate to amend any provisions of this Declaration. Owners are
on notice that each and every section of this Declaration may be amended, and amendments
may include topics or restrictions not contemplated in prior versions of the Declaration.

ARTICLE XV. DISPUTE RESOLUTION
15.1. Alternative Dispute Resolution Without Litigation.

(a) Bound Parties. The Declarant; the Association; the Owners; the officers,
directors, managers, members, employees, representatives, agents, successors and
assigns of any of the foregoing; any other person subject to this Declaration; and any
other person not otherwise subject to this Declaration who agrees to submit to this Article
(collectively, “Bound Parties”), agree that it is in the best interest of all Bound Parties to
encourage the amicable resolution of Claims without the emotional and financial costs of
litigation or the toll or market taint such litigation can have on the value of the Project
and/or the Lots that may be involved or impacted. Accordingly, each Bound Party agrees
not to file suit in any court with respect to a Claim defined in subsections (b) and (c),
unless and until it has first submitted such Claim to the alternative dispute resolution
procedures set forth in Section 15.2 in a good faith effort to resolve such Claim.

(b) Claims. As used in this Article, the term “Claim” means any claim, grievance,
or dispute arising out of or relating to:

(i) the interpretation, application, or enforcement of the Governing
Documents;

(ii) the rights, obligations, and duties of any Bound Party under the
Governing Documents; or

(iii) the design or construction of improvements on the Project, other than



matters of aesthetic judgment to be determined by the Association or Board under
the Design Guidelines and other provisions hereof, which shall not be subject to
review and shall not be subject to this Article.

(c) Exclusion from Definition of Claims. The following shall not be considered
“Claims” unless all Parties to the matter otherwise agree to submit the matter to the
procedures set forth in Section 15.2:

(i) any suit by the Association to collect assessments or other amounts
due from any Owner;

(ii) any suit by the Association to obtain a temporary restraining order (or
emergency equitable relief) and such ancillary relief as the court may deem
necessary in order to maintain the status quo and preserve the Association’s ability
to enforce the provisions of Article X of this Declaration (relating to the Design
Guidelines);

(iii) any suit that does not include the Declarant, any affiliate of the
Declarant, or the Association as a party, if such suit asserts a Claim that would
constitute a cause of action independent of the Governing Documents;

(iv) any dispute that affects the material rights or obligations of a party who
is not a Bound Party and has not agreed to submit to the procedures set forth in
Section 15.2;

(v) any suit as to which any applicable statute of limitations would expire
within 180 days of giving the Notice required by Section 15.2(a), unless the party or
parties against whom the Claim is made agree to toll, or extend, the Claim’s statute
of limitations to comply with this Article;

(vi) any suit or dispute between the Declarant or an affiliate of Declarant
and a builder, developer, contractor(s), subcontractor(s), or any other party
contracted by the Declarant or an affiliate of the Declarant in connection with the
development of the Project; and

(vii) any suit or dispute involving a governmental entity as a party.

15.2. Dispute Resolution Procedures.

(a) Notice. The Bound Party asserting a Claim (“Claimant”) against another Bound
Party (“Respondent”) shall give written notice (“Notice”) by mail or personal delivery to
each Respondent and to the Board, stating plainly and concisely:

(i)

(b) Right to Cure. For any Claim arising from a dispute over the construction of
improvements within the Project, the Claimant shall provide Respondent six (6) months to
rectify alter, or fix the claimed defect(s) in the improvements. The expiration of this six-
month cure period shall be a prerequisite to Claimant’s ability to initiate litigation as
permitted under Section 15.3 below. For all Claims involving alleged defects in
construction, the negotiation, mediation, and settlement requirements shall remain in
effect during the cure period, however, the mediation deadline set forth in subsection (d)
below shall be extended to expire on the same date the cure period expires.



(c) Negotiation. The Claimant and Respondent shall make every reasonable effort
to meet in person and confer for the purpose of resolving the Claim by good faith
negotiation. If requested in writing, accompanied by a copy of the Notice, the Board may
appoint a representative to assist the parties in negotiating a resolution of the Claim.

(d) Mediation. If the parties have not resolved the Claim through negotiation within
30 days of the date of the Notice (or within such other agreed upon period), the Claimant
shall have 30 additional days to submit the Claim to mediation with an individual or entity
designated by the Association (if the Association is not a party to the Claim) or to an
independent mediator providing dispute resolution services predominately in Utah. Each
Bound Party shall present the mediator with a written summary of the Claim or will
otherwise comply with the mediator’s proscribed procedures and requirements for
mediating claims.

(i) Waiver of Claim for Failure to Appear or Participate. If the Claimant
does not submit the Claim to mediation within such time, or does not appear for and
participate in good faith in the mediation when scheduled, the Claimant shall be
deemed to have waived the Claim, and the Respondent shall be relieved of any
and all liability to the Claimant (but not third parties) on account of such Claim.

(ii) Termination of Mediation Proceedings. If the parties do not settle the
Claim within 30 days after submission of the matter to mediation, or within such
time as determined reasonable by the mediator, the mediator shall issue a notice of
termination of the mediation proceedings indicating that the parties are at an
impasse and the date that mediation was terminated. The Claimant shall thereafter
be entitled to file suit or to initiate administrative proceedings on the Claim, as
appropriate.

(iii) Costs of Mediation. Each Bound Party shall bear its own costs of the
mediation, including attorney fees, and each Party shall pay an equal share of the
mediator’s fees.
(e) Settlement. Any Claim settlement through negotiation or mediation shall be

documented in writing and signed by the Parties. If any Party thereafter fails to
abide by the terms of such agreement, then any other party may file suit or
initiate such proceedings as are necessary to enforce such agreement without
the need to comply again with the procedures set forth in this Article. In such
event, the party taking action to enforce the agreement or award shall, upon
prevailing, be entitled to recover from the non-complying party (or if more than
one non-complying party, from all such parties in equal proportions) all costs
incurred in enforcing such agreement or award, including, without limitation,
attorney fees and court costs.

15.3. Initiation of Litigation by Association. The requirements of this Section are
intended to be in addition to those requirements set forth in § 57-8a-229 of the Act. After
expiration of the Period of Declarant Control the Association may not bring a legal action
against a Declarant, a Board of Directors, an employee, an independent contractor, an agent
of the Declarant, or the previous Board of Directors related to the Period of Declarant Control
unless:

(a) The Right to Cure period set forth in Section 15.2(b) above has expired;



(b) the legal action is approved in advance at a meeting by Owners holding at least
51% of the total allocated voting interests of the Owners in the Association:

(i) Owners may be represented by a proxy specifically assigned for the
purpose of voting to approve or deny the proposed legal action at the meeting. Any
such proxy shall not be valid unless the proxy is notarized with each Owner
certifying that they have received and reviewed the information required by Section
15.4(a) and (b) below.
(c) the Association provides each Owner with the items described in Section

15.4(a) and (b), below;

(d) the Association establishes a trust account, described in Section 15.4(c) below;
and

(e) the Association first goes through the procedures described in Section 15.2
above, giving notice and an opportunity to resolve the dispute that is the basis of the
Claim and proposed legal action.

(f) The procedures and approval required in the preceding subsections (a) through
(e) shall not be required for actions or proceedings:

(i) initiated by Declarant during the Period of Declarant Control on behalf of
the Association;

(ii) initiated to enforce the provisions of this Declaration, including collection
of assessments and foreclosure of liens;

(iii) initiated to challenge ad valorem taxation or condemnation proceedings
(including bringing an action for inverse condemnation);

(iv) initiated against any contractor, vendor, or supplier of goods or services
arising out of a contract for services or supplies; or

(v) to defend claims filed against the Association or to assert counterclaims
in proceedings instituted against it.

This Section shall not be amended without the written consent of the Declarant for a period of
10 years following the expiration of the Period of Declarant Control. Any such amendment
shall also be approved by a vote of 67% of the total votes of the Association.

15.4. Informed Vote. Before the Owners, as Members of the Association may vote
to approve the filing of a legal action for a Claim, the Association shall first provide each
Owner with:

(a) A written notice stating:
(i) that the Association is contemplating legal action;
(ii) the percentage vote required for approval of the litigation;
(iii) the date, time, and location of any Member meeting that has been

scheduled to discuss the litigation or to vote on the approval of the litigation;
(iv) a description of the claims that the Association desires to pursue in

sufficient detail to permit each Member to reach an informed decision on the
litigation matter; and



(b) A written report from an attorney licensed to practice in Utah, which provides
an assessment of:

(i) The likelihood that the legal action will succeed;
(ii) The likely amount in controversy in the legal action;
(iii) The likely cost of resolving the legal action to the Association’s

satisfaction; and
(iv) The likely effect the stigma of a legal action will have on value or on an

Owner’s ability to market for sale, or a prospective Lot buyer’s ability to obtain
financing for a Lot due to a pending legal action.

(v) In providing this report, the attorney shall obtain and rely on reports and
assessments from experts in their field such as construction, real property, sales, or
any other relevant factor in the contemplated litigation.
(c) Before the Association commences any legal action as authorized above, the

Association shall:
(i) allocate an amount equal to 25% of the cost estimated to resolve the

Claim not including attorney fees; and
(ii) place the 25% allocated funds in a trust account that the Association

may only use to pay the costs to resolve the Claim.

Sections 15.3 and 15.4 do not apply if the Association brings a legal action that has an
amount in controversy of less than $25,000.00.

15.5. Strict Compliance Required. Any post-turnover litigation involving the Bound
Parties shall strictly comply with each of the provisions in this Article. The Bound Parties
hereby covenant, stipulate, and agree that in the event the Bound Parties fail to satisfy the
prerequisites set forth herein, the non-compliant Party will indemnify, defend, hold harmless,
and exculpate the other Bound Party to the fullest extent permissible by law, and the non-
breaching Bound Party shall be entitled to recover any and all attorney fees and costs
expended as a result of enforcing this Article, which fees and costs may include, without
limitation, pre-litigation attorney fees, costs incurred in connection with investigation of
potential claims, including expert and consultant fees, testing fees, contractor fees, and
insurance deductibles. If any claims or actions falling within the scope of this Article are filed
without satisfying all of the requirements set forth above, such claims or actions shall be
dismissed without prejudice and shall not be re-filed unless and until all such requirements
have been satisfied.

15.6. Owner Warranties. The Declarant may provide certain warranties to the
Owners related to a Lot purchased. The first Owner of a Lot to whom any warranty is issued,
or with whom a legal warranty arises, and only that Owner, shall have the right to directly
enforce and seek performance from the Declarant of any terms of the warranty, and only
consistent with the warranty itself. The Association shall have no right to seek the
performance of or take assignment of any rights in any warranties against the Declarant, and
the Owner shall have no right to assign any rights of any kind to the Association related to
pursuing litigation against the Declarant.

15.7. Unless specifically set forth in this Declaration, no action may be brought by



the Association, its Board, or its officers on behalf of an Owner, as its respective interest may
appear, with respect to any cause of action against the Declarant relating to the Common
Areas and facilities.

15.8. ALL PARTIES HEREBY AGREE TO RESOLVE ANY CLAIM ACCORDING TO
THE PROVISIONS OF THIS ARTICLE AND SUCH PARTIES WAIVE THEIR RESPECTIVE
RIGHTS TO PURSUE THE CLAIM IN ANY MANNER OTHER THAN AS PROVIDED IN
THIS ARTICLE.

15.9. The dispute resolution restrictions contained in this Article shall not be
amended, altered, or eliminated from the Declaration without the written consent of the
Declarant for a period of 10 years after the expiration of the Period of Declarant Control.

ARTICLE XVI. MISCELLANEOUS
16.1. Notices. Any notice required or permitted to be given to any Owner according

to the provisions of this Declaration shall be deemed to have been properly furnished if
personally delivered, emailed, texted, or if mailed, postage prepaid, to the Person who
appears as an Owner, at the latest email or mailing address for such Person appearing in the
records of the Association at the time notice is sent. If no email, phone number, or mailing
address has been provided, the physical address of the Lot owned by said Owner shall be
used for notice purposes. The use of the term “notice” or “written notice” in this Declaration or
other Governing Document shall include notices sent via email, text, facsimile, or other
electronic communication; or notices printed on paper and sent by hand-delivery, regular
mail, or any notice otherwise physically received by an Owner.
Unless an Owner notifies the Association in writing that they desire to receive notices via
USPS mail, each Owner shall provide to the Board, or the Association’s Manager, an email
address that the Association may use to effect notice as described herein, along with a
telephone number that can receive texts. Any notice sent via email or text shall be deemed to
be delivered once the notice has been sent to the email address or phone number on file with
the Association. Any notice sent by mail shall be deemed delivered when deposited in the
United States mail. In the case of co-Owners, any such notice may be delivered or sent to
any one of the co-Owners on behalf of all co-Owners and shall be deemed delivered to all
such co- Owners. The declaration of an officer or authorized agent of the Association
declaring under penalty of perjury that a notice has been sent to any Owner or Owners, in
any manner that this Section allows, shall be deemed conclusive proof of such delivery.

Notice to the Association shall be delivered by registered or certified United States mail
postage prepaid, addressed to the office of the Manager of the Association (if any); or if there
is no Manager, the Registered Agent with the Utah Department of Commerce (if any); or if
there is none, to the President of the Association. The Association shall have the right to
designate an email or USPS mailing address for receipt of notices hereunder by Rule.

16.2. Consent in Lieu of Meeting. In any case in which this Declaration, Governing
Documents, or the Act requires authorization or approval of a transaction by the assent or
affirmative vote of a stated percentage of the votes present or represented at a meeting, such
requirement may be fully satisfied by obtaining, with or without a meeting, consents in writing



to such transaction from Members entitled to cast the required percentage of membership
votes. The Association may also use any method for obtaining votes allowed under Utah law
and the Utah Revised Nonprofit Corporation Act to obtain Owner consent or votes without a
meeting.

16.3. Dissolution. The Association may be dissolved by the Declarant at any time
during the Period of Declarant Control in its sole discretion and thereafter by a vote of at least
ninety percent (90%) of the Owners. Upon dissolution, the Association shall transfer any
Common Area real property it owns to a municipality, utility, or other Person as permitted by
law and disperse any remaining funds or assets to the Owners pro rata. In the event such
dedication or transfer is not made or is not accepted, the Association's assets shall be
transferred to a nonprofit corporation, trust, or other entity to be used for the benefit of all
Owners in the Project, and each Owner shall continue to be obligated to make assessment
payments for the maintenance and upkeep of the Common Areas, on a pro rata basis which
conforms substantially with the assessment procedures and terms set forth herein.

16.4. Interpretation. The captions which precede the Articles and Sections of this
Declaration are for convenience only and shall in no way affect the manner in which any
provision hereof is constructed. Whenever the context so requires, the singular shall include
the plural, the plural shall include the singular, the whole shall include any part thereof, and
any gender shall include the other. Except for judicial construction, the Board, shall have the
exclusive right to construe and interpret the provisions of this Declaration. In the absence of
any adjudication to the contrary by a court of competent jurisdiction, the Association's
construction or interpretation of the provisions hereof shall be final, conclusive and binding as
to all Persons and property benefitted or bound by the covenants and provisions hereof.

16.5. Severability. The invalidity or unenforceability of any portion of the Declaration
by judgment or court order shall not affect the validity or enforceability of the remainder of any
other provision herein, all of which shall remain in full force and effect.

16.6. Covenants to Run with Land. This Declaration and all provisions hereof shall
constitute covenants to run with the land and shall be binding upon and shall inure to the
benefit of the Association and all parties who hereafter acquire any interest in a Lot or in the
Common Areas shall be subject to the terms of this Declaration and the provisions of any
Rules, agreements, instruments, and determinations contemplated by this Declaration. Any
failure to comply with any of the foregoing shall be grounds for an action by the Association
or an aggrieved Owner for the recovery of damages, or for injunctive relief, or both. By
acquiring any interest in a Lot or in the Common Areas, the party acquiring such interest
consents to, and agrees to be bound by, each and every provision of this Declaration.

16.7. Fair Housing Accommodations. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in
this Declaration, the Association, upon receipt of a written opinion from its counsel that such
action is required, may make or permit reasonable accommodations or modifications to the
Project that are otherwise prohibited by the Governing Documents, as required under State or
Federal Fair Housing Acts, to accommodate a Person with a disability (as defined by State or
Federal law at the time the accommodation is requested). Reasonable accommodations or
modifications may include modifications to a Lot, the Common Area facilities and buildings, or
deviations from provision of the Governing Documents. Any such modification and
accommodation made under this Section shall not act as a waiver of the provisions of the



Governing Documents with regard to any other Person or Owner.
16.8. No Waiver. No delay or failure by the Association or by any Owner to enforce

any Restriction, right, remedy, power, or provision herein contained, or contained in the other
Governing Documents, in any certain instance or on any particular occasion (or partial
exercise thereof) shall be deemed a waiver of such right of enforcement as to any such future
breach of the same or any other Restriction, right, remedy, power, or provision. No
Association delay or failure to demand strict adherence to the terms, Restrictions or
provisions of the Governing Documents shall be deemed to constitute a course of conduct
inconsistent with the Association’s right at any time, before or after an Owner violation or
breach, to demand strict adherence to the terms, Restrictions, or provisions of this
Declaration or other Governing Document.

16.9. Condemnation. If a portion of the Common Area is taken by eminent domain,
or sold under threat thereof, and the taking does not include any Lot, the Board shall cause
the award to be utilized for repairing or restoring the area adjacent to the taking, and the
portion of the award not used for restoration shall be added to the general funds of the
Association. If a Lot is taken by eminent domain, or sold under threat thereof, leaving the
Owner with a remnant that may not be practically or lawfully used for any purpose permitted
by this Declaration, then that Lot’s interest in the Common Areas shall be reallocated to the
remaining Lots in proportion to their respective interests immediately before the taking.

16.10. Attorney Fees. If the Association utilizes legal counsel to enforce or interpret
(i.e. defending against declaratory actions) any Restriction, or after an Owner communicates
or demonstrates an intent not to comply with a Restriction, the Association may assess all
reasonable attorney fees and costs associated with such enforcement to the Owner as an
Individual Assessment, regardless of whether a lawsuit is initiated or not. The term “costs” as
used in this Section shall include all costs including but not limited to copying costs,
deposition costs, expert witness fees, investigative costs, service costs, and filing fees paid to
courts. “Costs” is specifically defined in this Section to be broader and to include costs that
are not included in costs as the term is used in the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure.

16.11. Noncompliance Notice. Any construction, alteration, or other work done in
violation of this Declaration shall be deemed to be in noncompliance. By acquiring title to a
Lot in the Project, all Owners agree and consent that upon any act of noncompliance, the
Board, at its discretion, may record a “Notice of Noncompliance” on an offending Lot or
property in the records of the Wasatch County Recorder. Upon receipt of a Notice of
Noncompliance, Owners shall, at their own cost and expense, remove such non-conforming
construction, alteration, or other work and shall restore the land to substantially the same
condition as existed prior to the non-conforming construction, alteration, or other work.
Should an Owner fail to act as required hereunder, the Board or their designee, without
liability for trespass or nuisance, shall have the right to enter the property, remove the
violation, and restore the property to substantially the same condition as existed prior to the
change. All costs incurred by the Association pursuant to enforcement of this Section shall be
charged as an Individual Assessment.

16.12. Security. Neither the Declarant nor the Association shall be considered an
insurer or guarantor of security within or relating to the Project, including any Common Area
in which the Association may have an obligation to maintain, and the Association shall not be



held liable for any loss or damage by reason of any failure to provide adequate security or
any ineffectiveness of security measures undertaken. Owners agree by purchasing a Lot in
this Association that the Association, Declarant, and the Board are not insurers of the safety
or well-being of Owners or Occupants or of their personal property, and that each Owner or
Occupant assumes all risks for loss or damage to persons, the Lots, the Common Areas, and
to the contents of improvements located thereon to the extent not insured by the Association.
EACH OWNER AND OCCUPANT UNDERSTANDS AND ACKNOWLEDGES THAT THE
ASSOCIATION, DECLARANT, AND BOARD HAVE NOT MADE ANY REPRESENTATIONS
OR WARRANTIES OF ANY KIND AND THAT EACH OWNER OR OCCUPANT HAS NOT
RELIED UPON ANY REPRESENTATIONS OR WARRANTIES, EXPRESSED OR IMPLIED,
INCLUDING ANY WARRANTY OF MERCHANTABILITY OR FITNESS FOR ANY
PARTICULAR PURPOSE, RELATIVE TO THE SECURITY OF THE PROJECT.

16.13. Effective Date. The Declaration and any amendment hereof shall take effect
upon its filing in the office of the Weber County Recorder.

* * * *

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Declarant has caused this Declaration to be
executed by a duly authorized representative this day of , 2024.

DECLARANT
JLM Development Amber, LLC
a Utah limited liability company

By:

Name:
STATE OF UTAH )

) ss. Title:
COUNTY OF )

On the day of , 2024, personally appeared before me
who by me being duly sworn, did say that she/he is

an authorized representative of JLM Development Amber, LLC, and that the foregoing
instrument is signed on behalf of said company and executed with all necessary authority.

Notary Public:



EXHIBIT A
LEGAL DESCRIPTION

All of Oak Hollow SUBDIVISION, according to the official plat filed in the office of the
Weber County Recorder.

Including Lots 1 – 30, Open Space, and Common Area parcels

A parcel of ground being a part of the Northeast Quarter of Section 8, Township 6 North, Range 1 West, Salt Lake
Base and Meridian, U.S. Survey being more particularly described as follows.

Beginning at a point on the South Right-of-Way Line of Larsen Lane, said point being retraced at station 13+85.20
according to the official Right-of-Way maps completed by Utah Department of Transportation in 2018, known, as
project number F-LC57(26), said point also being measured 660.63 feet North 88°47'41" West along the Section
Line and 163.36 feet South 1°09'38" West along the Center Line of Washington Boulevard to a Center Line
monument found at the intersection of Washington Boulevard and 1100 North Street and 779.66 feet South
01°09'49" West along the Center Line of Washington Boulevard to the control line of said UDOT project and
continuing along the control line 70.64 feet North 88°50'23" West to a point of curvature to the left having a radius of
135.00 feet and a central angle of 30°12'47" and Westerly along said arc a distance of 71.19 feet note (Chord equals
South 76°03'13" West 70.37 feet) and 579.11 feet South 60°56'50" West and 368.00 feet South 62°37'11" West and
242.42 feet South 60°37'11" West and leaving the control line 40.00 feet South 29°22'49" East from the Northeast
Corner of said Section 8 (Basis of bearing being North 1°09'38" West along the Center Line Washington boulevard
between found monument within the intersections of 1100 North and Lockwood Drive) and running thence along the
South Right-of-Way of Washington Boulevard North 60°37'11" East 241.72 feet to Station 16+28.32; thence
continuing along said South Right-of-Way North 62°37'11" East 22.44 feet to station 16+50.76; thence South
24°32'24" East 145.39 feet to an old barb wire fence; thence along said fence North 65°43'06" East 89.76 feet;
thence North 24°32'24" West 37.00 feet; thence North 61°15'36" East 90.00 feet; thence South 24°32'24" East 62.94
feet to the Southwest corner of land conveyed to Flying J Inc found at Entry No. 2171137; thence along said
conveyance North 61°15'36" East 38.31 feet to a long standing barbed wire fence; thence South 00°54'49" West
along said fence 524.61 feet to a point 2650.65 feet along the section line South 0°18'56" West and 1293.95 feet
South 88°39'20" East and 623.81 feet North 1°11'50" East and 2.97 feet more or less North 88°48'10" West from the
North Quarter Corner of Said Section 8; thence North 88°48'10" West 297.03 feet; thence South 01°11'50" West
600.00 feet; thence North 88°48'10" West 100.00 feet; thence North 01°11'50" East 260.00 feet; thence North
88°48'10" West 99.31 feet to a point at the extension of Jennings Subdivision 1st Amendment; thence North
01°19'30" East 147.50 feet along said subdivision and its extension; thence continuing along said subdivision North
01°06'19" East 635.08 feet to the Point of Beginning.

Containing 346,021.60 square feet or 7.9436 acres, more or less.

Parcel Numbers: Not Yet Assigned



EXHIBIT B

BYLAWS
OF

OAK HOLLOW OWNERS ASSOCIATION

These BYLAWS OF OAK HOLLOW OWNERS ASSOCIATION are effective upon
recording in the Weber County Recorder's Office pursuant to the Utah Community
Association Act and the Utah Revised Nonprofit Corporation Act (referred collectively herein
as the “Acts”).

RECITALS
A. The Association is organized for all lawful purposes for which a nonprofit

corporation may be organized under the Utah Revised Nonprofit Corporation Act, as
amended, subject to the terms and conditions contained in the Declaration and Articles of
Incorporation.

B. These Bylaws are adopted to complement the Declaration, to further define the
rights of the Association and the Owners, to provide for the ability to effectively govern and
operate the Association and the Project known as the Oak Hollow Subdivision and, to further
the Association's efforts to provide a quality living environment.

ARTICLE I
DEFINITIONS

1.1 Except as otherwise provided herein or as may be required by the context, all
capitalized terms used herein shall have the same meaning and effect as used and defined in
the Declaration of Covenants, Conditions and Restrictions for Oak Hollow.

ARTICLE II
APPLICATION

2.1 All present and future Owners, Mortgagees, Occupants, and their invitees and
guests, and any other persons who may use the facilities of the Project in any manner are
subject to these Bylaws, the Declaration, and Rules. The mere acquisition or rental of any of
the Residences or the mere act of occupancy or use of any said Residences or the Common
Areas will signify that these Bylaws, the Declaration, and the Rules are accepted, ratified, and
will be complied with by said persons.

ARTICLE III
OWNERS

3.1 Annual Meetings. The Annual Meeting of the Owners shall be held each year
on a day and time established by the Board of Directors. The purposes of the Annual Meeting
may include the election of Board Members, the distribution of financial reports and budget, a
review of any revisions to the Rules, distributing the most recent reserve study, and to
transact such other business as may come before the meeting. If the election of Board



Members cannot be held during the Annual Meeting, or at any adjournment thereof, the
Board shall cause the election to be held either at a Special Meeting of the Owners to be
convened as soon thereafter as may be convenient or at the next Annual Meeting. The Board
may from time to time by resolution change the month, date, and time for the Annual Meeting.
Annual Meetings shall not be required during the Period of Declarant Control, but the
Declarant may hold Annual Meetings at its discretion.

3.2 Special Meetings. Special Meetings of the Owners may be called by a
majority of the Board, the Declarant, the President, or upon the written request of Owners
holding not less than forty percent (40%) of the voting interests of the Association. Any
written request for a Special Meeting presented by the Owners shall be delivered to the
President and shall include the original signature of each Owner affirmatively supporting such
request along with a complete statement of the purpose of the meeting on each page
containing signatures. The President shall then call, provide notice of, and conduct a Special
Meeting within 45 days of receipt of the Owner request. During the Period of Declarant
Control, Special Meetings may only be called by the Declarant.

3.3 Place of Meetings. The Board may designate any place in Weber County that
is reasonably convenient for the Owners as the place of any Owner meeting. In addition, the
Association may hold and conduct Owner meetings through any type of electronic means that
allows Owners to communicate orally in real time including telephone and video
conferencing.

3.4 Notice of Meetings. The Board shall cause written or printed notice of the
date, time, and location (and in the case of a Special Meeting, the purpose or purposes) for
all Owner meetings. Such written or printed notice shall be delivered to each Owner of record
entitled to vote at such meeting not more than sixty (60) nor less than ten (10) days prior to
the meeting. Such notice may be sent via email, text, hand-delivery, or regular mail. If sent by
email or text, such notice shall be deemed delivered and effective on the date transmitted to
the Owner’s email address or telephone number registered with the Association. If mailed,
such notice shall be deemed to be delivered and effective on the date deposited in the U.S.
mail if addressed to the Owner's address registered with the Association. Each Owner shall
register with the Association such Owner's current email address, phone number, and mailing
address for purposes of notice hereunder. Such registered email, phone number, and mailing
address may be changed from time to time by notice in writing to the Association. If no
address is registered with the Association, an Owner's Residence shall be deemed to be the
Owner's registered address and notice to the Residence address may be made by first-class
mail or by posting the meeting notice on the front door. An Owner may opt out of receiving
notices from the Association via email or text by giving written notice to the Board stating that
the Owner will not accept notices by way of email or text.

3.5 Qualified Voters. An Owner shall be deemed to be in “good standing” and
“entitled to vote” at any meeting if he or she has fully paid their Assessment account (together
with any interest and/or late fees) at least 48 hours prior to the commencement of the
meeting and is not in violation of any provision of the Governing Documents.

3.6 Record Date for Notice Purposes. The Board may designate a record date,
which shall not be more than sixty (60) nor less than ten (10) days prior to the meeting, for



the purpose of determining Owners entitled to notice of any meeting of the Owners. If no
record date is designated, the last date on which a notice of the meeting is mailed or
delivered shall be deemed to be the record date for determining Owners entitled to notice.
The persons or entities appearing in the records of the Association on such record date as
the Owner(s) of record of Lots in the Project shall be deemed to be the Owners of record
entitled to notice of the Owner meeting.

3.7 Quorum. Any number of Owners present in person or by proxy at any meeting
duly called and held in compliance with the requirements of these Bylaws, shall constitute a
quorum for the transaction of business and adoption of decisions.

3.8 Proxies. Owners shall be entitled to vote in person or by proxy at each
meeting provided, however, that the right to vote by proxy shall exist only where the
instrument authorizing such proxy to act shall have been signed by the Owner or by the
Owner's attorney. A proxy may be written on paper or received via email, facsimile, text, or
any other electronic or physical means. A signature as required herein shall mean any
indication that the document is from and consented to by the person who is purported to have
sent it. If a Lot is jointly owned, the instrument authorizing a proxy to act may be executed by
any one (1) Owner of such Lot or the Owner’s attorney when duly authorized in writing. A
proxy given by an Owner to any person who represents the Owner at meetings of the
Association shall be in writing, dated, and signed by such Owner. Such instrument may allow
the proxy to vote on any issue arising at any particular meeting or meetings or may set forth
the specific matters or issues upon which the proxy is authorized to act. Proxies shall be filed
with the Secretary (or with such other officer or person who may be acting as Secretary of the
meeting) before the meeting is called to order. The Secretary shall make a record of all
proxies in the meeting minutes.

3.9 Votes. Owners shall be entitled to vote on each matter submitted to an Owner
vote in person, by proxy, or by any type of written or electronic ballot. Owners shall have the
number of votes appertaining to the Lot of such Owner, as set forth in the Declaration. The
affirmative vote of a majority of the votes entitled to be cast by the Owners present or
represented by proxy at a meeting at which a quorum was initially present shall be necessary
for the adoption of any matter voted on by Owners, unless a greater proportion is required by
the Articles of Incorporation, these Bylaws, or the Declaration. When a Lot is jointly owned,
any single Owner may exercise the vote for such Lot on behalf of all Co-Owners of the Lot. In
the event of two (2) conflicting votes by Co-Owners of a Lot, no vote shall be counted for that
Lot. If a Lot is owned by an entity or trust, the vote of any one officer, trustee, or agent of the
entity shall be sufficient to cast a vote for that Lot. In no event shall fractional or cumulative
votes be exercised with respect to any Lot. Only those Owners whose accounts with the
Association are not delinquent and are paid in full at least 48 hours prior to the start of the
meeting shall be entitled to vote.

3.10 Waiver of Irregularities. All inaccuracies and irregularities in calls or notices of
meetings and in the manner of voting, in the form of proxies and the method of ascertaining
Owners present, and in the decisions and votes of the Board or of the Owners shall be
deemed waived by those Members in attendance if no objection is made at the meeting. For
those Members who are not in attendance at the meeting, the right to challenge inaccuracies
and irregularities in calls, notices, voting, and decisions shall be waived if no objection is



made within thirty (30) days of the date of the meeting or date of the action taken outside of a
meeting. The presence of an Owner in person at any Owner meeting shall be deemed a
waiver of all notice requirements.

3.11 Action Taken Without a Meeting. Owners have the right to take any action in
the absence of a meeting which they could take at a meeting by obtaining the written
approval of Owners through ballot, written consent, or otherwise. The Association may also
use any method permitted for actions without a meeting in accordance with the requirements
of Utah Code § 16-6a-707 or § 16-6a-709 and any other applicable section of the Acts. Any
action so approved shall have the same effect as though taken at an Owner meeting. Ballots
or written consents may be obtained via any electronic or physical means including but not
limited to email, facsimile, text, or paper document.

3.12 Meeting Minutes. The Secretary, or the Manager, shall take minutes of all
Owner meetings. The minutes shall include, at a minimum, (1) the identification of the
Persons present in person and by proxy, (2) the meeting date, (3) the identification of any
issue that is voted on or decided in the meeting, (4) the number of votes cast for and against
any issue decided upon, and (5) the exact wording of any resolution passed at the meeting.
The failure to take appropriate minutes or otherwise comply with this section does not
invalidate any action taken at a meeting. Draft meeting minutes for each Owner meeting shall
be made available to requesting Owners within sixty (60) days of the meeting.

ARTICLE IV
BOARD OF DIRECTORS

4.1 Powers. The Project and the business and affairs of the Association shall be
governed and managed by the Board of Directors. The Board may exercise business
judgment and all of the powers of the Association, whether derived from the Declaration,
these Bylaws, the Articles, or the Acts except such powers that the Declaration, these
Bylaws, the Articles, and the Acts vest solely in the Owners.

4.2 Number. The Board of Directors shall be composed of three (3) persons.
4.3 Qualifications. Board Members must be at least 18 years old and must be an

Owner or the spouse of an Owner of a Lot in the Project. No two (2) Board Members may
reside in the same Residence or be business partners if the business is related to their
ownership of a Lot. If an Owner is a corporation, partnership, limited liability company, or
trust, an officer, partner, member, manager, agent, trustee, or beneficiary of such Owner may
be a Board Member. If a Board Member ceases to meet any required qualifications during the
Board Member’s term, such person’s membership on the Board shall automatically terminate.
During the Period of Declarant Control, the qualification requirements of these Bylaws shall
not apply and the Declarant may exercise all powers of the Board as permitted by law.

4.4 Election. During the Period of Declarant Control, Board Members (if any) shall
be appointed by Declarant. Following the Period of Declarant Control, the election of Board
Members shall be made by the Owners. At such election, the Owners or their proxies may
cast, with respect to each vacancy, as many votes as they are entitled to exercise under the
provisions of the Declaration. The Lot Owners shall cast votes for the available Board
Member seats with respect to each Lot type as set forth in Section 4.2 above. The



Association may accept written ballots for Board Member election voting purposes from those
Owners unable to attend a meeting in which an election is held. The persons receiving the
largest number of votes shall be elected. The election of Board Members may be conducted
through open voting or by secret ballot. Cumulative voting is not permitted.

4.5 Term of Office. During the Period of Declarant Control, Board Member terms
shall be determined exclusively by Declarant. Following the Period of Declarant Control, the
Owners shall elect Board Members for two (2) year terms. However, at the first election
following the Period of Declarant Control, the Board Members elected by the Lot Owners
shall serve a 2-year terms, and one Board Member shall serve a one (1) year term to
establish staggered terms. The terms shall overlap so that an election for at least one Board
Member position is held each year at the Annual Meeting. Board Members may serve
consecutive terms if elected.

4.6 Regular Meetings. The Board shall hold meetings at least annually or more
often at the discretion of the Board. During the Period of Declarant Control, Board Meetings
shall be held at the discretion of the Declarant so long as at least one Board Meeting is held
each year, and a Board Meeting is held each time the Association increases a fee or raises
an Assessment.

4.7 Special Meetings. Special meetings may be called by the President or a
majority of Board Members on at least two (2) business days’ prior notice to each Board
Member and those Owners who have requested notice.

4.8 Meeting Notice. Notice of Board Meeting date, time, and location shall be
delivered personally, by email, by text, or by telephone to all Board Members and any
Owners who have requested notice of Board meetings at least forty-eight (48) hours in
advance of the meeting. Board Members may waive their rights to notice of a meeting and
attendance at a Board meeting shall be deemed a waiver of any alleged deficiencies of
notice. By unanimous consent of the Board, Board meetings may be held without call or
notice to the Board Members, but notice shall always be provided to those Owners who have
requested notice of Board meetings.

4.9 Quorum and Manner of Action. A majority of Board Members shall constitute
a quorum for the transaction of business. The act of a majority of the Board Members present
at any meeting at which a quorum is present, and for which proper notice was provided shall
be the act of the Board. Board Members shall act only as the Board of Directors, and
individual Board Members shall have no powers as such.

4.10 Owner Attendance. Any Owner may request notice of Board meetings by
requesting such notice from a Board Member and providing a valid email address or text
messaging number at which the Owner will receive notice. Owners who have requested
notice of Board meetings shall be given notice along with the Board Members and shall be
provided any call-in number or other means of attendance by electronic communication that
is provided to Board Members. If Owners attend a Board meeting, the Board may select a
specific period of time during the meeting and limit Owner comments to such time period. The
Board in its sole discretion may set a reasonable length of time that each Owner may speak.

4.11 Open Meetings. Except as provided in (a) through (f) below, following the
Period of Declarant Control, Board meetings shall be open to Owners. The Board may hold a



closed executive session during a meeting of the Board if the purpose of the closed executive
session is to:

(a) Consult with legal counsel to obtain legal advice and discuss legal matters;
(b) Discuss existing or potential litigation, mediation, arbitration, or an administrative

proceeding;
(c) Discuss a labor or personnel matter;
(d) Discuss a matter relating to contract negotiations, including the review of a bid or

proposal;
(e) Discuss a matter involving a Person, if the Board determines that public knowledge



of the matter would violate the Person’s privacy; or
(f) Discuss a delinquent assessment.

During the Period of Declarant Control, Board meetings may be closed to Owners, unless the
Board, in its sole discretion and without obligation, determines to open the meeting (or a
portion thereof) to the Owners. Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Board meetings required
under Utah Code § 57-8a-226(6)(b) shall be open to all Owners.

4.12 Board Meetings Generally. The Board may designate any place in Weber
County as the meeting place for any regular or special Board meeting. The Board may allow
attendance and participation at any Board meeting by telephone, video conference, or any
other electronic means that allows for Board Members to communicate orally in real time.
Following the Period of Declarant Control, if a Board meeting is held by telephone, or video
conference, the Association shall provide the call-in or internet link information such that
Owners may call-in to access the meeting.

4.13 Board Action. Notwithstanding noncompliance with any provision within these
Bylaws or other Governing Document, Board action is binding and valid unless set aside by a
court of law. A Person challenging the validity of a Board action for failure to comply with
these Bylaws, the Governing Documents, or any other irregularity, may not bring the
challenge more than sixty (60) days after the Board has taken the action in dispute.

4.14 Compensation. No Board Member shall receive compensation for any
services rendered to the Association as a Board Member; provided, however, that a Board
Member may be reimbursed for expenses incurred in performance of such duties as a Board
Member to the extent such expenses are approved by a majority of the other Board
Members. Nothing herein contained shall be construed to preclude any Board Member from
serving the Project in any other capacity and receiving compensation therefore, so long as
approved in advance by a majority of disinterested Board Members.

4.15 Resignation and Removal. A Board Member may resign at any time by
delivering a written resignation to another Board Member. Unless otherwise specified therein,
such resignation shall take effect upon delivery. Any Board Member who is appointed by the
Declarant may only be removed by the Declarant. The Declarant may remove a Board
Member it appoints at any time. A Board Member elected by the Owners after the Period of
Declarant Control may be removed at any time, with or without cause, at a Special Meeting of
the Owners duly called for such purpose upon the affirmative vote of more than fifty percent
(50%) of the entire voting interests of the Association. At such a meeting, the Owners shall
vote for a new Board Member to fill the remaining term of the removed Board Member. Board
Members may also be removed by a majority vote of the other active Board Members upon
the occurrence of any of the following: failure to attend three (3) consecutive Board meetings,
failure to remain current on Assessments, or a violation of the Governing Documents. If
removal occurs based on the preceding sentence, then the remaining Board Members may
appoint a replacement to serve the remaining term of the removed Board Member.

4.16 Vacancies. If vacancies occur during the Period of Declarant Control, the
Declarant shall appoint a Board Member to fill the vacancy. Following the Period of Declarant
Control, if vacancies occur for any reason (including death, resignation, or disqualification)
except removal by the Owners, the Board Members then in office shall continue to act, and



such vacancies shall be filled by a majority vote of the Board Members then in office, though
less than a quorum. Vacancies occurring by reason of removal by the Owners may be filled
by election of the Owners at the meeting at which such Board Member is removed. Board
Members elected or appointed hereunder to fill a vacancy shall serve for the unexpired term
of their predecessor. Except by reason of death, resignation, disqualification, or removal,
Board Members shall continue to serve until their successors are elected.

4.17 Action Without a Meeting. Board Members have the right to take any action
in the absence of a meeting which they could take at a Board meeting if a majority of the
Board Members consent to the action in writing. The term “in writing” shall specifically include
email and text messaging. Board Members may also take action without a meeting if the
Board complies with any applicable provisions of the Acts. Any action so approved shall have
the same effect as though taken at a Board meeting.

4.18 Waiver of Notice. Before or at any Board meeting, any Board Member or
Owner may waive notice of such meeting and such waiver shall be deemed the equivalent of
proper notice. Attendance by a Board Member or Owner at any Board meeting shall be a
waiver of notice by that Board Member or Owner of the time, place, and purpose thereof.

4.19 Adjournment. The Board may adjourn any meeting from day to day for such
other time as may be prudent or necessary, provided that no meeting may be adjourned for
longer than thirty (30) days.

4.20 Meeting. A Board meeting does not include a gathering of Board Members at
which the Board does not conduct and vote on Association business.

ARTICLE V
OFFICERS

5.1 Officers. The officers of the Association shall be a President, Secretary,
Treasurer, and such other officers as may be appointed by the Board. Officers shall not be
required during the Period of Declarant Control.

5.2 Election, Tenure, and Qualifications. Officers shall be elected by the Board
at the first Board meeting following each Annual Meeting of the Owners. Each officer shall
hold such office until the next ensuing meeting of the Board following the Annual Meeting of
the Owners and until a successor has been elected and qualified, or until such officer's death,
resignation, disqualification, or removal in the manner provided in these Bylaws, whichever
first occurs. Any person may hold any two (2) or more of such offices, except that the
President may not also be the Secretary. No person holding two (2) or more offices shall act
in or execute any instrument in the capacity of more than one (1) office.

5.3 Subordinate Officers. The Board may appoint such other officers or agents as
it may deem advisable, each of whom shall have such title, hold office for such period, have
such authority, and perform such duties as the Board may from time to time determine.

5.4 Resignation and Removal. Officers may resign at any time by delivering a
written resignation to any Board Member. Unless otherwise specified therein, such
resignation shall take effect upon delivery. Any officer may be removed and replaced upon
the affirmative vote of a majority of the Board Members at any time, with or without cause.



5.5 Vacancies. If a vacancy occurs in an office for any reason, or if a new office is
created, such vacancies or newly created offices may be filled by majority vote of the Board
at any regular or special Board meeting.

5.6 President. The President shall be the chief executive of the Association. The
President shall preside at meetings of the Board of Directors and at meetings of the Owners.
At the meetings, the President shall have all authority typically granted to the person
presiding over the meeting including but not limited to: (1) the right to control the order of the
meeting, (2) the right to arrange for the removal of any disruptive Owner or person, (3) the
right to impose and enforce reasonable rules and procedures related to the meeting such as
those found in "Robert's Rules of Order" or "The Modern Rules of Order." The President
shall sign on behalf of the Association all conveyances, mortgages, documents, and
contracts, and shall do and perform all other acts and things as required by the Board.

5.7 Secretary. The Secretary shall keep the minutes of the Association and shall
maintain such books and records as these Bylaws, the Declaration, Rules, or any resolution
the Board may require. The Secretary shall also act in the place of the President in the event
of the President's absence or inability or refusal to act. The duties of the Secretary may be
delegated to the Manager.

5.8 Treasurer. The Treasurer shall have the custody and control of the funds and
financial accounts of the Association, subject to the action of the Board, and when requested
by the President, shall report the state of the finances of the Association at each meeting of
the Owners and at any meeting of the Board. The Treasurer shall perform such other duties
as required by the Board. The duties of the Treasurer may be delegated to the Manager.

5.9 Compensation. No officer shall receive compensation for any services
rendered to the Association as an officer, provided, however, that an officer may be
reimbursed for expenses incurred in performance of such duties as an officer to the extent
such expenses are approved by the Board.

ARTICLE VI
COMMITTEES

6.1 Designation of Committees. The Board may designate committees as it
deems appropriate in carrying out its duties, responsibilities, functions, and powers. No
committee members shall receive compensation for services rendered to the Association as
a member of a committee; provided, however, that a committee member may be reimbursed
for expenses incurred in performance of such duties as a committee member to the extent
that such expenses are approved by the Board. A committee shall not have powers, duties,
or responsibilities beyond those specifically assigned by the Board in a written resolution. The
Board may terminate a committee at any time.

6.2 Proceeding of Committees. Each committee may appoint its own presiding
and recording officers and may meet at such places and times and upon such notice as such
committee may determine. Each such committee shall keep a record of its proceedings and
shall regularly report such records to the Board.

6.3 Quorum and Manner of Acting. At each committee meeting, the presence of
members constituting at least a majority of the authorized membership of such committee
(but in no event fewer than two (2) members) shall constitute a quorum for the transaction of



business, and the act of a majority of the members present at any meeting at which a quorum
is present shall be the act of such committee. The committee members shall act only as a
committee, and the individual members thereof shall have no powers as such. A committee
may only exercise the authority granted to it by the Board.

6.4 Resignation and Removal. A committee member may resign at any time by
delivering a written resignation to a Board Member, or the presiding officer of such committee.
Unless otherwise specified therein, such resignation shall take effect upon delivery. The
Board may at any time, with or without cause, remove any committee member.

6.5 Vacancies. If a vacancy occurs in a committee for any reason, the remaining
members shall, until the filling of such vacancy by the Board, constitute the then total
authorized membership of the committee and, provided that two (2) or more members are
remaining, may continue to act. Such vacancy may be filled at any meeting of the Board.

ARTICLE VII
INDEMNIFICATION

7.1 Indemnification. No Board Member, officer, or committee member shall be
personally liable for any obligations of the Association or for any duties or obligations arising
out of any acts or conduct said Board Member, officer, or committee member performed for or
on behalf of the Association. The Association shall and does hereby indemnify and hold
harmless each person who shall serve at any time as a Board Member, officer, or committee
member of the Association, as well as such person's heirs and administrators, from and
against any and all claims, judgments and liabilities to which such persons shall become
subject, by reason of that person having heretofore or hereafter been a Board Member,
officer, or committee member of the Association or by reason of any action alleged to have
been heretofore or hereafter taken or omitted to have been taken by him as such Board
Member, officer, or committee member and shall reimburse any such person for all legal and
other expenses reasonably incurred in connection with any such claim or liability; provided
that no such person shall be indemnified against or be reimbursed for or be defended against
any expense or liability incurred in connection with any claim or action arising out of such
person's willful or intentional misconduct. The rights accruing to any person under the
foregoing provisions of this Section shall not exclude any other right to which such person
may lawfully be entitled, nor shall anything herein contained restrict the right of the
Association to defend, indemnify, or reimburse such person in any proper case, even though
not specifically provided for herein or otherwise permitted. The Association, its Board
Members, officers, committee members, employees, and agents shall be fully protected in
taking any action or making any payment or in refusing so to do in reliance upon the advice of
counsel.

7.2 Other Indemnification. The defense and indemnification provided herein shall
not be deemed exclusive of any other right to defense and indemnification to which any
person seeking indemnification may be entitled under the Acts or under any agreement, vote
of disinterested Board Members or otherwise, both as to action taken in any official capacity
and as to action taken in any other capacity while holding such office. It is the intent that all
Board Members, officers, and committee members be and hereby are defended and
indemnified to the fullest extent permitted by the laws of the State of Utah and these Bylaws.



The defense and indemnification herein provided shall continue as to any person who has
ceased to be a Board Member, officer, committee member, or employee and shall inure to the
benefit of the heirs, executors and administrators of any such person.

7.3 Insurance. The Board, in its discretion, may direct that the Association
purchase and maintain Directors and Officers insurance on behalf of any person who is or
was a Board Member, officer, committee member, Manager or employee of the Association or
is or was serving at the request of the Association as a Board Member, officer, committee
member, Manager, employee, or agent of another association, corporation, partnership, joint
venture, trust or other enterprise against any liability asserted against, and incurred by, such
person in any such capacity or arising out of such person's status as such, whether or not the
Association would have the power to defend or indemnify such person against liability under
the provisions of this Article.

7.4 Settlement by Association. The right of any person to be defended and/or
indemnified shall be subject always to the right of the Association through the Board, in lieu of
such defense and/or indemnity, to settle any such claim, action, suit or proceeding at the
expense of the Association by the payment of the amount of such settlement and the costs
and expenses incurred in connection therewith.

ARTICLE VIII RULES AND
REGULATIONS

8.1 Rules. The Board shall have the authority to adopt Rules and a schedule of
fines for violations as it deems necessary for the maintenance, operation, management, and
control of the Project by resolution or similar document. The Board may from time to time, by
resolution, alter, amend, and repeal such Rules and use their best efforts to see that they are
strictly observed by all Owners and Occupants. Owners are responsible to ensure that their
lessees, invitees, and guests strictly observe the Rules then in effect as well as the
covenants and restrictions of the Declaration and shall be jointly and severally liable for their
violations and resulting fines. Copies of all Rules adopted by the Board shall be sent to all
Owners at least fifteen (15) days prior to the effective date thereof.

ARTICLE IX
AMENDMENTS

9.1 Amendments by Declarant. During the Period of Declarant Control or so long
as the Declarant or one of its affiliates owns one or more Lots in the Project or any Additional
Land, the Declarant acting alone may amend the Bylaws for any reason, without Owner
approval. Declarant’s unilateral amendment right may continue past the expiration of the
Period of Declarant Control. No other amendment shall be valid or enforceable during the
Period of Declarant Control or so long as Declarant owns at least one Lot or any Additional
Land unless the Declarant has given written consent to such amendment. Any amendment
during the Period of Declarant Control shall be executed by Declarant on behalf of the
Association and shall become effective upon recordation in the office of the County Recorder.

9.2 Amendments by Association. After the Declarant has annexed all of the
Additional Land, sold all of the Lots to third parties, and the Period of Declarant Control has
expired, the Bylaws may be amended by the Owners upon the affirmative vote of at least



than sixty-seven percent (67%) of the voting interest of the Association. Any amendment(s)
shall be effective upon recordation in the office of the County Recorder. In such instrument a
Board Member shall execute the amendment and certify that the vote required by this Section
has occurred. If a Lot is owned by more than one Owner, the vote of any one Owner shall be
sufficient to constitute approval for that Lot under this Section. If a Lot is owned by an entity
or trust, the vote of any one officer, trustee, or agent of the entity shall be sufficient to
constitute approval for that Lot under this Section. No amendment shall restrict, limit, or
impair any Declarant rights without the express written consent of the Declarant.



ARTICLE X
MISCELLANEOUS PROVISIONS

10.1 Waiver. No restriction, condition, obligation, or provision contained in these
Bylaws shall be deemed to have been abrogated or waived by reason of a failure to enforce
the same, irrespective of the number of violations or breaches thereof which may occur.

10.2 Invalidity; Number; Captions. The invalidity of any part of these Bylaws shall
not impair or affect in any manner the validity, enforceability, or effect of the balance of these
Bylaws. As used in these Bylaws, the singular shall include the plural, and the plural shall
include the singular. The masculine and neuter shall each include the masculine, feminine
and neuter, as the context requires. All captions are intended solely for convenience of
reference and shall in no way limit any of the provisions of these Bylaws.

10.3 Conflicts. These Bylaws are intended to comply with the Declaration. In case
of any irreconcilable conflict, the Declaration shall control over these Bylaws.

* * * *

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Declarant has executed and adopted these Bylaws on
behalf of the Association this day of , 2024.

DECLARANT
JLM Development Amber, LLC
a Utah limited liability company

By:

Name:
STATE OF UTAH )

) ss. Its:
COUNTY OF )

On the day of , 2024, personally appeared before me
who by me being duly sworn, did say that she/he is an

authorized representative of JLM Development Amber, LLC, and that the foregoing
instrument is signed on behalf of said company and executed with all necessary authority.

Notary Public:



EXHIBIT C

MAINTENANCE ALLOCATION CHART

ITEM HOA DETACHE
D HOME
LOTS

NOTES

A/C Pad & Unit X

Address Numbers X

Attic X

Cable/Satellite TV X

Ceiling X

Circuit Breakers for Unit X

Clubhouse & Related Facilities X

Common Area amenities X

Door and Door Frames - exterior X Subject to Board approval to replace

Door and Door frames - interior X

Door Hardware/doorbell X

Drains – Residence & Limited Common
patio/porch

X

Dryer Vent Cleaning X

Electrical Wiring/Panel X

Exterior Wall Finishes
(Rock/Stucco/Siding/Brick, etc.)

X X

Fences – around rear patio/Limited Common
Area

X

Fences – Common Area & Project perimeter X

Fireplace, Flue, & Vent Pipes – Cleaning &
Repair

X

Floor Coverings X

Foundation – Structural X

Foundation – Cracks, cosmetic X



Front Landing/Porch X

Furnace X

Garage Doors – repair & replacement (all
components)

X
Subject to Board approval to replace

Gas Pipes (from meter to inside Residence) X

Hose Bib/Faucet/Spigot X

Hot Water Heater X

Insurance Coverage – Property (attached
buildings)

X

Insurance Coverage - HO6 Policy

Insurance Coverage - loss assessment X

Insurance Deductible X X
Assessed to Owners pro-rata according
to losses. HO6 deductible is Owner’s
responsibility.

Irrigation Lines / Heads – Common Area yard X

Landscape – Common Area X

Landscape – Owner’s fenced in yard area X If applicable

Lights – eaves, porch & garage fixtures &
bulbs

X Fixture replacement subject to approval

Limited Common Area – patios, porches,
decks, stairs & sidewalks, driveways - repair
and
replacement

X

Limited Common Area – patios, porches,
decks,
stairs & sidewalks, driveways - clean and snow
removal

X

Mailbox & Stand/Structure X Or USPS as applicable

Mailbox Lock & Key X Or USPS as applicable

Paint - exterior wall surfaces and trim finishes X X

Paint – exterior doors, garage doors, windows X X

Paint - Interior X



Patio Slab X

Pest Control Interior & Exterior X

Phone Lines X

Pickleball Courts X

Playgrounds & Open Space X

Plumbing Valves, Pressure Regulator X
After point of connection/Meter = Owner
Before point of connection/Meter = HOA

Plumbing Main Line X
After point of connection/Meter = Owner
Before point of connection/Meter = HOA

Plumbing Leak X
After point of connection/Meter = Owner
Before point of connection/Meter = HOA

Plumbing – clogging/stoppage X
After point of connection/Meter = Owner
Before point of connection/Meter = HOA

Plumbing Pipes Inside Residence X

Rain Gutters – repair, replacement X X

Rain Gutters – clean, drains away from
building

X

Roof – leaks, repair & replacement X X

Screen Doors X Must be approved by Board

Sewer pipes & utilities – serving a single
Residence

X

Sewer pipes & utilities – to more than one
Residence

X
Responsibility shared by Owners in use
unless handled by municipality or others

Shutters, exterior window trim X X

Sidewalks and paths on Common Areas X

Sliding Glass Doors X

Snow Removal – Limited Common Areas,
driveways, porches & sidewalks on Lots

X

Snow Removal – Common sidewalks &
parking

X

Storm Drains X

Street Lights X Unless handled by municipality or others



Termites, pests, rodents, insects, etc. X

Trash X If municipality allows

Utility Doors X

Vent Covers - exterior X X

Wall - bearing interior wall X
Wall - partition interior wall X

Water – culinary & Lot landscape X Unless collectively metered
Water – Common Area landscape X

Weather Stripping X
Windows – glass, screens, frames, boxes X Subject to Board approval to replace



WHEN RECORDED RETURN TO:
JLM Development Amber, LLC
1920 N. 1700 W.
Farr West, UT 84404

NOTICE OF REINVESTMENT FEE COVENANT

(Oak Hollow Owners Association)

Pursuant to Utah Code § 57-1-46(6), the Oak Hollow Owners Association (“Association”)
hereby provides this Notice of Reinvestment Fee Covenant which burdens all of the real property
described in Exhibit A (the “Burdened Property”), attached hereto, which is subject to the
Declaration of Covenants, Conditions, and Restrictions for Oak Hollow recorded with the Weber
County Recorder on , 2024 as
Entry No.

, and any amendments or supplements thereto (the “Declaration”).

The Reinvestment Fee Covenant requires, among other things, that upon the transfer of any of
the Burdened Property subject to the Declaration, the transferee, other than the Declarant, is
required to pay a reinvestment fee as established by Section 5.21 of the Declaration (as may be
amended), unless the transfer falls within an exclusion listed in Utah Code § 57-1- 46(8). The
amount of the reinvestment fee may be set forth in the rules or through a Board resolution.

BE IT KNOWN TO ALL OWNERS, SELLERS, BUYERS, AND TITLE COMPANIES
owning, purchasing, or assisting with the closing of a Burdened Property conveyance within the Oak
Hollow planned development that:

1. The name and address of the beneficiary of the Reinvestment Fee Covenant is:

Oak Hollow Owners Association
2097 E Cedar Fort Drive
Eagle Mountain, UT 84005

The address of the beneficiary may change from time to time as updated on the Utah
Department of Commerce Homeowner Associations Registry.

2. The burden of the Reinvestment Fee Covenant is intended to run with the Burdened
Property and to bind successors in interest and assigns.

3. The existence of this Reinvestment Fee Covenant precludes the imposition of any



additional Reinvestment Fee Covenant on the Burdened Property.
4. The duration of the Reinvestment Fee Covenant is perpetual. The Association’s
members, by and through a vote as provided for in the amendment provisions of the
Declaration, may amend or terminate the Reinvestment Fee Covenant.

5. The purpose of the Reinvestment Fee is to assist the Association in covering the
costs of: (a) common planning, facilities and infrastructure; (b) obligations arising from an
environmental covenant; (c) community programming; (d) resort facilities; (e) open space;
(f) recreation amenities; (g) common expenses of the Association; or (h) funding
Association reserves.

6. The fee required under the Reinvestment Fee Covenant is required to benefit the
Burdened Property.

7. Please contact the Association for the amount of the Reinvestment Fee.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Declarant has executed this Notice of Reinvestment Fee
Covenant on behalf of the Association on the date set forth below, to be effective upon recording
with the Weber County Recorder.

DATED this day of , 2024.

DECLARANT
JLM Development Amber, LLC
a Utah limited liability company,

By:

Name:
STATE OF UTAH )

) ss. Its: _____________________________
COUNTY OF )

On the day of , 2024, personally appeared before me

who by me being duly sworn, did say that she/he is
an authorized representative of JLM Development Amber, LLC, and that the foregoing instrument
is signed on behalf of said company and executed with all necessary authority.



___________________________________
Notary Public



EXHIBIT I
GEOTECHNICAL REPORT

Printed under a separate cover.



EXHIBIT J
PHASE 1 ENVIRONMENTAL REPORT

Printed under a separate cover.



EXHIBIT K-1
Parks Trails and Open Spaces (PTOS) Narrative

The Oak Hollow Landscape Plan addresses the following areas in the Oak Hollow development:
• Community park
• Common area open space
• Landscape areas of residential homes

The community park and general common area open space are identified in the PTOS Plan
(Exhibit K-2). The community includes one common area park, with a pavilion, walking trail and
pickleball courts. Designs for these parks will be completed prior to submission to the Harrisville
City Council.

As described in the Maintenance Plan (Exhibit N), the Oak Hollow Owners Association (HOA)
will manage and maintain the local park, pavilion, common open spaces and the pickleball courts.

The landscaping design for the private lots in the community will be the responsibility of
homeowners, subject to requirements in the CC&Rs with oversight by the HOA Design Review
Committee.





EXHIBIT K-3



EXHIBIT K-3



EXHIBIT L
MAXIMUM RESIDENTIAL UNITS

UNIT TYPE MAXIMUM RESIDENTIAL UNITS

SINGLE FAMILY HOMES 30

TOTAL RESIDENTIAL UNITS 30



EXHIBIT M
DEVELOPMENT AREAS

Section 2.5.7 of the MDA permits the Master Developer to transfer Dwelling Units between 
or among Development Areas subject to certain limited and specified parameters as a matter 
of right without any approvals being required by the City. Development Areas on the 
Master Plan are shown in Exhibit Q-1. Up to two (2) single-family homes may be 
transferred between or among the residential Development Areas in Exhibit Q-1. 
Residential Development Areas do not include Area D, Clubhouse Area, and Area G, Town 
Center Area. Transfer may result in a change in the mix of residential units but the 
Maximum Residential Units cannot be exceeded.



EXHIBIT N
MAINTENANCE PLAN

The operation, maintenance, repair and replacement of all common areas including private
roads; alleyways; parking areas; park and open area landscaping; park and open area
equipment, fixtures and furniture including playgrounds; trails; the clubhouse and related
recreational facilities; will be performed by the Oak Hollow Owners Association (HOA).
The HOA will manage all maintenance under contract with a professional management
company and the Maintenance Plan fees will be funded through the assessment of
Members who are owners of lots and parcels. Proper maintenance of individual residential
lots and buildings will be the responsibility of unit owners subject to the terms of the
CC&R’s and the attached Maintenance Allocation Chart. All future improvements,
including applications for building permits, will be subject to review and approval by the
HOA Design Review Committee.



CONSULTING ENGINEERS 

6080 Fashion Point Dr.  ●  South Ogden, Utah 84403  ●  (801) 476-9767  ●  www.jonescivil.com 

M E M O R A N D U M 

 

TO:  Harrisville City Planning Commission 

FROM: Matt Robertson, City Engineer 

 

RE:  HARRISVILLE FIELDS ESTATES PHASE 1 

Preliminary Plat Submittal 

Date:  June 6, 2024 

 

Our office has completed a review of the preliminary subdivision plat for the referenced 

development located at approximately 390 West North St. This first phase of the development 

will construct 28 new single-family homes within the area previously approved for a cluster 

development. Per the Master Development Agreement associated with this development, the 

residential lots will meet the zoning requirements of the R-1-10 zone. 

We have reviewed the preliminary plat and have made comments on the plat that will need to be 

resolved with the City’s Administrative Land Use Authority prior to final approval. We 

recommend preliminary approval of the plat at this time with the following comments to be 

completely addressed prior to final approval: 

1. Submit the plat to the Weber County Surveyor’s Office for review and receive approval 

of the plat from their office. Include a signature block for them on the plat. 

2. Resolve all red-line comments provided by our office on the preliminary plat. 

3. Include the dedication of the detention pond to Harrisville City in the Owner’s 

Dedication.  

4. If any of 400 North (North Street) is to be dedicated to Ogden City, include that in the 

Owner’s Dedication and include a signature block for them. 

5. Obtain approval from North View Fire District for the turnaround area on 600 North. 

6. Provide lot addresses on the plat as provided by our office. 

The comments listed in this memo and on the submitted plat are for the preliminary plat review 

only and additional comments and requirements will be provided as necessary on the final plat 

and improvement drawings as the Developer works with the City toward final approval. Please 

let me know if you have any questions. 



N 
0°

32
'49

" E
    

 96
9.0

6'

S 88°46'07" E     147.87'

S 82°21'14" E     355.16'

D=1°07'34"
R=1970.00

L=38.72'
CB=N 21°45'58" E

C=38.72'

S 68°47'49" E60.00'

D=0°34'54"
R=2030.00
L=20.61'
CB=S 21°29'39" W
C=20.61'

S 79°43'19" E     112.90'

S 
24

°4
5'0

6"
 W

    
 62

0.5
5'

S 
0°

47
'49

" W
    

 35
1.2

9'

N 88°29'52" W     278.41'

N 88°29'52" W     152.32'

C2
1

C23
25.10'

C26

C27
C28

C29

C30

10
9.2

0'

C40

C41

C42

C46

C47

137.29'

C48

C49

67
.43

'

C5
4

C55

N 88°29'52" W   128.40'

C31

C34

24.03' C35

C3
9

C1
3

66
.43

'

C1
0

C6

47
.66

'

24.03'

S 
7°

38
'46

" W
   1

10
.00

'

20.65'

92.00'

S 
7°

38
'46

" W
   1

10
.00

'

92.00'

110.23'

S 
19

°1
0'5

9"
 W

   1
21

.14
'

C25

108.69'

C24 N 65°40'29" W   106.66'

C1
9

11
7.3

9'

N 63°06'12" W   108.10'

C1
8

95
.93

'

N 60°35'19" W   113.69'

C1
7

94
.12

'

N 58°04'43" W   123.44'

C1
6

94
.62

'

N 55°34'06" W   137.46'

C1
5

95
.67

'

N 88°46'07" W   100.01'

10
0.0

1'

101.20'

S 
1°

13
'53

" W
   1

00
.00

'

N 89°27'11" W
5.00'

15
2.3

3'

93.34'

S 3
0°

54
'19

" W
   9

2.5
3'

C44
S 

7°
38

'46
" W

   1
32

.93
'

N 63°50'36" W   95.33'

8.77' 38.45'
74.20' C32

S 
10

°5
4'3

9"
 W

   9
2.5

1'

S 52°20'46" W
   7

4.08'

39.96'

N 58°14'02" W   104.58'

C33

C3
6

27
.73

'

C3
7N 55°12'48" W   127.64'

N 53°03'30" W   155.88'

C12

C14

97
.11

'

N 
30

°5
4'1

9" 
E  

 13
4.6

8'

C38

109.62'

18.50'

C43

N 89°27'11" W   90.00'

17
5.5

4'

C45

S 
0°

32
'49

" W
   1

18
.08

'

C50N 65°04'55" W   104.56' N 64°42'43" W   179.44'

1.00'

C1
1

25
.71

'
41

.23
'

N 68°18'35" W   216.45'

C9

90
.49

'

N 74°21'47" W   161.87'

81
.73

'

C5
1

N 83°38'39" W   141.46'

11
2.1

6'

C5
2

C5
3

10
5.2

6'

C8

C7

S 82°10'32" E   120.50'

S 
0°

47
'49

" W
   1

14
.54

'

N 89°12'11" W   110.00'

13
2.9

1'

LOT 101

LOT 126

LOT 127

LOT 125

LOT 124

LOT 123

LOT 122

LOT 121

LOT 120

LOT 119

LOT 118
LOT 117

LOT 116
LOT 115

LOT 114

LOT 113
LOT 112

LOT 111
LOT 110

LOT 109

LOT 108

LOT 107

LOT 106

LOT 105

LOT 104

LOT 103

LOT 102

11,736 sq.ft.
0.269 acres

18,733 sq.ft.
0.430 acres

11,146 sq.ft.
0.256 acres

16,330 sq.ft.
0.375 acres

10,060 sq.ft.
0.231 acres

10,120 sq.ft.
0.232 acres

12,990 sq.ft.
0.298 acres

14,712 sq.ft.
0.338 acres

13,756 sq.ft.
0.316 acres

10,972 sq.ft.
0.252 acres

12,124 sq.ft.
0.278 acres

10,007 sq.ft.
0.230 acres

10,819 sq.ft.
0.248 acres

11,940 sq.ft.
0.274 acres

13,480 sq.ft.
0.309 acres

10,117 sq.ft.
0.232 acres

11,185 sq.ft.
0.257 acres

17,791 sq.ft.
0.408 acres

C57

C60

C59
C58

C61
C6

3

C62C64

C6
5

C6
6

N 
25

°1
7'1

7" 
E

67
.43

'
C6

7
C6

8

C6
9

C70
C7

1

C7
5

C7
2

C7
3

C7
4

C76

C78
C79

39.45'N 88°29'52" W      127.80'
47.12'120.13'

S 1
°30

'08
" W

38
.43

'

59.41'

137.29'

38.52'

S 63°08'15" E

N 82°21'14" W      112.65'

S 88°46'07" E      110.33'

S 1°13'53" W
20.00'

39.88'

25.10'

40.95'

24.03'

54.76' 55.57'

C2
2

36
.01

'
36

.01
'

30.00' 30.00'

30.00'
30.00'

36
.00

'
36

.00
'

36
.00

'

36
.00

'

30.00'

30
.00

'
30

.00
'

59.50'

59.50'

30.00'
30.00'

30.00'

30.00'
30.00'

30.00'

30
.00

'
30

.00
'30

.00
'

30
.00

'

50.00'50.00'

30
.00

'

30
.00

'

30
.00

'
30

.00
'

30
.00

'
30

.00
'

C2
0

N 1°00'15" E
11.63'

POINT OF BEGINNING

11-042-0038
CORPORATION OF

PRESIDING BISHOP OF
CHURCH OF JESUS CHRIST

LDS

11-042-0029
GARY E WAKEFIELD &

MARLENE L
WAKEFIELD FAMILY

TRUST

11-025-0015
MICHELLE &

KEN C
WALTERS

400 NORTH STREET

CE
NT

UR
Y 

DR
IV

E
(4

00
 W

ES
T)

12
74

.43
'

CE
NT

UR
Y D

RIV
E

600 NORTH STREET

13,930 sq.ft.
0.320 acres

FORT BINGHAM
PHASE 1

LOT 1LOT 2LOT 3

C1

C2

C3

C4

C5C56

10.0' STORM DRAIN
& PU&DE

10.0' PU&DE (TYP)

10.0' PU&DE (TYP)

10.0' PU&DE (TYP)

10.0' PU&DE (TYP)

10.0' PU&DE (TYP)

10.0' PU&DE (TYP)

10.0' PU&DE (TYP)

10.0' PU&DE (TYP)

7.5' PU&DE (TYP)

7.5' PU&DE (TYP)

10.0' PU&DE (TYP)

7.5' PU&DE (TYP)

S 59°05'41" E

CENTURY COURT

S 82°21'14" E
12.27'

53.05'

40
3.0

3'
S 

1°
00

'15
" W

C8
0

30.00'

( 500 NORTH)

68.58'

128.12'

30
.00

'

30
.00

'

37.97'

C81

C82

30
.00

'
30

.00
'

S 30°54'19" W
5.29'

13,520 sq.ft.
0.310 acres

12,834 sq.ft.
0.295 acres

12,628 sq.ft.
0.290 acres

12,649 sq.ft.
0.290 acres

10,762 sq.ft.
0.247 acres

11,522 sq.ft.
0.265 acres

11,535 sq.ft.
0.265 acres

12,860 sq.ft.
0.295 acres

10.0' STORM DRAIN
& PU&DE

5.0' SECONDARY
WATER EASEMENT

TO LOT 127

10.0' SAN SEWER
EASEMENT TO LOT 127

SEE NOTE 5 FOR
LOT RESTRICTION SEE NOTE 5 FOR

 LOT RESTRICTION

SE
CT

IO
N 

LIN
E

102.60'

30.00'
30.00'

30.00'
30.00'

FUTURE PHASE

C

D

E

B

A

6.57'

S 1°10'57" W
94.58' PL TO PC

33.00'

33
.00

'

OGDEN CITY DETENTION POND

S 
1°

10
'57

" W
98

.73
'

EXISTING MONUMENT

C83

10
6.9

5'

46.
52'

PARCEL A -
DET. POND

8,275 sq.ft.
0.190 acres 10,500 sq.ft.

0.241 acres

LOT 128
36

.00
'

S 88°29'52" E
0.24'

0.69'
3.00'

S 88°29'52" E

S 88°29'52" E

CURVE TABLE
CURVE

C1

C2

C3

C4

C5

C6

C7

C8

C9

C10

C11

C12

C13

C14

C15

C16

C17

C18

C19

C20

C21

C22

C23

C24

C25

C26

C27

C28

C29

C30

C31

C32

C33

C34

C35

C36

C37

C38

C39

C40

C41

C42

C43

RADIUS

364.00'

364.00'

364.00'

436.00'

10.00'

430.00'

470.00'

470.00'

470.00'

470.00'

470.00'

470.00'

470.00'

2030.00'

2030.00'

2030.00'

2030.00'

2030.00'

2030.00'

2030.00'

1970.00'

1970.00'

10.00'

430.00'

430.00'

430.00'

530.00'

15.00'

50.00'

15.00'

470.00'

370.00'

370.00'

370.00'

10.00'

1970.00'

1970.00'

1970.00'

1970.00'

530.00'

10.00'

25.50'

59.50'

LENGTH

111.72'

10.44'

122.16'

106.58'

14.67'

16.40'

75.89'

113.74'

29.51'

219.15'

94.35'

1.01'

95.36'

87.92'

88.93'

88.93'

89.10'

91.10'

90.01'

556.61'

142.06'

180.77'

15.78'

57.63'

86.58'

144.22'

55.02'

17.52'

117.62'

12.68'

52.62'

21.08'

103.01'

124.09'

16.05'

101.99'

103.85'

73.11'

278.96'

16.28'

14.97'

23.94'

63.80'

DELTA

17°35'08"

1°38'34"

19°13'42"

14°00'21"

84°01'58"

2°11'05"

9°15'07"

13°51'57"

3°35'52"

26°42'56"

11°30'06"

0°07'24"

11°37'30"

2°28'54"

2°30'36"

2°30'36"

2°30'53"

2°34'17"

2°32'25"

15°42'36"

4°07'54"

5°15'28"

90°24'06"

7°40'46"

11°32'13"

19°12'59"

5°56'52"

66°55'50"

134°46'39"

48°26'45"

6°24'53"

3°15'54"

15°57'06"

19°12'59"

91°56'14"

2°57'59"

3°01'14"

2°07'35"

8°06'48"

1°45'35"

85°45'07"

53°47'28"

61°25'59"

BEARING

S79°42'18"E

S70°05'27"E

S78°53'01"E

N76°16'21"W

S41°15'32"E

S0°20'06"E

S3°11'54"W

S14°45'26"W

N23°29'21"E

S11°55'49"W

N31°02'20"E

N36°51'05"E

S31°06'02"W

N35°40'20"E

N33°10'35"E

N30°39'59"E

N28°09'14"E

N25°36'39"E

N23°03'18"E

N29°03'29"E

S24°23'42"W

N23°49'55"E

S71°39'42"W

N66°58'38"W

N76°35'08"W

N72°44'45"W

N85°19'40"W

N54°50'12"W

N88°45'36"W

S48°04'27"W

S85°33'41"E

S80°43'17"E

S71°06'48"E

S72°44'45"E

S17°10'08"E

S30°16'59"W

S33°16'35"W

S35°51'00"W

S32°51'23"W

S36°02'00"W

S78°01'46"W

N32°11'57"W

N36°01'12"W

CHORD

111.28'

10.44'

121.59'

106.31'

13.39'

16.40'

75.81'

113.47'

29.51'

217.17'

94.19'

1.01'

95.20'

87.92'

88.93'

88.93'

89.09'

91.10'

90.00'

554.86'

142.03'

180.71'

14.19'

57.59'

86.44'

143.54'

54.99'

16.54'

92.31'

12.31'

52.59'

21.08'

102.68'

123.51'

14.38'

101.98'

103.84'

73.11'

278.73'

16.28'

13.61'

23.07'

60.78'

CURVE TABLE
CURVE

C44

C45

C46

C47

C48

C49

C50

C51

C52

C53

C54

C55

C56

C81

C82

RADIUS

59.50'

59.50'

59.50'

25.50'

10.00'

530.00'

530.00'

530.00'

530.00'

530.00'

530.00'

370.00'

10.00'

25.50'

25.50'

LENGTH

117.05'

107.99'

288.84'

11.21'

14.97'

12.67'

3.42'

85.85'

85.85'

72.00'

247.13'

11.14'

15.92'

8.52'

19.74'

DELTA

112°42'59"

103°59'10"

278°08'08"

25°11'40"

85°45'07"

1°22'09"

0°22'12"

9°16'52"

9°16'52"

7°47'00"

26°42'56"

1°43'29"

91°12'18"

19°09'00"

44°20'40"

BEARING

S56°54'19"W

S51°26'46"E

S35°37'43"W

N89°09'29"E

S16°13'07"E

S25°58'22"W

S25°06'11"W

S20°16'39"W

S10°59'47"W

S2°27'51"W

S11°55'49"W

S0°33'55"E

N45°53'59"E

N68°40'11"W

N81°16'01"W

CHORD

99.07'

93.76'

77.96'

11.12'

13.61'

12.67'

3.42'

85.76'

85.76'

71.94'

244.89'

11.14'

14.29'

8.48'

19.25'

CURVE TABLE
CURVE

C57

C58

C59

C60

C61

C62

C63

C64

C65

C66

C67

C68

C69

C70

C71

C72

C73

C74

C75

C76

C78

C79

C80

C83

RADIUS

400.00'

400.00'

400.00'

400.00'

53.50'

400.00'

400.00'

400.00'

400.00'

500.00'

500.00'

500.00'

500.00'

500.00'

500.00'

2000.00'

2000.00'

2000.00'

2000.00'

400.00'

500.00'

500.00'

2000.00'

400.00'

LENGTH

134.24'

97.78'

35.83'

134.24'

84.04'

5.20'

15.25'

8.41'

12.04'

233.14'

11.95'

37.07'

37.07'

15.36'

101.45'

283.21'

41.36'

183.22'

548.07'

134.16'

51.90'

55.98'

40.28'

0.63'

DELTA

19°13'42"

14°00'21"

5°07'54"

19°13'42"

90°00'06"

0°44'41"

2°11'05"

1°12'18"

1°43'29"

26°42'56"

1°22'09"

4°14'53"

4°14'53"

1°45'35"

11°37'30"

8°06'48"

1°11'06"

5°14'56"

15°42'04"

19°12'59"

5°56'52"

6°24'53"

1°09'14"

0°05'27"

BEARING

S78°53'01"E

N76°16'21"W

N85°50'28"W

N78°53'01"W

S46°11'00"W

N1°07'47"E

N0°20'06"W

N0°53'59"E

N0°33'55"W

S11°55'49"W

S25°58'22"W

S28°46'53"W

S33°01'46"W

S36°02'00"W

S31°06'02"W

N32°51'23"E

N28°12'26"E

N23°50'11"E

N29°03'45"E

N72°44'45"W

N85°19'40"W

N85°33'41"W

S27°02'16"W

S88°27'09"E

CHORD

133.61'

97.54'

35.81'

133.61'

75.66'

5.20'

15.25'

8.41'

12.04'

231.03'

11.95'

37.06'

37.06'

15.36'

101.27'

282.97'

41.36'

183.16'

546.36'

133.53'

51.88'

55.95'

40.28'

0.63'

CENTERLINE CURVE TABLE

3.41'

11.22'

101.98'

142.05'

87.93'

75.90'

AMENDING A PORTION OF LOT 4, HART SUBDIVISION NO. 1 AND LOT 3,
HART SUBDIVISION - FIRST AMENDED

LOCATED IN THE SOUTHEAST QUARTER OF SECTION 7 AND THE
SOUTHWEST QUARTER

OF SECTION 8
TOWNSHIP 6 NORTH, RANGE 1 WEST

SALT LAKE BASE AND MERIDIAN
HARRISVILLE CITY, WEBER COUNTY, UTAH

US-89

HARRISVILLE ROAD

HARRISVILLE ROAD

W
AL

L A
VE

NU
E

W
AS

HI
NG

TO
N 

BL
VD

2ND STREET

SITE

400 NORTH STREET

CE
NT

UR
Y 

DR
IV

E

LARSEN LANE

VICINITY MAP
NO SCALE

HARRISVILLE, WEBER COUNTY, UTAH

HORIZONTAL GRAPHIC SCALE
0

( IN FEET )
HORZ: 1 inch =        ft.60

60 30 60 120

APPROVED THIS                   DAY OF                                             , 20                ,
BY THE

CITY ATTORNEY'S APPROVAL

HARRISVILLE CITY ATTORNEY.

HARRISVILLE CITY ATTORNEY

APPROVED THIS                   DAY OF                                             , 20                ,
BY THE

PLANNING COMMISSION APPROVAL

CITY PLANNING COMMISSION APPROVAL

CHAIRMAN, HARRISVILLE CITY PLANNING COMMISSION

APPROVED THIS                   DAY OF                                             , 20                ,
BY THE

CITY ENGINEER'S APPROVAL

HARRISVILLE CITY ENGINEER

HARRISVILLE CITY ENGINEER

APPROVED THIS                   DAY OF                                             , 20                ,
BY THE

CITY COUNCIL APPROVAL

HARRISVILLE CITY COUNCIL

CITY RECORDER                                   CITY MAYOR

WEBER COUNTY RECORDER

BY
DEPUTY RECORDER

ENTRY NO.                                    FEE
PAID                              FILED FOR RECORD AND
RECORDED THIS              DAY  OF               , 20                  ,
AT                IN BOOK                     OF OFFICIAL RECORDS
PAGE

BY

WEBER COUNTY RECORDER

SURVEYOR'S CERTIFICATE
I, , do hereby certify that I am a Licensed Professional Land Surveyor in the State of Utah and that I hold
License No.  in accordance with Title 58, Chapter 22 of the Professional Engineers and Land Surveyors Act.  I further certify that by
authority of The Owners, I have completed a survey of the property described on this subdivision plat in accordance with Section 17-23-17 and have
verified all measurements and that the monuments shown on this plat are located as indicated and are sufficient to accurately establish the
boundaries of the herein described tract of real property and that it has been drawn correctly and is a true and correct representation of the herein
described lands included in said subdivision based on data compiled from The County Recorder's office.  I further certify that all lots meet frontage
width and area requirements of applicable zoning ordinances.

KEITH R. RUSSELL
164386

LAYTON
919 North 400 West
Layton UT 84041
Phone: 801.547.1100
Fax: 801.593.6315

WWW.ENSIGNENG.COM

SALT LAKE CITY
Phone: 801.255.0529

TOOELE
Phone: 435.843.3590

CEDAR CITY
Phone: 435.865.1453

RICHFIELD
Phone: 435.896.2983

E N S I G N

HARRISVILLE FIELDS ESTATES PHASE 1

BOUNDARY DESCRIPTION

HARRISVILLE FIELDS ESTATES PHASE 1

PROJECT  NUMBER :

DRAWN BY :

CHECKED BY :

MANAGER :

DATE :

SHEET
11293

1 OF 1

KR

AS

KR

5/28/24

DEVELOPER
CRAIG NORTH

5835 DARTMOUTH DRIVE
MT. GREEN, UT 84050

801-452-3299

}S.S.

INDIVIDUAL ACKNOWLEDGMENT
STATE OF UTAH
County of

On the              day of                                                        A.D., 20             ,                                                                                                       ,
personally appeared before me, the undersigned Notary public, in and for said County of                                                              in said State
of Utah, who after being duly sworn, acknowledged to me that  He/She/They signed the Owner's Dedication,               in number, freely and
voluntarily for  the purposes therein mentioned.

MY COMMISSION EXPIRES:                                                                                  ,

                                                                                               RESIDING IN                                                             COUNTY.
NOTARY PUBLIC

Weber

}S.S.STATE OF UTAH
County of

On the                day of                                                               A.D., 20            ,                                                                                                     ,
personally appeared before me, the undersigned Notary Public, in and for said County of                                                             in the State of
Utah, who after being duly sworn, acknowledged to me that He/She is the                                                                                       ,
of                                                                                                                                                                                                                a Limited
Liability Company and that  He/She signed the Owner's Dedication freely and voluntarily for and in behalf of said Limited Liability Company for
the purposes therein mentioned and acknowledged to me that said Corporation executed the same.

MY COMMISSION EXPIRES:                                                                                  ,

                                                                                               RESIDING IN                                                             COUNTY.
NOTARY PUBLIC

 LIMITED LIABILITY COMPANY ACKNOWLEDGMENT 

Weber

OWNER'S DEDICATION
We(I) the undersigned owners of the above described tract of land, do hereby set apart and subdivide the same into lots and streets (private
streets/private right-of-way's) as shown hereon and name said tract:

Convey to HARRISVILLE, or its designee, all those parts or portions of said tract of land designated as parks to be used as public open space.

Dedicate to public use all those parts or portions of said tract of land designated as streets, the same to be used as public thoroughfares.

Dedicate and reserve unto themselves, their heirs, their grantees and assigns, a right-of-way to be used in common with all others within said
subdivision (and those adjoining subdivisions that may be subdivided by the undersigned owners, their successors, or assigns) on, over and across all
those portions or parts of said tract of land designated on this plat as private streets (private rights-of-way) as access to the individual lots, to be
maintained by a home owners association whose membership consists of said owners, their grantees, successors, or assigns.

Grant and convey to the subdivision home owners association, all those part or portions of said tract of land designated as common areas to be used for
recreational and open space purposes for the benefit of each home owners association member in common with all others in the subdivision and grant
and dedicate to the city a perpetual open space right and easement on and over the common areas to guarantee to HARRISVILLE CITY that the
common areas remain open and undeveloped except for approved recreational, parking and open space purposes.

Grant and dedicate a perpetual right and easement over, upon and under the lands designated heron as public utility and drainage easements with no
buildings or structures being erected within such easements.

Grant and dedicate unto all owners of lots upon which private land drains are constructed or which are otherwise dependent upon such land drains, an
easement over such land drains for the purpose of perpetual maintenance and operation.

In witness whereof I / we have hereunto set our hand (s) this                  day of                                                         A.D., 20               .

                                                                                                         .                                                                                .
By: By:

                                                                                                            .                                                                             .
By: By:

HARRISVILLE FIELDS ESTATES PHASE 1

1. PROTECT ALL EXISTING SECTION CORNERS AND STREET MONUMENTS.  COORDINATE ALL SURVEY
STREET MONUMENT INSTALLATION, GRADE ADJUSTMENT AND ALL REQUIRED FEES AND PERMITS WITH
THE COUNTY SURVEYOR PRIOR TO DISRUPTION OF ANY EXISTING MONUMENTS

2. 5/8” X 24” REBAR AND CAP WILL BE PLACED AT ALL REAR LOT CORNERS AND FRONT LOT CORNERS WILL
BE MARKED WITH A NAIL OR RIVET AT THE EXTENSION IN THE CURB.

3. PROPERTY IS ZONED X-X.
A. FRONT YARD SETBACK IS 25'
B. REAR YARD SETBACK IS 25'
C. SIDE YARD SETBACK IS 8'

4. ALL PUBLIC UTILITY AND DRAINAGE EASEMENTS (PU&DE) ARE 10' FRONT, 7.5' SIDE AND 10' REAR
UNLESS OTHERWISE NOTED HEREON.

5. NO VEHICLE ACCESS WILL BE ALLOWED FROM LOT 101 AND LOT 126 ONTO 400 NORTH STREET.
VEHICLE ACCESS REQUIRED TO BE ON CENTURY DRIVE FOR THESE LOTS.

NOTES

S 
0°

20
'38

" E
    

  2
63

8.0
8'

S 
1°

00
'15

" W
    

  2
64

6.3
7' 

 R
EC

OR
D

SECTION CORNER

EXISTING STREET MONUMENT

PROPOSED STREET MONUMENT

SET 5/8" REBAR WITH YELLOW PLASTIC CAP, OR
NAIL STAMPED "ENSIGN ENG. & LAND SURV."

PU&DE= PUBLIC UTILITY & DRAINAGE EASEMENT

EASEMENTS

PU&DE

LEGEND

ENSIGN ENG.
LAND SURV.

LOCATED IN THE SOUTHEAST QUARTER OF SECTION 7
AND THE SOUTHWEST QUARTER

OF SECTION 8
TOWNSHIP 6 NORTH, RANGE 1 WEST

SALT LAKE BASE AND MERIDIAN
HARRISVILLE CITY, WEBER COUNTY, UTAH

HARRISVILLE
FIELDS
PROPERTY

WEST QUARTER
CORNER
SECTION 8
T6N, R1W
SLB&M
(NOT FOUND)

SOUTH WEST CORNER
SECTION 8

T6N, R1W
SLB&M

(NOT FOUND)

BA
SI

S 
OF

 B
EA

RI
NG

S

NORTHWEST CORNER
SECTION 8
T6N, R1W
SLB&M
(FOUND)

WEST QUARTER
CORNER
SECTION 7
T6N, R1W
SLB&M
(FOUND)

N 
0°

23
'21

" E
    

  2
66

6.4
6' 

 R
EC

OR
D

26
66

.35
'  M

EA
SU

RE
D

WEST QUARTER
CORNER
SECTION 8
T6N, R1W
SLB&M
(NOT FOUND)

SOUTHWEST CORNER
SECTION 8
T6N, R1W
SLB&M
(NOT FOUND)

A Part of the Southeast Quarter of Section 7 and the Southwest Quarter of Section 8, Township 6 North, Range 1 West, Salt Lake Base
and Meridian, more particularly described as follows:

Beginning at a point South 1°00'15” West 403.03 feet along the section line from the West Quarter Corner of Section 8, Township 6 North,
Range 1 West, Salt Lake Base and Meridian, and running;
Thence South 82°21'14” East 355.16 feet;
Thence northeasterly 38.72 feet along the arc of a 1,970.00 foot radius curve to the left, (center bears North 67°40'15” West and long
chord bears North 21°45'58” East 38.72 feet, with a central angle of 1°07'34”);
Thence South 68°47'49” East 60.00 feet;
Thence southwesterly 20.61 feet along the arc of a 2,030.00 foot radius curve to the right, (center bears North 68°47'49” West and long
chord bears South 21°29'39” West 20.61 feet, with a central angle of 0°34'54”);
Thence South 79°43'19” East 112.90 feet;
Thence South 24°45'06” West 620.55 feet;
Thence South 0°47'49” West 351.29 feet to the north line of Fort Bingham Phase 1, also being the current centerline of 400 North Street,
(a 60 foot road);
Thence North 88°29'52” West 278.41 feet along the center line of 400 North Street and beyond and also along the north line of Fort
Bingham Phase 1 to an interior corner of Fort Bingham Phase 1, to the section line;
Thence North 1°00'15” East 11.63 feet along the section line and an east line to the Northeast Corner of Lot 1, Fort Bingham Phase 1;
Thence North 88°29'52” West 152.32 feet along the north line of Lot 1, Lot 2 and Lot 3 of Fort Bingham Phase 1;
Thence North 0°32'49” East 969.06 feet;
Thence South 88°46'07” East 147.87 feet;
Thence South 82°21'14” East 12.27 feet to the point of beginning.

Contains 496,079 square feet, 11.388 acres, 27 Lots and Parcel “A” a Common Area Parcel.

_____________________          ___________________________________
Date                                         Keith R. Russell

                                        License no. 164386

POINT OF BEGINNING

40
3.0

3'

3

3

4

2

1

4

SECTION LINE DETAIL

33
.00

'

C57

C1

36
.00

'
36

.00
'

SEE DETAIL 'A'
THIS SHEET

DETAIL 'A'

NORTH ROW LINE

SOUTH ROW LINE

CENTERLINEPLAT BOUNDARY LINE

SCALE: 1" = 20'

EXISTING MONUMENT
CENTURY DRIVE AND
380 NORTH STREET
(FOUND)

N 88°49'03" W
14.61'

380 NORTH STREET

STREET MONUMENT TABLE
MONUMENT BEARING DISTANCE

TO N 14°30'17" E 401.92'

TO N 32°29'34" E 376.60'

TO N 77°38'39" W 418.15'

TO N 59°05'47 W 243.14'

1 2

2

3

2

3

4

5

LOT 127

400 NORTH
STREET

128

128

127

72'?

PRIVATE 
STREETS?

CITY

REVISE DEDICATION TO 
BE APPLICABLE TO 
PHASE 1

NO PARKS WITH 
THIS PHASE

DEDICATE PUBLIC 
STREETS DIRECTLY
TO HARRISVILLE
CITY

MISSING PLAT NARRATIVE

OBTAIN APPROVAL FROM
FIRE DEPT FOR SIZE OF
TURNAROUND AREA

MISSING 
BEARING AND 
DISTANCE DISTANCE

ALL LOTS SHOULD BE "R" LOTS
WITH A NOTE INCLUDED ON THE
PLAT LIMITING THE LOWEST
HABITABLE FLOOR LEVEL DUE
TO GROUNDWATER - SEE
8.07.010 OF CITY CODE

PARCEL "A" SHOULD BE 
DEDICATED SPECIFICALLY TO THE 
RESPONSIBLE PARTY

DETENTION 
BASIN (WHO 
OWNS AND 
OPERATES?)

ADD LOT 
ADDRESSES

REZONED TO ?

IS THE 10' WIDE
EASEMENT SUFFICENT
FOR THE LOCATION OF
THE PROPOSED DITCH
PIPING ALONG LOTS 118
- 128?

ADD SIGNATURE BLOCK
FOR WEBER COUNTY
SURVEYOR AND SEND TO
THEIR OFFICE FOR REVIEW.

PUEs ARE NOT
REQUIRED ALONG THE
SIDES AND BACK OF
THE LOTS UNLESS
THERE IS AN EXISTING
OR PROPOSED UTILITY

10'

25'-0"

91
'-7

 1
/2

"

25'-0"

91
'-5

 1
/4

"

A-D?

SHOW THE CITY LIMIT ON
THE PLAT AND DETERMINE
IF ANY OF THE ROADWAY
WILL BE DEDICATED TO
OGDEN CITY



CONSULTING ENGINEERS 

6080 Fashion Point Dr.  ●  South Ogden, Utah 84403  ●  (801) 476-9767  ●  www.jonescivil.com 

M E M O R A N D U M 

 

TO:  Harrisville City Planning Commission 

FROM: Matt Robertson, City Engineer 

 

RE:  HARRISVILLE FIELDS ESTATES PHASE 2 

Preliminary Plat Submittal 

Date:  June 6, 2024 

 

Our office has completed a review of the preliminary subdivision plat for the referenced 

development located at approximately 863 North Harrisville Rd. This second phase of the 

development will construct 30 new single-family homes within the area previously approved for 

a cluster development. Per the Master Development Agreement associated with this 

development, the residential lots will meet the zoning requirements of the R-1-10 zone. 

We have reviewed the preliminary plat and have made comments on the plat that will need to be 

resolved with the City’s Administrative Land Use Authority prior to final approval. We 

recommend preliminary approval of the plat at this time with the following comments to be 

completely addressed prior to final approval: 

1. Submit the plat to the Weber County Surveyor’s Office for review and receive approval 

of the plat from their office. Include a signature block for them on the plat. 

2. Resolve all red-line comments provided by our office on the preliminary plat. 

3. Include the dedication of the ponds and open space to Harrisville City in the Owner’s 

Dedication.  

4. Include the plat narrative on the plat.  

5. Include the dimensions and locations of the public utility and drainage easements and any 

easements associated with the creeks on the property. 

6. Adjust cul-de-sacs as necessary to meet the requirements of city and fire code standards. 

7. Show any wetland delineation or floodplain boundaries on the plat. 

8. Provide lot addresses on the plat as provided by our office. 

The comments listed in this memo and on the submitted plat are for the preliminary plat review 

only and additional comments and requirements will be provided as necessary on the final plat 

and improvement drawings as the Developer works with the City toward final approval. Please 

let me know if you have any questions. 



S 49°33'36" E
67.31'

S 
13

°2
9'1

9"
 W

    
 64

9.6
3'

S 49°33'36" E
101.27'

S 
24

°4
5'0

6"
 W

    
 85

8.9
0'

N 79°43'19" W112.90'

PC
1

N 68°47'49" W
60.00'

PC
2N 82°21'14" W     367.43'

N 88°46'07" W     147.87'N 
0°

32
'49

" E
50

.14
'

N 
0°

13
'49

" E
    

 88
5.1

0'
N 

0°
30

'49
" E

    
 39

8.6
0'

S 72°52'11" E     161.27'

S 72°52'11" E     447.13'

S 58°17'31" E     272.60'

S 49°33'36" E     157.06'

N 
13

°2
9'1

9"
 E

    
 54

9.6
3'

S 
9°

55
'33

" W
   1

16
.70

'

C4

C3
9.95'

116.98'

44.29'
51.46'

S 
9°

55
'33

" W
   1

30
.48

'

56.31'
C6

C5

95.76'

S 
9°

55
'33

" W
   1

18
.47

'

95.00'

103.38'

S 
15

°0
5'4

0"
 W

   1
07

.29
'

C7
63.17'

120.34'

S 3
0°

36
'59

" W
   1

19
.40

'

C8

76.19'
50.90'

S 44
°21

'18
" W

   1
52.

54'

10.69'

C9

92.24'

S 44
°21

'18
" W

   1
72.

74'

90.00'

92.24'

S 44
°21

'18
" W

   1
94.

55'

C10

57.40'

23.79'

S 29°46'34" E
22.99'

S 
18

°2
9'4

8"
 W

   2
67

.32
'

C12

C11

13.43'

14
.23

'

C1
5

S 
24

°4
5'0

6" 
W

   1
57

.75
'

C14

C13

S 
9°

55
'33

" W
   1

35
.00

'

N 89°29'11" W   95.07'

15
2.6

0'

C16
C17 C18

N 80°04'27" W   107.24'

107.24'

S 
9°

55
'33

" W
   1

35
.00

'

N 80°04'27" W   107.24'

107.24'

S 
9°

55
'33

" W
   1

35
.00

'

S 44
°21

'18
" W

   1
35.

00'

N 62°51'35" W   79.91'

C19

N 45°38'42" W   90.00'

90.00'

S 44
°21

'18
" W

   1
35.

00'

N 22°23'43" W
39.92'

51.99'

68.10'

C20

S 53°58'07" W

79.49'

S 79°45'43" W   90.00'

C21

C22

C2
3

C24
27.98'

N 10°14'17" W
   125.00'

64.13'C25C26

N 10°14'17" W
   109.64'

C27

N 58°10'36" W   129.93'

N 62°50'43" E   158.96'
C2

8

S 59°51'13" W   128.45'

N 
0°

26
'39

" E
   1

84
.51

'

C29

S 2°06'58" E   123.84'

N 62°22'49" W   181.41'

C30
C31 36.16' S 10°14'17" E   120.00'

S 68°09'36" W   109.87'
S 23°29'36" W
24.93'

S 79°45'43" W   88.15'

55.95' C32

106.85'

88
.88

'

C3
3

C3
4

C3
5

C36

C33

C34

C35

C40

S 
24

°4
5'0

6" 
W

   1
96

.50
'

C4
1

C4
2

S 
24

°4
5'0

6" 
W

   1
27

.00
'

C4
3

C4
4

25
.87

'

109.28'

C45

C4
6

81
.16

' C47

S 65°14'54" E   119.92'

90
.00

'

N 65°14'54" W   120.00'

91
.18

'

C4
8

C4
9

S 65°14'54" E   111.68'
90

.00
'

C5
0

48
.47

'

S 65°14'54" E   110.00'

90
.70

'

90
.91

'

90
.91

'

90
.92

'

S 65°14'54" E   110.00'

90
.92

'

90
.92

'

S 65°14'54" E   110.00'

90
.92

'

11
3.2

5'

C51
116.28'

75
.35

'

S 65°14'54" E   110.00'

PARCEL A 

LOT 11

LOT 12
LOT 13

LOT 14

LOT 29

LOT 30

LOT 31

LOT 32

LOT 33

LOT 35

LOT 34

LOT 37

LOT 38

LOT 39

LOT 40

LOT 41

LOT 42
LOT 43

LOT 44

LOT 45

LOT 46 LOT 47
LOT 48

LOT 49

LOT 50

LOT 51

LOT 52
LOT 53

LOT 54

LOT 55

LOT 56

DET. POND
LOT 15

LOT 57

LOT 58

LOT 36

SHELLY
ESTATES

11-033-0077
JEREMY K & RENAE

P. ARCHIBALD

11-033-0037
DAVID & VICKY

ANDERSON FAMILY
TRUST

11-033-0038
LUANNE SLATER

FAMILY TRUST

CHRYSTAL
WOOLSLEY

SHELLY
ESTATES

10,800 sq.ft.
0.248 acres

11,200 sq.ft.
0.257 acres

10,001 sq.ft.
0.230 acres

10,000 sq.ft.
0.230 acres

10,479 sq.ft.
0.241 acres

10,001 sq.ft.
0.230 acres

10,447 sq.ft.
0.240 acres

11,430 sq.ft.
0.262 acres

13,103 sq.ft.
0.301 acres

16,751 sq.ft.
0.385 acres

11,985 sq.ft.
0.275 acres

12,340 sq.ft.
0.283 acres

12,820 sq.ft.
0.294 acres

13,514 sq.ft.
0.310 acres

11,825 sq.ft.
0.271 acres

11,544 sq.ft.
0.265 acres

12,468 sq.ft.
0.286 acres

13,672 sq.ft.
0.314 acres

10,997 sq.ft.
0.252 acres

14,638 sq.ft.
0.336 acres

16,473 sq.ft.
0.378 acres

14,568 sq.ft.
0.334 acres

11,074 sq.ft.
0.254 acres

39,095 sq.ft.
0.898 acres

12,141 sq.ft.
0.279 acres

13,649 sq.ft.
0.313 acres

12,150 sq.ft.
0.279 acres

14,477 sq.ft.
0.332 acres

14,477 sq.ft.
0.332 acres

11,417 sq.ft.
0.262 acres

501,739 sq.ft.
11.518 acres

20,840 sq.ft.
0.478 acres

10,001 sq.ft.
0.230 acres

S 67°34'06" E      148.47'

C5
6

C5
7

N 
24

°4
5'0

6" 
E 

    
 12

7.0
0'

C5
9

C6
0

N 
24

°4
5'0

6" 
E 

    
 43

4.4
8'

C6
2

N 
13

°2
9'1

9"
 E

    
  5

48
.61

'

N 79°45'43" E      139.01'
C64

N 51°09'17" E
32.38'

S 80°04'27" E      338.20'

C65

S 45°38'42" E      158.10'

C66

C67

S 65°14'54" E
17.96'

PARCEL A
OPEN SPACE

PARCEL B
OPEN SPACE

12.07'

15
9.3

1'

POINT OF BEGINNING

45
.84

'

HARRISVILLE FIELDS ESTATES PHASE 1

DIXON DITCH

DIXON DITCH

FOUR MILE CREEK

FOUR MILE CREEK
OPEN SPACE C

30
.02

'
30

.02
'

30.00'

30.0'

33.655' 33.655'

30
.41

'
30

.41
'

CE
NT

UR
Y 

DR
IV

E

S 18°11'54" E   102.47'

600 NORTH STREET

850 NORTH STREET

3750 WEST STREET

1749.91'

12.27'

355.16'

S 
1°

00
'15

" W
40

3.0
3'

TA
YL

OR
 R

AN
CH

ET
TE

S 
SU

BD
IV

IS
IO

N
HE

AR
T S

UB
DI

VI
SI

ON
 N

O.
1

CURVE TABLE
CURVE

C3

C4

C5

C6

C7

C8

C9

C10

C11

C12

C13

C14

C15

C16

C17

C18

C19

C20

C21

C22

C23

C24

C25

C26

C27

C28

C29

C30

C31

C32

RADIUS

15.00'

59.50'

59.50'

15.00'

330.00'

330.00'

330.00'

330.00'

330.00'

270.00'

270.00'

10.00'

470.00'

15.00'

59.50'

15.00'

270.00'

270.00'

270.00'

330.00'

15.00'

170.00'

15.00'

50.00'

50.00'

50.00'

50.00'

50.00'

15.00'

230.00'

LENGTH

13.83'

75.99'

33.75'

13.83'

29.77'

89.40'

79.13'

32.65'

108.93'

60.38'

124.92'

16.56'

92.39'

13.83'

109.75'

13.83'

162.24'

45.30'

70.53'

59.10'

22.28'

77.11'

12.09'

18.60'

63.54'

54.08'

54.08'

47.39'

12.09'

31.96'

DELTA

52°50'28"

73°10'47"

32°30'10"

52°50'28"

5°10'07"

15°31'19"

13°44'19"

5°40'07"

18°54'43"

12°48'43"

26°30'34"

94°51'45"

11°15'47"

52°50'28"

105°40'56"

52°50'28"

34°25'45"

9°36'49"

14°58'01"

10°15'42"

85°05'58"

25°59'20"

46°11'13"

21°18'37"

72°48'55"

61°58'11"

61°58'11"

54°18'32"

46°11'13"

7°57'38"

BEARING

S73°30'19"W

S83°40'28"W

N43°29'04"W

N53°39'13"W

N77°29'23"W

N67°08'40"W

N52°30'52"W

N42°48'39"W

N30°31'14"W

N27°28'14"W

N47°07'53"W

S72°10'58"W

S19°07'13"W

S53°39'13"E

S80°04'27"E

N73°30'19"E

S62°51'35"E

S40°50'18"E

S28°32'53"E

S26°11'44"E

S11°13'24"W

S66°46'03"W

N77°08'40"W

N64°42'22"W

S68°13'52"W

S0°50'19"W

S61°07'53"E

N60°43'46"E

N56°40'07"E

N75°46'55"E

CHORD

13.35'

70.93'

33.30'

13.35'

29.76'

89.13'

78.94'

32.64'

108.43'

60.25'

123.81'

14.73'

92.24'

13.35'

94.84'

13.35'

159.81'

45.25'

70.33'

59.02'

20.29'

76.45'

11.77'

18.49'

59.35'

51.48'

51.48'

45.64'

11.77'

31.93'

CURVE TABLE
CURVE

C33

C33

C34

C34

C35

C35

C36

C40

C41

C42

C43

C44

C45

C46

C47

C48

C49

C50

C51

C56

C57

C59

C60

C62

C64

C65

C66

C67

RADIUS

2030.00'

230.00'

15.00'

2030.00'

330.00'

1980.00'

10.00'

10.00'

470.00'

530.00'

2040.00'

1970.00'

10.00'

1980.00'

470.00'

470.00'

530.00'

530.00'

530.00'

2000.00'

2010.00'

500.00'

500.00'

500.00'

200.00'

300.00'

300.00'

300.00'

LENGTH

20.61'

76.21'

21.17'

40.28'

87.58'

41.53'

15.91'

15.06'

66.52'

75.02'

166.82'

77.80'

15.91'

39.97'

8.84'

57.68'

32.74'

42.27'

104.19'

39.99'

164.37'

70.77'

70.77'

98.29'

102.43'

180.27'

128.70'

231.35'

DELTA

0°34'54"

18°59'01"

80°51'23"

1°08'13"

15°12'23"

1°12'06"

91°09'48"

86°17'01"

8°06'35"

8°06'35"

4°41'07"

2°15'46"

91°09'48"

1°09'24"

1°04'40"

7°01'55"

3°32'23"

4°34'11"

11°15'47"

1°08'44"

4°41'07"

8°06'35"

8°06'35"

11°15'47"

29°20'40"

34°25'45"

24°34'50"

44°11'01"

BEARING

N21°29'39"E

N62°18'35"E

S86°45'14"E

N20°38'05"E

S53°55'43"E

N20°40'02"E

N66°50'59"E

S18°23'24"E

S28°48'23"W

S28°48'23"W

S22°24'32"W

S21°11'52"W

N21°59'12"W

N24°10'24"E

N25°17'26"E

N29°20'43"E

N31°05'29"E

N27°02'12"E

N19°07'13"E

N20°38'21"E

N22°24'32"E

N28°48'23"E

N28°48'23"E

N19°07'13"E

N65°05'23"E

S62°51'35"E

S33°21'18"E

S43°09'23"E

CHORD

20.61'

75.86'

19.45'

40.28'

87.33'

41.53'

14.28'

13.68'

66.47'

74.95'

166.77'

77.80'

14.28'

39.97'

8.84'

57.65'

32.74'

42.26'

104.02'

39.99'

164.32'

70.71'

70.71'

98.13'

101.32'

177.57'

127.72'

225.66'

CURVE TABLE
CURVE

PC1

PC2

RADIUS

2030.00'

1970.00'

LENGTH

20.61'

38.72'

DELTA

0°34'54"

1°07'34"

BEARING

N21°29'39"E

S21°45'58"W

CHORD

20.61'

38.72'

PARCEL CURVE TABLE

AMENDING A PORTION OF LOT 4, HART SUBDIVISION NO. 1 AND LOT 3,
HART SUBDIVISION - FIRST AMENDED

LOCATED IN THE SOUTHEAST AND NORTHEAST QUARTERS OF
SECTION 7 AND THE SOUTHWEST AND NORTHWEST QUARTERS

OF SECTION 8
TOWNSHIP 6 NORTH, RANGE 1 WEST

SALT LAKE BASE AND MERIDIAN
HARRISVILLE CITY, WEBER COUNTY, UTAH

US-89

HARRISVILLE ROAD

HARRISVILLE ROAD

W
AL

L A
VE

NU
E

W
AS

HI
NG

TO
N 

BL
VD

2ND STREET

SITE

400 NORTH STREET

CE
NT

UR
Y 

DR
IV

E

LARSEN LANE

VICINITY MAP
NO SCALE

HARRISVILLE, WEBER COUNTY, UTAH

HORIZONTAL GRAPHIC SCALE
0

( IN FEET )
HORZ: 1 inch =        ft.80

80 40 80 160

APPROVED THIS                   DAY OF                                             , 20                ,
BY THE

CITY ATTORNEY'S APPROVAL

HARRISVILLE CITY ATTORNEY.

HARRISVILLE CITY ATTORNEY

APPROVED THIS                   DAY OF                                             , 20                ,
BY THE

PLANNING COMMISSION APPROVAL

CITY PLANNING COMMISSION APPROVAL

CHAIRMAN, HARRISVILLE CITY PLANNING COMMISSION

APPROVED THIS                   DAY OF                                             , 20                ,
BY THE

CITY ENGINEER'S APPROVAL

HARRISVILLE CITY ENGINEER

HARRISVILLE CITY ENGINEER

APPROVED THIS                   DAY OF                                             , 20                ,
BY THE

CITY COUNCIL APPROVAL

HARRISVILLE CITY COUNCIL

CITY RECORDER                                   CITY MAYOR

WEBER COUNTY RECORDER

BY
DEPUTY RECORDER

ENTRY NO.                                    FEE
PAID                              FILED FOR RECORD AND
RECORDED THIS              DAY  OF               , 20                  ,
AT                IN BOOK                     OF OFFICIAL RECORDS
PAGE

BY

WEBER COUNTY RECORDER

SURVEYOR'S CERTIFICATE
I, , do hereby certify that I am a Licensed Professional Land Surveyor in the State of Utah and that I hold
License No.  in accordance with Title 58, Chapter 22 of the Professional Engineers and Land Surveyors Act.  I further certify that by
authority of The Owners, I have completed a survey of the property described on this subdivision plat in accordance with Section 17-23-17 and have
verified all measurements and that the monuments shown on this plat are located as indicated and are sufficient to accurately establish the
boundaries of the herein described tract of real property and that it has been drawn correctly and is a true and correct representation of the herein
described lands included in said subdivision based on data compiled from The County Recorder's office.  I further certify that all lots meet frontage
width and area requirements of applicable zoning ordinances.

KEITH R. RUSSELL
164386

LAYTON
919 North 400 West
Layton UT 84041
Phone: 801.547.1100
Fax: 801.593.6315

WWW.ENSIGNENG.COM

SALT LAKE CITY
Phone: 801.255.0529

TOOELE
Phone: 435.843.3590

CEDAR CITY
Phone: 435.865.1453

RICHFIELD
Phone: 435.896.2983

E N S I G N

HARRISVILLE FIELDS ESTATES PHASE 2

BOUNDARY DESCRIPTION

HARRISVILLE FIELDS ESTATES PHASE 2

PROJECT  NUMBER :

DRAWN BY :

CHECKED BY :

MANAGER :

DATE :

SHEET
11293

1 OF 1

KR

AS

KR

5/28/24

DEVELOPER
CRAIG NORTH

5835 DARTMOUTH DRIVE
MT. GREEN, UT 84050

801-452-3299

}S.S.

INDIVIDUAL ACKNOWLEDGMENT
STATE OF UTAH
County of

On the              day of                                                        A.D., 20             ,                                                                                                       ,
personally appeared before me, the undersigned Notary public, in and for said County of                                                              in said State
of Utah, who after being duly sworn, acknowledged to me that  He/She/They signed the Owner's Dedication,               in number, freely and
voluntarily for  the purposes therein mentioned.

MY COMMISSION EXPIRES:                                                                                  ,

                                                                                               RESIDING IN                                                             COUNTY.
NOTARY PUBLIC

Weber

}S.S.STATE OF UTAH
County of

On the                day of                                                               A.D., 20            ,                                                                                                     ,
personally appeared before me, the undersigned Notary Public, in and for said County of                                                             in the State of
Utah, who after being duly sworn, acknowledged to me that He/She is the                                                                                       ,
of                                                                                                                                                                                                                a Limited
Liability Company and that  He/She signed the Owner's Dedication freely and voluntarily for and in behalf of said Limited Liability Company for
the purposes therein mentioned and acknowledged to me that said Corporation executed the same.

MY COMMISSION EXPIRES:                                                                                  ,

                                                                                               RESIDING IN                                                             COUNTY.
NOTARY PUBLIC

 LIMITED LIABILITY COMPANY ACKNOWLEDGMENT 

Weber

OWNER'S DEDICATION
We(I) the undersigned owners of the above described tract of land, do hereby set apart and subdivide the same into lots and streets (private
streets/private right-of-way's) as shown hereon and name said tract:

Convey to HARRISVILLE, or its designee, all those parts or portions of said tract of land designated as parks to be used as public open space.

Dedicate to public use all those parts or portions of said tract of land designated as streets, the same to be used as public thoroughfares.

Dedicate and reserve unto themselves, their heirs, their grantees and assigns, a right-of-way to be used in common with all others within said
subdivision (and those adjoining subdivisions that may be subdivided by the undersigned owners, their successors, or assigns) on, over and across all
those portions or parts of said tract of land designated on this plat as private streets (private rights-of-way) as access to the individual lots, to be
maintained by a home owners association whose membership consists of said owners, their grantees, successors, or assigns.

Grant and convey to the subdivision home owners association, all those part or portions of said tract of land designated as common areas to be used for
recreational and open space purposes for the benefit of each home owners association member in common with all others in the subdivision and grant
and dedicate to the city a perpetual open space right and easement on and over the common areas to guarantee to HARRISVILLE CITY that the
common areas remain open and undeveloped except for approved recreational, parking and open space purposes.

Grant and dedicate a perpetual right and easement over, upon and under the lands designated heron as public utility and drainage easements with no
buildings or structures being erected within such easements.

Grant and dedicate unto all owners of lots upon which private land drains are constructed or which are otherwise dependent upon such land drains, an
easement over such land drains for the purpose of perpetual maintenance and operation.

In witness whereof I / we have hereunto set our hand (s) this                  day of                                                         A.D., 20               .

                                                                                                         .                                                                                .
By: By:

                                                                                                            .                                                                             .
By: By:

HARRISVILLE FIELDS ESTATES PHASE 2

1. PROTECT ALL EXISTING SECTION CORNERS AND STREET MONUMENTS.  COORDINATE ALL SURVEY
STREET MONUMENT INSTALLATION, GRADE ADJUSTMENT AND ALL REQUIRED FEES AND PERMITS WITH
THE COUNTY SURVEYOR PRIOR TO DISRUPTION OF ANY EXISTING MONUMENTS

2. 5/8” X 24” REBAR AND CAP WILL BE PLACED AT ALL REAR LOT CORNERS AND FRONT LOT CORNERS WILL
BE MARKED WITH A NAIL OR RIVET AT THE EXTENSION IN THE CURB.

3. PROPERTY IS ZONED X-X.
A. FRONT YARD SETBACK IS 25'
B. REAR YARD SETBACK IS 25'
C. SIDE YARD SETBACK IS 8'

4. ALL PUBLIC UTILITY AND DRAINAGE EASEMENTS (PU&DE) ARE 10' FRONT, 7.5' SIDE AND 10' REAR
UNLESS OTHERWISE NOTED HEREON.

NOTES

S 
0°

20
'38

" E
    

  2
63

8.0
8'

S 
1°

00
'15

" W
    

  2
64

6.3
7' 

 R
EC

OR
D

SECTION CORNER

EXISTING STREET MONUMENT

PROPOSED STREET MONUMENT

SET 5/8" REBAR WITH YELLOW PLASTIC CAP, OR
NAIL STAMPED "ENSIGN ENG. & LAND SURV."

PU&DE= PUBLIC UTILITY & DRAINAGE EASEMENT

EASEMENTS

PU&DE

LEGEND

ENSIGN ENG.
LAND SURV.

LOCATED IN THE SOUTHEAST AND NORTHEAST QUARTERS OF
SECTION 7 AND THE SOUTHWEST AND NORTHWEST QUARTERS

OF SECTION 8
TOWNSHIP 6 NORTH, RANGE 1 WEST

SALT LAKE BASE AND MERIDIAN
HARRISVILLE CITY, WEBER COUNTY, UTAH

HARRISVILLE
FIELDS
PHASE 1

WEST QUARTER
CORNER
SECTION 8
T6N, R1W
SLB&M
(NOT FOUND)

SOUTH WEST CORNER
SECTION 8

T6N, R1W
SLB&M

(NOT FOUND)

BA
SI

S 
OF

 B
EA

RI
NG

S

NORTHWEST CORNER
SECTION 8
T6N, R1W
SLB&M
(FOUND)

WEST QUARTER
CORNER
SECTION 7
T6N, R1W
SLB&M
(FOUND)

N 
0°

23
'21

" E
    

  2
66

6.4
6' 

 R
EC

OR
D

26
66

.35
'  M

EA
SU

RE
D

WEST QUARTER
CORNER
SECTION 8
T6N, R1W
SLB&M
(NOT FOUND)

SOUTHWEST CORNER
SECTION 8
T6N, R1W
SLB&M
(NOT FOUND)

POINT OF BEGINNING

40
3.0

3'

3
3

4

2

1

4

SECTION LINE DETAIL

EXISTING MONUMENT
CENTURY DRIVE AND
380 NORTH STREET
(FOUND)

380 NORTH STREET

STREET MONUMENT TABLE
MONUMENT BEARING DISTANCE

TO N 14°30'17" E 401.92'

TO N 32°29'34" E 376.60'

TO N 77°38'39" W 418.15'

TO N 59°05'47 W 243.14'

1 2

2

3

2

3

4

5

S 
0°

20
'38

" E
    

  2
63

8.0
8'

NORTHWEST CORNER
SECTION 8
T6N, R1W
SLB&M
(FOUND)

2

A Part of the Southeast Quarter and the Northwest Quarter of Section 7 and the Southwest Quarter and the Northwest Quarter of Section 8,
Township 6 North, Range 1 West, Salt Lake Base and Meridian, more particularly described as follows:

Beginning at the intersection of the section line and the north line of Harrisville Fields Estates Phase 1, said point being South 1°00'15”
West 403.03 feet along the section line from the West Quarter Corner of Section 8, Township 6 North, Range 1 West, Salt Lake Base and
Meridian, and running;

Thence North 82°21'14” West 12.27 feet along the north line of Harrisville Fields Estates Phase 1;
Thence North 88°46'07” West 147.87 feet along the north line to the Northwest Corner of Harrisville Fields Estates Phase 1;
Thence North 0°32'49” East 50.14 feet;
Thence North 0°13'49” East 885.10 feet;
Thence North 0°30'49” East 398.60 feet;
Thence South 72°52'11” East 161.27 feet to the section line;
Thence South 72°52'11” East 447.13 feet;
Thence South 58°17'31” East 272.60 feet to and along the south line to an angle point in the south line of Shelly Estates;
Thence South 49°33'36” East 157.06 feet along the south line to a Southeast Corner of Shelly Estates;
Thence North 13°29'19” East 549.63 feet along the east line to the Northeast Corner of Shelly Estates, also being a point on the south line
of Harrisville Road;
Thence South 49°33'36” East 67.31 feet along the north line of south line of Harrisville Road to the Northwest Corner of Lot 2, Hart
Subdivision No. 1;
Thence South 13°29'19” West 649.63 feet along the east line to the Southwest Corner of Lot 2, Hart Subdivision No. 1;
Thence South 49°33'36” East 101.27 feet along the south line to the Southeast Corner of Lot 1, Hart Subdivision No. 1 to a point also being
on the west line of Taylor Ranchettes Subdivision;
Thence South 24°45'06” West 858.90 feet along the west line of Taylor Ranchettes Subdivision, and beyond to the Northeast Corner of
Harrisville Fields Estates Phase 1;
Thence North 79°43'19” West 112.90 feet along the north line to an interior corner of Harrisville Fields Estates Phase 1;
Thence northeasterly 20.61 feet along the arc of a 2,030.00 foot radius curve to the left, (center bears North 68°12'54” West and long chord
bears North 21°29'39” East 20.61 feet, with a central angle of 0°34'54”) along the east line to a Northeast Corner of Harrisville Fields
Estates Phase 1;
Thence North 68°47'49” West 60.00 feet along the north line to a Northwest Corner of Harrisville Fields Estates Phase 1;
Thence southwesterly 38.72 feet along the arc of a 1,970.00 foot radius curve to the right, (center bears North 68°47'49” West and long
chord bears South 21°45'58” West 38.72 feet, with a central angle of 1°07'34”) along the west line to an interior corner of Harrisville Fields
Estates Phase 1;
Thence North 82°21'14” West 355.16 feet along the north line of Harrisville Fields Estates Phase 1 to the point of beginning.

Contains 1,118,141 square feet, 25.669 acres, 30 Lots and 3 Open Space Parcels.

__________ __________          ___________________________________
Date                                         Keith R. Russell

                                        License no. 164386

ANDERSON 
PROP 110330037

110330036 
RASMUSSEN

MAXFIELD 
110230059

WALTERS 
110250015

LOT 2

LOT 1

NORTH
HARRISVILLE RD

STREET 
MONUMENT

SHOW STREET 
MONUMENTS 
(TYP.)

DOESN'T MEET HVC
STANDARDS OR FIRE CODE
FOR TURNAROUND AREA

DUPLICATE 
CURVE 
NUMBERS

DIXON CREEK DRAINAGE
THROUGH EXIST.
LOT? REMOVE BEFORE
FINAL PLAT

REZONED TO ?

MISSING PLAT NARRATIVE

ARE THERE WETLAND OR 
FLOOD PLAIN AREAS WITHIN 
THE DEVELOPMENT? IF SO 
SHOW DELINEATION 
BOUNDARIES.

LABEL PARK 
AREAS (OPEN 
SPACE?)

DEDICATE PUBLIC  
STREETS DIRECTLY 
TO HARRISVILLE 
CITY CITY

SHOULD THIS BE 
RELABELED AS 
OPEN SPACE 
AREAS?

LOT 114
LOT 115

LOT 116
LOT 117 LOT 118

PARCEL A, B, AND C SHOULD BE 
DEDICATED SPECIFICALLY TO THE 
RESPONSIBLE PARTY

LOT 2

MISSING CALLOUT
AND DIMENSIONS OF
PUBLIC UTILITY &
DRAINAGE
EASEMENTS
(PU&DE)

ADD LOT 
ADDRESSES

SHOW EASEMENTS
ASSOCIATED WITH
CREEKS AND DITCHES

PUEs ARE NOT
REQUIRED ALONG THE
SIDES AND BACK OF
THE LOTS UNLESS
THERE IS AN EXISTING
OR PROPOSED UTILITY

LOT NUMBERING NOT
CONSISTENT WITH PHASE 1

ALL LOTS SHOULD BE "R" LOTS
WITH A NOTE INCLUDED ON THE
PLAT LIMITING THE LOWEST
HABITABLE FLOOR LEVEL DUE
TO GROUNDWATER - SEE
8.07.010 OF CITY CODE

SHOW R.O.W. OF NORTH
HARRISVILLE RD

"HART" LOT 2



CONSULTING ENGINEERS 

6080 Fashion Point Dr.  ●  South Ogden, Utah 84403  ●  (801) 476-9767  ●  www.jonescivil.com 

M E M O R A N D U M 

 

TO:  Harrisville City Planning Commission 

FROM: Matt Robertson, City Engineer 

 

RE:  HARRISVILLE COMPLEX SUBDIVISION 

Preliminary Plat Submittal 

Date:  June 6, 2024 

 

Our office has completed a review of the preliminary subdivision plat for the referenced 

development located at approximately 1750 North 750 West. This proposed subdivision is for 

the City-owned property at this location and it creates 2 lots: one intended for the City-owned 

facilities and one for the proposed fire station. The subdivision also dedicates the public street, 

1750 North, which connects to 750 West and will eventually extend to Highway 89. 

We have reviewed the preliminary plat and have made comments on the plat that will need to be 

resolved with the City’s Administrative Land Use Authority prior to final approval. We 

recommend preliminary approval of the plat at this time with the following comments to be 

completely addressed prior to final approval: 

1. Submit the plat to the Weber County Surveyor’s Office for review and receive approval 

of the plat from their office. Include a signature block for them on the plat. 

2. Resolve all red-line comments provided by our office on the preliminary plat. 

3. Provide lot addresses on the plat as provided by our office. 

Please let me know if you have any questions. 



N
:
\
2
0
2
4
\
2
4
-
3
-
1
0
7
 
H

a
r
r
i
s
v
i
l
l
e
 
-
 
J
&

A
\
D

r
a
w

i
n

g
s
\
2
4
-
3
-
1
0
7
v
1
9
.
d

w
g

,
 
5
/
1
7
/
2
0
2
4
 
1
1
:
4
1
:
3
8
 
A

M
,
 
D

W
G

 
T
o

 
P

D
F
.
p

c
3

438.93+192.32
+20.64+35.47
+36.16=723.52

INCLUDE SIGNATURE BLOCK
FOR WEBER COUNTY
SURVEYOR AND SEND TO
THEIR OFFICE FOR REVIEW


	9. PUBLIC COMMENTS – (3 minute maximum)
	Ordinance - #558 - Oak Hollow Master Development Agreement.pdf
	HARRISVILLE CITY ORDINANCE 558
	ATTEST:
	CERTIFICATE OF PASSAGE AND PUBLICATION OR POSTING
	City Recorder

	2024-05-24 - Harrisville Complex Plat - REVIEW.pdf
	Sheets and Views
	Harrisville


	PC Agenda 06.12.2024.pdf
	8. PUBLIC COMMENTS – (3 minute maximum)




